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VISION, MISSION AND VALUES
VISION STATEMENT
“To be amongst the top five leading Central Banks in the Eastern and Southern
African region”.

MISSION STATEMENT
“We foster financial sector stability conducive to economic development in
Swaziland”.

MANDATE
The Bank seeks to achieve this mission by among other things:
� Achieving price stability through sound monetary policy.
� Achieving  a sound and efficient financial system and financial stability.
� Issuing and redeeming currency (notes and coins) for Swaziland.
� Holding and managing foreign exchange reserves of Swaziland.
� Be the Bank of and advisor to Government.
� Facilitating the development and operation of an efficient national  payment
system.
� Being the lender of last resort to financial institutions and facilitate the
development of domestic financial markets.
� Researching on monetary, financial  and economic matters that will support
monetary policy formulation.

VALUES
PERFORMANCE DRIVEN
We are performance driven, delivering timely services beyond expected
standards, and maintaining good relations with stakeholders.
		
� ACCOUNTABILITY
ii We take ownership of all our actions to respond in a transparent manner.
		
� INTEGRITY
Our actions are integrity driven. We are honest, respectful, upright, ethical
and consistent in our decision-making.
			
� OPEN COMMUNICATION
We believe in open communication in the timely delegation and delivery of
our tasks, taking constructive criticism and ideas.
�
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academic qualifications which include a B.A. Social Sciences
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1986; and a few post graduate diplomas. He has attended many
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He has done consultancy work while working at UNISWA. His area
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Mr Sithole has an extensive administration experience including
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Degree (B.A Law) awarded in 1998.
She was admitted and enrolled as an attorney of the High
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enrolled as a Notary Public in March, 2011.
She has served in several boards and including being President of
the Malkerns Town Board Evaluation Court, Matsapha Town Board
Evaluation Court and Ngwenya Town Board Evaluation Court.
She has also served as a board member of the Swaziland Railways,
Royal Swazi National Airways Corporation and the Prince Lindani
Foundation.
She has also served as Pro Bono Counsel for the Save the Children
Fund and prosecutor for the Premier League of Swaziland. Ms
Mamogobo was further appointed to the Commission of Enquiry
to look into the affairs of the Municipal Council of Mbabane and
served as an Executive Member of the Council of the Law Society
of Swaziland – 2001/2002 : 2004/2005 and 2007/ 2008.

Mr. Bheki S. Bhembe

Ex-Officio Member, Principal Secretary Ministry of Finance
Non-Executive Board Director
Mr Bhembe has been the Principal Secretary for the Ministry of
Finance since 2014. Prior to his appointment as the Principal
Secretary, he held the position of Budget Director within the
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Swaziland. Mr Bhembe currently serves as an Alternate Executive
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in origination, structuring and execution of project finance
transactions.
Mr Shabangu holds a BSc (Maths & Physics) from UNISWA and a
BBusSci (Finance) from the University of Cape Town (UCT) and an
MBA (finance) from Maastrict, Holland. He won a CASH Prize in
economics at UCT and his MBA was awarded with distinction. He
is an Alumni of INSEAD Business School in Paris, France.
He has served in a number of Boards of companies locally,
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culminating in the management cadre. She serves in various
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She has a robust knowledge of retirement funds having served as
a Trustee for both pension and provident funds for over twenty
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She holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting which she obtained
in 1976 from Cuttington University in Liberia, an MBA in Corporate
Finance in 1986 from the Adelphi University, Long Island, New
York and a Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA)
obtained in 2010 from CIMA, United Kingdom.
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She received with honour His Majesty’s 45th Anniversary Medal for
Good National Service bestowed at the Lozitha Royal Residence in
2014 by His Majesty King Mswati III.

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

ABRIDGED PROFILE OF BOARD MEMBERS
Dr. Khanyisile D. Dlamini
Non-Executive Board Director

Dr. Dlamini is passionate in nurturing small businesses and
entrepreneurs to reach their full potential.
She is the
founder and director of TOWAK Consultancy, a financial and
business management consulting firm that has footprints
in Swaziland and South Africa. She specializes in designing
funding models, conducting financial due diligence, financial
wellness, training on managing finance, mentorship, as well
as conducting commissioned market surveys. She mainly
works with government departments, private companies,
non-governmental organisations and micro small and medium
enterprises. Previously, she was a lecturer at the University of
Swaziland and University of Derby, UK and has been a visiting
lecturer at California State Polytechnic University, Pomona,
USA.
Dr Dlamini completed her Bachelor of Commerce Degree in
1990 from the University of Swaziland and a Master of Business
Administration from De Montfort University, Leicester, UK in
1994.  She further obtained a Graduate Diploma in Marketing in
1995 from The Chartered Institute of Marketing, London, UK.  In
2006 she completed a Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in SME and
Economic Development from Aston University, Birmingham, UK.
Dr Dlamini sits in several boards including, Central Bank of
Swaziland, Greystone Partners Limited, Central Transport
Organisation and a Trustee for the Swaziland Royal Insurance
Corporation Preservation Provident Fund and Swaziland Royal
Insurance Pension Fund.

Professor Mike S. Matsebula
Non-Executive Board Director

Professor Matsebula is an independent economist, having retired
from the position of CEO at the Swaziland Sugar Association where
he served for 19 years.  Previously, he was an Economics Professor
at the University of Swaziland. He completed his Bachelor’s
Degree in 1972 at the then University of Botswana, Lesotho and
Swaziland (now National University of Lesotho); completed his
Master’s Degree in Economics at the University of Manitoba in
Winnipeg, Canada in 1975; and completed his Doctorate Degree
in Economics at Queen’s University, Ontario, Canada in 1981.
Professor Matsebula has published extensively on various issues
related to the Swazi economy, regional economic integration as
well as international economic relations. He has made several
presentations at national and international conferences. He
subscribes to the King Code of Corporate Governance and has
been involved with its application in a few enterprises. He is a
non-executive director of a few companies.

4

Professor Matsebula has been decorated twice with national
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Royal Order of Sobhuza II, Chief Counsellor (awarded in 1992)
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Dr Gumbi is the Chief Executive of REDI, a leading management
consulting services company based in Swaziland but with a
regional footprint. He specializes in Leadership, Strategy and
Governance.  He is a Certified Project Manager and Accredited
Corporate Governance Facilitator. He has served as Project
Director for long term assignments for the AfDB, COMESA and US
African Development Foundation. In addition to several Diploma
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holds a Bachelor of Science in Agriculture Education, a Master
of Science (UNISWA), and a Doctor of Philosophy in Education
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Programmes at the University Sians Malaysia, the World Bank
Institute, University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign, USA and the
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and Telecommunications Corporation, Conciliation Mediation and
Arbitration Commission, the University of Swaziland, Swaziland
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and past President of the Mbabane-Mbuluzi Rotary Club where
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Office of the Governor
Mahlokohla Street							
P.O. Box 546  
Mbabane, Swaziland 							

Tel: (+268) 2408 2111
Telex: 2029 WD: MONAS
Fax: (+268) 2404-0013

10th August, 2017
										
Senator Martin G. Dlamini
Honourable Minister
Ministry of Finance
P.O. Box 443
MBABANE
H100

Dear Minister

In accordance with Section 52(1) of the Central Bank Order of 1974, I have the honour to transmit:(i).

A copy of the Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March, 2017 certified by Auditors; and

(ii).

A report of the Central Bank operations and activities including coverage of economic developments
during the financial year 2016/17.

Yours faithfully

6
Majozi V. Sithole
Governor
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ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS
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AACB

-

Association of African Central Banks

ACH

-

Automated Clearing House

AfDB

-

African Development Bank

AGOA

-

African Growth Opportunity Act

AIDS

-

Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome

AU

–

African Union

AML

-

Anti-Money Laundering

BCM

-

Business Continuity Management

BOE

–

Bank of England

BOJ

-

Bank of Japan

BOP

-

Balance of Payments

BPM

-

Balance of Payments Manual

BRC

-

Board Risk Committee

BRICS

-

Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa

BSD

–

Bank Supervision Division

CAATS

-

Computer Assisted Audit Techniques

CBS

-

Central Bank of Swaziland

CCBG

-

Committee of Central Bank Governors (SADC)

CFT

-

Combating Financing of Terrorism

CFTA

-

Continental Free Trade Area

CIEA

-

Composite Indicator for Economic Activity

CMA

-

Common Monetary Area

COMESA

-

Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa

COMSEC

-

Commonwealth Secretariat

CPI

-

Consumer Price Index

CSO

-

Central Statistical Office

EAC

-

East African Community

ECB

-

European Central Bank

ECGS

-

Export Credit Guarantee Scheme

EFT

-

Electronic Funds Transfers

EFTA

-

European Free Trade Association

EPA

-

Economic Partnership Agreement

EPRS

-

Economic Policy Research and Statistics Department

ERM

-

Enterprise Risk Management

EU

-

European Union

FDI

-

Foreign Direct Investment

FIP

-

Finance and Investment Protocol

FOMC

-

Federal Open Market Committee

FSC

-

Financial Stability Committee

FSDIP

-

Financial Sector Development Implementation Plan

FSRA

–

Financial Services Regulatory Authority

FSU

-

Financial Stability Unit

FTA

-

Free Trade Area

GBP

-

Great Britain Pound

GDP

-

Gross Domestic Product
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GM

-

Genetically Modified

GSP

-

Generalised System of Preferences

HIV

-

Human Immuno Virus

IAA

-

Internal Audit Activity

ICCFISH

-

International Convention Centre and Five Star Hotel

IBRD

-

International Bank for Construction & Development

ICT

–

Information and Communication Technology

IFRS

-

International Financial Reporting Standards

IIP

-

International Investment Position

IMF

-

International Monetary Fund

IPPs

-

Individual Power Producers

IT

-

Information Technology

JPY

-

Japanese Yen

LME

-

Liquid Milk Equivalent

LUSIP

-

Lower Usuthu Smallholders Irrigation Project

M2

-

Broad Money Supply

MEPD

-

Ministry of Economic Planning & Development

MEFMI

-

Macroeconomic and Financial Management Institute of Eastern

MMA

-

Multilateral Monetary Agreement

MMT

-

Mobile Money Transfer

MPC

–

Monetary Policy Committee

MPCC

-

Monetary Policy Consultative Committee

Mt

-

Metric Tonnes

NAMBOARD

-

National Agricultural Marketing Board

NBFIs

–

Non–Bank Financial Institutions

NCDs

-

Non-Communicable Diseases

NEER

-

Nominal Effective Exchange Rate

NMC

-

National Maize Corporation

NPSS

-

National Payments and Settlements System

OHS

-

Occupational Health and Safety

PAYE

–

Pay As You Earn Tax / Personal Income Tax

PBOC

-

People’s Bank of China

PPI

-

Producer Price Index

PPPs

-

Private-Public Partnerships

PRAMA

-

Policy Research and Macroeconomic Analysis

PTA

–

Preferential Trade Agreement

RBIA

-

Risk Based Internal Audit

REC

–

Regional Economic Community

REER

-

Real Effective Exchange Rate

RISDP

-

Regional Indicative Strategic Development Plan

RSA

-

Republic of South Africa

RSF

–

Revenue Sharing Formula

RTGS

-

Real Time Gross Settlement

SACU

-

Southern African Customs Union

SADC

-

Southern African Development Community
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SARB

-

South African Reserve Bank

SCB

-

Swaziland Cotton Board

SEC

-

Swaziland Electricity Company

SG

-

Swaziland Government

SIDC

–

Swaziland Industrial Development Company

SIRESS

–

SADC Integrated Regional Electronic Settlement System

SMEs

–

Small and Medium Enterprises

SMI

-

Swaziland Meat Industries

SNHB

–

Swaziland National Housing Board

SNL

–

Swazi Nation Land

SRA

-

Swaziland Revenue Authority

SSA

-

Swaziland Sugar Association

SSELGS

-

Small Scale Enterprise Loan Guarantee Scheme

SSX

-

Swaziland Stock Exchange

STA

-

Swaziland Tourism Authority

SWIPSS

-

Swaziland Inter-Bank Payment and Settlement System

SWSC

–

Swaziland Water Services Corporation

TFTA

-

Tripartite Free Trade Area

TIDCA

–

Trade, Investment and Development Cooperation Agreement

TLC

-

Technical Liaison Committees

UCT

-

University of Cape Town

UNISWA

-

University of Swaziland

UK

-

United Kingdom

USA/US

-

United States of America

USD

-

United States Dollar

VAT

-

Value Added Tax

WCO

-

World Customs Organisation

WEO

–

World Economic Outlook
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1. GOVERNOR’S STATEMENT

“

A tight monetary policy stance
was pursued by the Bank
during the financial year
ended March 2017. The broad
objective of the stance was to
contain rapidly intensifying
inflationary pressures while
cautious not to further weaken
economic growth prospects.

“

�

A

ccording to the IMF April 2017 World
Economic Outlook, global growth was
subdued in 2016, with the world economy
advancing by a lower 3.1 per cent compared
to 3.2 per cent recorded in 2015. Contributing
to the lagging growth in the global economy
was a slump in private consumption mostly in
the advanced economies as well as sluggish
performance in commodity markets, which
in turn also affected emerging markets, who
have been the anchor of positive and higher
source of growth in previous years. Advanced
economies grew by a paltry 1.7 per cent in
2016 compared to 2.1 per cent in 2015, whilst
emerging market economies grew by 4.1 per
cent in 2016 unchanged from the previous year.
However, going forward there seems to be
optimism with the buoyant financial markets
combined with a recovery in manufacturing and
a pick-up in global trade. Synchronised growth
in world output is expected to persist in 2017
with confidence surveys and markets signalling
better prospects for global expansion. Global
growth is expected to rise to 3.5 per cent in
2017 and 3.6 per cent in 2018. Risks, however,
to the global outlook still remains a heightened
possibility with political uncertainty playing a
big part especially given the developments in
the US and Europe.
On the other hand, monetary policy conditions
changed in 2016 with global consumer price
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Mr. Majozi Sithole
Governor
inflation increasing as the retail prices of
gasoline and other energy related products
slightly rose. The uptick has been especially
strong for advanced economies, where 12-month
consumer price inflation in the year stood
slightly above 2 per cent - more than double the
average annual inflation rate of 0.8 per cent in
2016. In many emerging market and developing
economies headline inflation picked up due
to higher commodity prices. Annual headline
inflation in 2016 for EMDEs was recorded at 4.4
per cent in 2016 and is expected to edge up
to 4.7 per cent in 2017 (IMF WEO Report, April
2017).
The sluggish global growth and commodity
markets negatively affected Swaziland’s
leading trading partner, South Africa, in 2016;
and this combined with rising prices. Again
according to the International Monetary Fund’s
April 2017 World Economic Outlook Report,
South African national output declined by 0.3
per cent in 2016 compared to a GDP growth of
1.3 per cent in 2015. South Africa experienced
a technical recession for the first time in eight
years after recording two consecutive quarterly
economic growth contractions in the period
2016 to first quarter of 2017. However, going
forward a modest recovery is expected in 2017,
with growth rising to 0.8 per cent as commodity
prices rebound, drought conditions ease, and
electricity capacity expands; for 2018, GDP
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GOVERNOR’S STATEMENT (Continued)
Revised estimates for GDP growth indicate that the economy grew by 1.3 per cent in 2016,
an upward revision from the September 2016 estimate of -0.6 per cent, but remained
marginally lower than the revised estimate of 1.5 per cent growth in 2015.

growth is projected at 1.6 per cent. This glossy
outlook though is likely to be affected by
sovereign credit ratings downgrade on domestic
private sector gross fixed capital formation in
particular (IMF WEO Report, April 2017).
The South African Reserve Bank (SARB) weighed
in to assist the situation by loosening its
monetary policy to shore up economic growth
in mid-2016. However, the Bank found itself
having to backtrack after its hand was forced
by rising consumer prices, taking CPI outside
the target range especially in the latter part
of 2016. In the first quarter of 2017, the SARB
increased the benchmark repo rate, taking it
back to 7 per cent where it was early in 2016.
However, inflation pressures are expected to
improve with headline inflation expected to
return to within the target range during the
second quarter of 2017 (South African Reserve
Bank, 27 June 2017).
In Swaziland, revised estimates indicate that
the economy grew by 1.3 per cent in 2016,
an upward revision from the September 2016
estimate of -0.6 per cent, but remained
marginally lower than the revised estimate of
1.5 per cent growth in 2015. The improvement
in economic performance (relative to the
previous projection) mainly benefited from
better output in the secondary sector due
to lower-than-anticipated effects of the El
Nino induced drought on food manufacturing,
electricity generation and water supply.

16

The real output of the secondary sector
contracted by 0.8 per cent in 2016 compared
to a growth of 2.8 per cent in 2015. The
reduction in output for the secondary sector
was accounted for by the manufacturing sector
whose output declined by 1.3 per cent in 2016
compared to a growth of 2.5 per cent in 2015.
The tertiary sector grew by 3.7 per cent in
2016 compared to a slower pace of 1.3 per
cent the previous year, mainly supported by
an expansionary fiscal policy (following the
implementation of a salary review exercise)
in the second half of 2016. Other sectors that
recorded growth include ‘wholesale and retail’,
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‘tourism’, ‘financial services’, ‘transport’,
‘communication’ and ‘real estate’ subsectors.
The primary sector shrank by 2.4 per cent in
2016 compared to another contraction of 3.5
per cent in 2015. The performance of the
primary sector was mainly affected by the
negative effects of the El Nino induced drought
particularly the growing of crops both for rainfed crops and irrigated farms.
Swaziland’s headline consumer inflation
increased from an average of 5.0 per cent in
2015 to an average of 7.8 per cent in 2016, with
a peak of 8.7 per cent reached in December
2016. The rise in overall consumer inflation
mainly benefitted from a notable growth in
food inflation largely driven by a severe El Nino
phenomenon that affected the entire Southern
Africa region. However, inflationary pressures
subsided in the opening months of 2017, with
headline inflation slowing to 7.1 per cent in
April 2017, as favourable weather conditions
reversed the effects of the drought that
prevailed in the 2015/16 season.
Swaziland’s inflation outlook is expected to be
contained in the short to medium term due to
a combination of factors that include declining
food prices, a relatively stronger Rand/
Lilangeni against major trading partners and
contained international oil prices. The Central
Bank inflation forecasts reflect that inflation
will close the year on a downward trajectory
with an average of 7.0 per cent in 2017. The
medium term forecasts also show that inflation
will average 5.8 per cent in 2018 and 5.6 per
cent in 2019.
A tight monetary policy stance was pursued
by the Bank during the financial year ended
March 2017. The broad objective of the stance
was to contain rapidly intensifying inflationary
pressures while cautious not to further weaken
economic growth prospects. The policy (bank)
rate increased by 75 basis points from 6.50
per cent in March 2016 to 7.25 per cent at the
end of March 2017. Correspondingly, the prime
lending rate increased from 10.00 per cent in
March 2016 to 10.75 per cent in March 2017.
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GOVERNOR’S STATEMENT (Continued)
In line with the Bank’s mandate of promoting a sound and safe banking system and
ensuring confidence in the domestic banking sector, the Central Bank increased the
minimum liquidity requirement for commercial banks with effect from 1st July 2016 while
the reserve requirement remained unaltered. The liquidity requirement for all banks
went up from 20 per cent to 25 per cent of domestic liabilities while for the Swazi Bank
it was increased from 17 per cent to 22 per cent of domestic liabilities.
The reserve requirement remained unchanged at 6 per cent.

International reserves reached 3.4 months
of imports of goods and services at the end
of March 2017, notably lower than the level
of 3.9 months at the end of March 2016. The
deterioration in reserves was largely attributed
to the considerable decline in SACU receipts for
the fiscal year 2016-17. The short to mediumterm prospects for the country’s reserves
remain positive with a recovery in SACU receipts
for 2017/18 expected to improve the reserves
level. The Bank will thus continue to monitor
and provide appropriate advice to government
to ensure that the reserves are sustained at a
healthy position. This would go a long way in
safeguarding the market’s confidence in the
country’s ability to meet its external obligations
and to withstand external shocks.
With the new balance of payments compilation
format of BPM6 the preliminary data indicate
that in 2016, the current account recorded a
E5.923 billion surplus, down from a surplus of
E9.379 billion in the previous year. The decline
was a turnaround from the 52.9 per cent
increase in the surplus reported in 2015. The
current account in 2016 was equivalent to 10.8
per cent of GDP from 17.9 per cent in 2015. The
balance in the current account was explained
by a narrow trade balance and a reduction in
the net receipts posted in the secondary income
account.
The financial account resulted in a net
acquisition of foreign assets of E5.066 billion
reflecting a net outflow, though moderating
relative to the net outflow of E7.391 billion in
2015. The net outflow depicts that Swaziland
was a net lender to the rest of the world during
this period. This result was the interplay of net
foreign assets acquired in the ‘other investment’
sub-account as well as incurrence of liabilities
in direct investment and other investment.
The international investment position (IIP) for
Swaziland indicates that external financial
assets continued to surpass external financial
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liabilities. At the end of 2016, Swaziland’s IIP
recorded a net asset position amounting to
E21.698 billion, an increase of 21.7 per cent
from the net asset position posted in 2015.
The net position in the IIP was sustained by a
21.6 per cent increase in foreign assets while
liabilities grew 21.4 per cent.
The Minister of Finance presented the 2017/18
National Budget to Parliament under the
theme: “Rising Above Adversity to Create
Prosperity for All”. The Budget was in line with
His Majesty’s Speech from the Throne when
opening the 4th session of the 10th Parliament.
The key objectives of this Budget were
highlighted as reducing reliance on SACU
receipts, fiscal consolidation and infrastructure
development
to
build
Government’s
preparedness and resilience against future
adversities.
The budget showed a deficit of 8.2 per cent of
GDP (E4.8 billion) for 2017/18 compared to a
deficit of 12.3 per cent estimated for 2016/17.
The improvement in the budget deficit will
benefit from a combination of a lower increase
in expenditure coupled with a surge in revenues
for 2017/18 fiscal year.  Over the medium to long
term, Government’s aim is to bring the deficit
back to levels less than 3 per cent, in line with
SADC Macroeconomic Convergence targets,
supported by improved revenue collection.
The Minister indicated in previous budgets that
to avoid an increase in relatively expensive
external borrowing and reduce the fiscal
burden of debt payments over the medium
term, a larger share of the fiscal deficit will
be financed through domestic borrowing.
External borrowing will be considered only for
the financing of highly productive fixed capital
investments.
The Swaziland banking sector was stable,
financially sound and conformed to statutory
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GOVERNOR’S STATEMENT
To strengthen the financial sector in Swaziland, the Ministry of Finance, the Central Bank
and Financial Services Regulatory Authority have collaborated to develop Swaziland’s
Financial Sector Development Implementation Plan (FSDIP). The FSDIP was formulated
with the support of the World Bank which provided the expertise and assisted in
ensuring it has latest international best practice in financial sector development.

prudential requirements in terms of capital
adequacy and liquidity. The asset quality of
banks deteriorated notably during the year with
non-performing loans and advances expressed
as a percentage of gross loans at 10.25 per
cent in March 2017, representing a significant
increase from the 5.0 per cent recorded in March
2016. Furthermore, their profitability showed
significant deterioration when compared to the
previous year, mainly due to the severe drought
that impacted negatively on economic growth,
the volatile exchange rate market and increased
cost of borrowing which resulted in low credit
extension and high non-performing loans The
banking sector assets grew by 5.0 per cent to
E17.9 billion during the year ended March 2017
from E17.0 billion at the end of March 2017. Net
loans and advances consisted of 62.0 per cent
of the banking sector assets, rising marginally
from 61.0 per cent reported at the end of March
2016.
In line with the Bank’s mandate of promoting
a sound and safe banking system and ensuring
confidence in the domestic banking sector, the
Central Bank increased the minimum liquidity
requirement for commercial banks with effect
from 1st July 2016 while the reserve requirement
remained unaltered. The liquidity requirement
for all banks went up from 20 per cent to 25
per cent of domestic liabilities while for the
Swazi Bank it was increased from 17 per cent to
22 per cent of domestic liabilities. The reserve
requirement remained unchanged at 6 per cent.
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To strengthen the financial sector in Swaziland
the Ministry of Finance, the Central Bank and
Financial Services Regulatory Authority have
collaborated to develop Swaziland’s Financial
Sector Development Implementation Plan
(FSDIP). The FSDIP was formulated with the
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support of the World Bank which provided the
expertise and assisted in ensuring it has latest
international best practice in financial sector
development. This is a three-year strategy
which will be implemented from 2017 to 2019.
The objective of the strategy is to have a stable,
diversified, modern and competitive financial
system that provides quality, affordable and
accessible financial services to all people in
the economy in an effort to support economic
growth. This national strategy was launched
by His Excellency the Right Honourable Prime
Minister Dr. Barnabas Sibusiso Dlamini on
13th April 2017. The Bank is on course with
the implementation of its own strategy and
continues to be guided by best practice in
corporate governance.
In an endeavour to foster cooperation and
monetary integration at the regional level, the
Bank continues to participate in the meetings of
the Committee of Central Bank Governors in the
CMA, SADC, COMESA and Africa as a continent.
I would like to extend my sincere thanks to
the Minister of Finance and his Officials, Board
of Directors, all staff of the Central Bank of
Swaziland as well as financial institutions and
other key stakeholders for their cooperation,
commitment and dedication to the attainment
of financial stability in Swaziland.

..................................
M.V. Sithole
Governor
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2. GLOBAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS
2.1
OVERVIEW
According to the IMF World Economic Outlook
(WEO) Report released in April 2017, global
growth was subdued in 2016, with the world
economy advancing by 3.1 per cent compared
to 3.2 per cent recorded in 2015. The IMF
indicated that with buoyant financial markets
and a long-awaited cyclical recovery in
manufacturing and trade under way, world GDP
growth was projected to rise from 3.1 per cent
in 2016 to 3.5 per cent in 2017 and 3.6 per cent
in 2018. In addition, a recovery in industrial
activity coincided with a pickup in global trade,
after two years of marked weakness.

growth path remains debt dependent. Delays
to President Trump’s reform agenda in the US
is expected to lead to some loss of momentum
in coming months. Monetary policy continued
to be stimulatory despite rising US interest
rates. The global economy experienced a
manufacturing driven upturn in the first quarter
of 2017. Global industrial production was robust
in the first quarter, growing by 3.7 per cent
quarter-on-quarter seasonally adjusted and
annualized, a pace that was somewhat slower
than a six-year peak of 5.3 per cent quarteron-quarter seasonally adjusted and annualized
reached in the fourth quarter of 2016. Advanced
economies in 2016 grew by 1.7 per cent and in
2017 growth is projected to rise to 2.0 per cent,
the same level expected in 2018. For advanced
economies, projected growth was revised
upward in the US, reflecting the assumed fiscal
policy easing and an uptick in confidence,
especially after the November 2016 elections,
which, if it persists, will reinforce the cyclical
momentum.

Optimism over more synchronized growth in
the global economy continued into early 2017,
with confidence surveys and markets signalling
better prospects. Some swing away from
populist politics in key European countries also
bolstered sentiment. However, actual growth
remains relatively subdued and there are still
considerable risks to the outlook. Geopolitical
tensions have risen once more, and China’s

Figure 1: World Economic Outlook – GDP Projections (Revised); 2015 - 2018
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The outlook has also improved for Europe and
Japan based on a cyclical recovery in global
manufacturing and trade that started in the
second half of 2016. The main forces shaping
the outlook differ, to some extent, between
advanced economies and emerging market and
developing economies. Among the advanced
economies group, the US economy is projected
to gather steam because of expansionary fiscal
policy. Elsewhere, especially in Europe, the
cyclical recovery from the crises of 2008/09 and
2011/12 will help keep growth modestly above
potential over the next few years. Looking
to the medium term, however, demographic
headwinds and weak trend productivity are
likely to restrain growth. Risks to the global
outlook remain tilted to the downside. These
include increased trade protectionism, elevated
economic policy uncertainty, the possibility
of financial market disruptions, and, over the
longer term, weaker potential growth (IMF WEO
Report, April 2017).
2.2 INDUSTRIALISED COUNTRIES
Growth in major advanced economies
strengthened, and their short-term outlook has
improved, despite elevated policy uncertainty.
A modest recovery should continue, with
output gaps narrowing and inflation gradually
converging toward central bank targets. US
monetary policy normalization is expected to
proceed at a measured pace. China’s policy
guided gradual transition to slower but more
sustainable growth continues as expected.
Advanced economies started the year on a solid
note, with investment and exports regaining
momentum after subdued growth in 2016.
Private consumption decelerated somewhat
in early 2017, but has been supported by
labour market improvements. Import demand
has strengthened, further contributing to a
recovery in global trade.
Advanced economies consumer price inflation
has ticked up as the retail prices of gasoline and
other energy related products have increased.
Consumer inflation advanced to 0.8 per cent in
2016 up from 0.3 per cent in 2015.The uptick
is expected to continue in 2018, where it will
reach 2.0 per cent before remaining somewhat
steady at 1.9 per cent in 2018. The world also
needs a renewed multilateral effort to tackle a
number of common challenges in an integrated
global economy. Many of the challenges that
the global economy confronts call for individual
country actions to be supported by multilateral
cooperation. Key areas for collective action
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include preserving an open trading system,
safeguarding
global
financial
stability,
achieving equitable tax systems, continuing to
support low-income countries as they pursue
their development goals, and mitigating and
adapting to climate change (IMF WEO Report,
April 2017).
In the United States: In 2016, US GDP expanded
by 1.6 per cent after growing by 2.6 per cent
in 2015, the lowest since 2011. This was due
to a slump in private investment, the first time
since 2009, dragged down by structures and
equipment. For 2017, projected US GDP growth
by the IMF assumes a fiscal stimulus that leads
growth to rise to 2.3 per cent and further
advance by 2.5 per cent in 2018. The fiscal policy
easing and an uptick in confidence, especially
after the November 2016 US elections, which, if
it persists, will reinforce the observed cyclical
momentum (IMF WEO Report, April 2017).
The US Federal Reserve (US FED) raised interest
rates by 25 basis points twice in early 2017, first
in January and in March respectively. Interest
rates were raised from a range of between 0.25
per cent and 0.5 per cent in December 2016
to a range of 0.75 per cent to 1.00 per cent in
March 2017. This marked one of the US FED’s
most convincing steps yet in the effort to return
monetary policy to a more normal stance (US
Federal Reserve, April 2017).
US inflation for the full year of 2016 ran at the
fastest pace in five years, climbing to 2.1 per
cent, propelled by five straight months of cost
of living increase compared to 0.1 per cent in
2015. For the period ending March 2017, US
consumer prices increased by 2.4 per cent yearon-year, lower than 2.7 per cent in February and
below market expectations of 2.6 per cent. This
was the lowest inflation rate in three months
due to a slowdown in energy and services cost
(US Bureau of Economic Analysis, April 2017).
According to the US Bureau of Labour Statistics,
US unemployment rate in 2016 averaged
4.9 per cent, and in the first quarter of 2017
unemployment declined rapidly. As at end
March 2017 US unemployment was recorded at
4.5 per cent from 4.7 per cent in the previous
month, as the number of unemployed persons
declined.
In the Eurozone: According to the IMF World
Economic Outlook, over the whole year 2016,
Eurozone GDP advanced by 1.7 per cent after
growing by 2 per cent in 2015. The IMF projected
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that Eurozone GDP in 2017 and 2018 will grow by
1.7 per cent and 1.6 per cent, respectively. In
the first quarter of 2017 the Eurozone economy
expanded by 0.6 per cent, following a 0.5 per
cent advance in the previous quarter. This was
the strongest growth rate since the first quarter
of 2015, mainly boosted by fixed investment
and household consumption. Growth picked up
in Germany, Spain, Italy and Finland but slowed
in France.
Following the European Central Bank’s (ECB)
decision to lower its benchmark-refinancing
rate to 0.0 per cent and increase its asset
purchase programme to €80 billion a month
in March 2016, the ECB maintained the same
policy stance until end of March 2017. Both
the deposit rate and the lending rate were also
left steady at -0.4 per cent and 0.25 per cent,
respectively. ECB policymakers confirmed that
the monthly asset purchases will run at the
current monthly pace of €80 billion until March
2018, and from April 2018, they are intended to
continue at a monthly pace of €60 billion until
the end of the year 2018 (European Central
Bank, April 2017).
Eurozone inflation rate rose to 1.1 per cent
year-on-year in December 2016, compared to
0.2 per cent in December 2015. The surge in
inflation was the highest in more than three
years, driven by increased prices for energy,
food, alcohol and tobacco. In the three months
to March 2017, consumer prices in the Eurozone
rose by 1.5 per cent year-on-year, easing from
a 2 per cent increase in February and below
market expectations of 1.8 per cent (Eurostat,
April 2017).
Eurozone unemployment rate averaged 10
per cent in 2016 and has been steadily on a
downward trend. The unemployment rate came
in at 9.5 per cent in March 2017, unchanged
from the previous month and was the lowest
unemployment rate since April 2009 (Eurostat,
April 2017).
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In the United Kingdom: Looking at 2016 as a
whole, UK GDP growth slowed to 1.8 per cent
from 2.2 per cent in 2015. Fixed investment
and government spending went up at a slower
pace while household consumption grew
further. In the first quarter of 2017, the UK
economy grew by only 2.2 per cent, the lowest
quarter-on-quarter growth in a year, after
expanding by 0.7 per cent in the fourth quarter
of 2016. The slowdown was mainly driven by
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the service sector on weak performances of
consumer-focused industries, such as retail and
accommodation (IMF World Economic Outlook,
April 2017).
The Bank of England cut its interest rates to
0.25 per cent from 0.5 per cent in August 2016
and introduced a package of measures designed
to provide additional monetary stimulus. The
Bank of England has kept interest rates at
record low for the whole of 2016 and including
the first quarter of 2017, in order to meet its 2
per cent inflation target. The Bank’s objective
is to achieve sustainable economic growth and
full employment (Bank of England, April 2017).
UK inflation averaged 0.67 per cent in 2016
compared to 0.2 per cent in 2015. The Bank
of England expects inflation to rise above the
2 per cent target over the short-term, before
peaking at around 2.75 per cent in early 2018
and drifting gradually back down towards the
target thereafter. The projected overshoot
reflects the expected effects of the drop in the
value of the Pound Sterling. Wages and salary
growth remained subdued, while measures of
inflation expectations remain at levels broadly
consistent with the achievement of the inflation
target (Eurostat, April 2017).
Average annual unemployment rate in the
UK was recorded at 4.9 per cent in 2016
and has been on a declining trend since. UK
unemployment rate fell to 4.6 per cent in the
three months to March 2017 from 4.7 per cent
in the previous period (Eurostat, April 2017).
In Japan: Japan’s GDP grew by 1.0 per cent in
2016 compared to 0.5 per cent in 2015. The
growth momentum, fuelled by stronger-thanexpected net exports in 2016, will continue
into 2017, with growth forecast at 1.2 per cent.
The pace of expansion is expected to weaken
thereafter to 0.6 per cent in 2018, with the
assumed withdrawal of fiscal support and a
recovery of imports offsetting the impact of
stronger anticipated foreign demand and Tokyo
Olympics–related private investment (IMF WEO
Report, April 2017).
Following the Bank of Japan’s decision to adopt
a negative interest rate policy, the Bank has
maintained this rate for the whole of 2016.
Further, the Bank of Japan left its key shortterm interest rate unchanged at -0.1 per
cent at its March 2017 meeting. Policymakers
also decided to keep its 10-years government
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bond yield target around zero per cent and
maintaining their upbeat economic view (Bank
of Japan, April 2017).
Japan consumer inflation in 2016 averaged -0.1
per cent following 0.2 per cent recorded in 2015.
Higher energy prices, the recent weakening
in the yen, and slowly building wage-price
pressures are expected to lift inflation in Japan.
However, with inflation expectations rising only
slowly, the increase in inflation is projected to
be quite subdued, with inflation rates staying
well below the Bank of Japan’s price stability
target of 2 per cent throughout the forecast
horizon (Statistics Bureau of Japan, April 2017).
On an average basis the unemployment rate in
Japan was recorded at 3.1 per cent in 2016,
declining from 3.3 per cent recorded in 2015.
The unemployment rate at the end of March
2017 stood at 2.8 per cent, the same as in
February 2017. The figure came slightly below
market consensus of 2.9 per cent (Statistics
Bureau of Japan, April 2017).
2.3 EMERGING MARKET AND DEVELOPING
ECONOMIES
Economic performance across emerging market
and developing economies (EMDEs) remained
mixed. Economic growth in these economies
in 2016 was recorded at 4.1 per cent, and is
projected to edge up to 4.5 per cent and 4.8 per
cent in 2017 and 2018, respectively. Whereas
China’s growth remained strong, reflecting
continued policy support, activity slowed in
India because of the impact of the currency
exchange initiative (country’s two highestdenomination notes, the 500 and 1000 rupee worth roughly $7.50 and $15.00 would no longer
be legal tender), as well as in Brazil, which
has been mired in a deep recession. Activity
remained weak in fuel and non-fuel commodity
exporters more generally, while geopolitical
factors held back growth in parts of the Middle
East and Turkey. Obstacles to growth among
commodity exporters are gradually diminishing,
while activity in commodity importers remains
generally robust. Headline inflation picked
up in many emerging market and developing
economies due to higher commodity prices.
Annual headline inflation in 2016 for EMDEs was
recorded at 4.4 per cent in 2016 and is expected
to edge up to 4.7 per cent in 2017. However,
in a number of cases, it has receded as passthrough from the sharp currency depreciations
in 2015 and early 2016 continues to fade (IMF
WEO Report, April 2017).
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According to the IMF, renewed risk appetite has
supported EMDEs financial markets and led to a
narrowing of corporate bond spreads globally.
Capital inflows to EMDEs were robust in the
first quarter of 2017, partly in a rebound from
a late 2016 weakness. Over time, however, a
gradual tightening of international financing
conditions may weigh on capital flows to
EMDEs. Commodity prices have continued
to rise moderately, although prospects for
increased US shale oil production are weighing
on the outlook for oil prices. Windfalls from the
recent decline in commodity prices is waning,
but accommodative policies are supporting
domestic demand and export growth bolstered
by a recovery in global trade (IMF WEO Report,
April 2017).
The IMF highlighted that a policy priority for
EMDEs is to rebuild monetary and fiscal space
that could be drawn on were such risks to
materialise. Over the longer term, structural
policies that support investment and trade
are critical to boost productivity and potential
growth. Global financing conditions have been
benign and benefited from improving market
expectations about growth prospects. Financial
market volatility has been low despite elevated
policy uncertainty, reflecting investor risk
appetite and, perhaps, some level of market
complacency.
Brazil: Brazil is currently going through a
deep recession. The country’s growth rate
decelerated steadily since the beginning of this
decade, from an average annual growth of 4.5
per cent between 2006 and 2010 to 2.1 per cent
between 2011 and 2014. GDP contracted by
3.8 per cent in 2015, and in 2016 the economy
further contracted by 3.6 per cent. According
to the IMF, the country’s GDP is expected to
recover in 2017 and 2018, growing by 0.2
per cent and 1.7 per cent, respectively. The
economic crisis, a result of the fall in commodity
prices and an inability to make the necessary
policy adjustments, coupled with the political
crisis faced by the country has contributed to
undermining the confidence of consumers and
investors over the year (IMF World Economic
Outlook, April 2017).
The Central Bank of Brazil lowered its
benchmark Selic rate to 13.75 per cent on 30
November 2016, its lowest in over a year. The
decision was because of policymakers’ aim
to bring inflation back to target amid a deep
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economic recession and a new political scandal.
In February 2017, the Bank continued with its
easing cycle, cutting its key Selic rate by 75
basis points to 12.25 per cent. This was the
fourth straight rate decline, bringing borrowing
costs to the lowest levels in nearly 2 years amid
slowing inflation and a sticky contraction.
It follows a 75 basis points cut in January 2017
(Trading Economics, April 2017).
Average inflation in 2016 was recorded at 8.77
per cent compared to 10.67 per cent reached
in 2015. Consumer prices went up by 4.57 per
cent year-on-year in March 2017, easing from
a 4.76 per cent rise in February and compared
to market expectations of a 4.54 per cent
increase. The inflation rate slowed for the
seventh month to the lowest since August 2010,
remaining slightly above central bank’s official
target of 4.5 per cent (Trading Economics, April
2017).
The unemployment rate in Latin America’s
largest economy hit 7.0 per cent at the end of
2015 and finished 2016 at 8.0 per cent nearly
double the record low of 4.3 per cent at the end
of 2014. The unemployment rate in Brazil rose
to 13.6 per cent in the three months to April
2017 from 12.6 per cent recorded in the three
months to January 2017 (Trading Economics,
April 2017).
Russia: In Russia, where activity appears
to have bottomed out and higher oil prices
bolstering the recovery, GDP growth contracted
by a lesser 0.8 per cent in 2016 compared to a
3.7 per cent contraction in 2015 (World Data
Atlas – Russia Federation, June 2017).
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The Central Bank of Russia lowered its benchmark
one-week repo rate by 25 basis points to 9.75
per cent in March 2017. Policymakers signalled
the possibility of further cuts in the second and
third quarter of 2017, as inflation outcomes
slowdown and economic activity recovers. The
Bank took into consideration the oil market
uncertainty and indicated it will pursue a
conservative approach to the forecast, which
assumes an oil price reduction to $40 per barrel
by the end of 2017 and it’s further staying near
this level (Central Bank of Russia, April 2017).
The average annual inflation in 2016 was
recorded at 7.07 per cent compared to a higher
15.55 per cent rise in 2015. Consumer prices
increased by 4.3 per cent year-on-year in the
quarter ended March 2017, easing from a 4.6
per cent rise in February. The Bank forecasts
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that the annual consumer price growth will
decline to 4 per cent by the end of 2017 and
remain within this target range in 2018-2019. In
2016 the unemployment rate was recorded at 6
per cent and declined to 5.4 per cent in March
2017 from 5.6 per cent in the previous month.
Unemployment is expected to remain steady at
6 per cent in 2017 and 2018 respectively (World
Data Atlas-knoema.com – Russia Federation,
June 2017).
India: The Indian economy grew by 6.8 per
cent in 2016 compared to 7.6 per cent in 2015.
The growth forecast for 2017 was downwardly
revised by 0.4 percentage point to 7.2 per cent,
primarily because of the temporary negative
consumption shock induced by cash shortages
and payment disruptions from the recent
currency exchange initiative. Medium-term
growth prospects are favourable, with growth
forecast to rise to about 8 per cent over the
medium term due to the implementation of key
reforms, loosening of supply-side bottlenecks,
and appropriate fiscal and monetary policies
(IMF WEO Report, April 2017).
Following a 25 basis point rate cut to 6.5 per
cent by the Bank of India in April 2016, the
Bank maintained the benchmark rate at that
level until October 2016. The Bank rate was cut
to 6.25 per cent and has been maintained at
same level until the end of the first quarter of
2017. Policymakers in February 2017 decided
to change the stance from accommodative
to neutral while assessing the effects of
demonetisation on inflation and growth. The
average inflation in 2016 was recorded at 4.97
per cent, lower than 5.88 per cent rise in 2015
(Reserve Bank of India, April 2017).
China: In 2016, GDP expanded by a lower 6.7
per cent compared to a 6.9 per cent expansion
in 2015, and the weakest growth in 26 years.
The Chinese economy advanced by 1.3 per
cent in the first quarter of 2017, following a
1.7 per cent growth in the last quarter of 2016,
as investment and the property market gained
momentum in the latest sign of stabilisation in
the world’s second-largest economy (IMF WEO
Report, April 2017).
The People’s Bank of China raised the interest
rate it charges on short-term open-market
operations by 10 basis points in March 2017,
due to strengthening market expectations for
higher funding costs in light of rising domestic
inflation and property prices following the
Federal Reserve’s rate increase in March 2017.
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It was the second adjustment in short-term
interest rates since early February 2017. The
benchmark lending rate was left unchanged at
4.35 per cent. It was last cut by 25 basis points
in October 2015 (The Peoples Bank of China,
April 2017).
Chinese consumer prices averaged 2.0 per
cent in 2016 compared to 1.4 per cent in 2015.
Consumer prices rose by 0.9 per cent year-onyear in the quarter ended March 2017, following
a 0.8 per cent rise in February. Notably,
China’s producer prices have emerged from
deflation, reflecting higher raw material prices
as well as efforts to reduce excess industrial
capacity and recovering real estate investment.
Unemployment rate in China decreased to
3.97 per cent in the first quarter of 2017 from
4.02 per cent in the fourth quarter 2016.
Unemployment rate in China averaged 4.12 per
cent from 2002 until 2017 (National Bureau of
Statistics of China, May 2017).
2.4 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS IN SOUTH
AFRICA
The South African economy unexpectedly
contracted by an annualized 0.7 per
cent
quarter-on-quarter in the first three months
of 2017, following a 0.3 per cent drop in the
previous period and compared to market
expectations of a 0.9 per cent expansion. This
is the first recession since 2009 as both trade
and manufacturing recorded negative growth
rates. The largest negative contribution came
from trade, catering and accommodation which
contracted by 5.9 per cent, following a 2.1 per
cent rise in the previous period. Manufacturing
also dragged down the GDP figure, falling for
the third straight quarter (-3.7 per cent from
-3.1 per cent), as production of petroleum,
chemical products, rubber and plastic products
decreased (Statistics South Africa, 27 June
2017).
The domestic growth outlook has deteriorated
amid weak business and consumer confidence.
The South African Reserve Bank’s forecast for
GDP growth has been revised down for the
entire forecast period, by 0.2 percentage points
for 2017 and 2018, and by 0.3 percentage points
in 2019. Annual growth rates of 1.0 per cent for
2017, 1.5 per cent for 2018 and 1.7 per cent in
2019 are now expected. This downward revision
is due in part to the expected impact of the
sovereign credit ratings downgrade on domestic
private sector gross fixed capital formation
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in particular. The downgrade is also likely to
weigh on public sector investment through
higher funding costs and more difficult access
to funding (South African Reserve Bank, 27 June
2017).
The Rand remains a key upside risk to the
forecast. The Rand however, has been
surprisingly resilient in the face of recent
domestic developments. This is partly due
to offsetting factors, particularly positive
sentiment towards emerging markets and the
improved current account balance. Following
two bank rate hikes in January and March 2016,
the South African Reserve Bank (SARB) has
thereafter until the end of December 2016 kept
the Bank repo rate on hold at 7 per cent. As
at March 2017 the Bank continued to keep the
benchmark repo rate on hold at 7 per cent. The
Bank highlighted that the inflation outlook has
improved although the exchange rate became
a risk due to recent political uncertainties.
In addition, the Bank stated that the end of
the tightening cycle has been reached (South
African Reserve Bank, June 2017).
The SARB in March 2017 highlighted that the
inflation forecast of the Bank has improved,
with headline inflation expected to return to
within the target range of between 3 - 6 per cent
during the second quarter of 2017. Consumer
price inflation is expected to average 5.9 per
cent in 2017, compared with 6.2 per cent in the
previous forecast, while the forecast for 2018
has moderated from an average of 5.5 per cent
to 5.4 per cent.
Consumer prices in South Africa increased 6.1
per cent year-on-year in March 2017, lower than
a 6.3 per cent rise in February and below market
expectations of 6.3 per cent. It is the lowest
inflation rate in six months due to a slowdown
in food inflation. Annual core inflation, which
excludes cost of food, non-alcoholic beverages,
petrol and energy, fell to 4.9 per cent in
March from 5.2 per cent in February 2017. It
is the lowest rate since January of 2013April
(Statistics South Africa, April 2017).
The unemployment rate in South Africa
increased to 27.7 per cent in the first quarter of
2017 from 26.5 per cent in the previous period.
It is the highest jobless rate since the first
quarter of 2004 as unemployment rose faster
than employment (Statistics South Africa, April
2017).
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2.5 REGIONAL DEVELOPMENTS
Swaziland is party to a number of regional and
international trade agreements that allow for
improved market access for her products as well
as harmonised policy actions and procedures
aimed at achieving integration goals. 2016 was
a momentous year for the Kingdom when it
was her turn to take the leadership role of two
key regional organizations that is the Southern
African Customs Union  (SACU) and the Southern
African Development Community (SADC).
Whilst the loss of the AGOA three years ago was
expected to have major negative repercussions
for the country it would seem that the effects
were not as severe as it was initially envisaged.
Switching to regional markets seems to have
softened the loss of AGOA and presented an
alternative opportunity for expansion. However,
regaining the lucrative market offered by the
AGOA arrangement remained the key objective
for the government.
Following is a brief update on activities
Swaziland took part in during the reporting
period on each Regional Economic Community
(REC):
2.5.1 Common Monetary Area (CMA)
CMA comprises of four members, namely
Lesotho, Namibia, South Africa and Swaziland.
It is premised on the CMA Agreement (known
as the Multilateral Monetary Agreement – MMA)
which allows the South African Rand to circulate
freely in all three-member states alongside
national currencies. The MMA broadly defines
the overall framework in which the contracting
four member states conducts monetary
arrangements among themselves.
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CMA continued to meet on a quarterly basis to
look at progress in their economies, exchange
views on issues of common interest and work
on projects that are beneficial to the area. As
part of the standard discussions during these
meetings were the impact of global economic
developments on the CMA as well as progress
on the revision of the MMA to ensure that it is
updated and covered all the pertinent areas.
A couple of new issues have emerged during the
year and these are on the table for discussion.
One of these issues is the development of
guiding principles for membership of the
CMA to assist in case of expansion of the
CMA membership as some countries having
indicated interest in joining the area. However,
a decision on the expansion is not imminent
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but will likely be made in the medium to long
term after comprehensive analysis and lengthy
discussions. Another issue on the CMA agenda
is the establishment of a consultative group on
deposit insurance and stress testing. The main
objective of establishing a deposit insurance
scheme (DIS) for the CMA is to protect less
financially sophisticated depositors in the
event of a bank failure, thereby contributing
to customer protection and enhancement of
the stability of the CMA financial system. By
protecting the covered deposits in all banks, the
DIS can also contribute to the development of
a less concentrated banking sector and support
financial inclusion and transformation of the
sector. On stress testing, the CMA Governors
want to do a stress testing of CMA banks and
mooted was a crisis simulation exercise to be
done in the CMA with the assistance of the IMF.
2.5.2 Southern African Customs Union
(SACU)
Swaziland took the Chairmanship of SACU in
June 2016 and this was for a period of one
year. SACU currently represents the largest
market for Swaziland’s export products. Trade
initiatives pursued under SACU include trade
facilitation, development of common policies,
establishment of SACU institutions, unified
engagement in trade negotiations and trade in
services. The Union has also embarked on the
review of the revenue sharing formula.
The Customs Union is currently engaged in the
review of the current Revenue Sharing Formula
(RSF), which will result in the amendment of
the 2002 SACU Agreement. Other areas include
the trade facilitation, establishment of SACU
Institutions, trade in services, Common trade
policies, Common Negotiating Mechanism,
Competition Policy, Industrial Policy and Unfair
Trade Practices Annex.
SACU is working on reviving the Technical
Liaison Committees (TLC) and an agreement
with the World Customs Organization (WCO).
The TLC were suspended in favour of ad hoc
technical experts’ task teams, which have risen
exponentially in the last couple of years. The
problem is that financing of this task team has to
be undertaken by the Secretariat and there are
procedural challenges in hosting of these task
teams since they are not governed by rules of
procedures like the TLCs. On the task teams and
technical committees, the SACU Commission
agreed that once the terms of reference for the
Ministerial Task Teams and Work Programmes
are approved, the commission will then assess
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the institutions required to support the Work
Program; and consider the financial implications
and how the Technical Committee meetings
are arranged. In the interim, the Secretariat
was directed to continue to fund prioritized
meetings of the Technical Committees.
SACU and WCO are still yet to agree on the text
of the provisions in the cooperation agreement,
relating to ownership of intellectual property
rights on the deliverables of the Project. Once
the issue is resolved, this will pave the way
for the signature of the Agreement, during
the second half of 2017. The Secretariat
was directed to ensure that ownership and
intellectual property rights on the deliverables
are preserved and that SACU and its Member
States are able to utilize the outcomes of the
project without restrictions.
2.5.3 Southern African Development
Community (SADC)
Swaziland ascended to the chairmanship of
SADC in August 2016 as per the Community’s
rotational schedule and immediately hosted
key institutional meetings as per the dictum of
procedure. A retreat and extra ordinary summit
meetings were held and key decisions were
made.
Firstly, it approved the costed action plan for
the industrialisation strategy and roadmap.
The Action Plan focuses on the actions and
policy interventions embodied in the goals and
objectives of the Strategy for first fifteen years
(2016-2030) of implementation. Major actions
include getting the macroeconomic policy
environment right, positioning industrialisation
at the centre of development, building
capabilities to underpin transformation and
strengthening competitive production set-ups,
removal of infrastructural impediments to
industrialisation and regional integration and
value chain development.
Secondly, it considered and approved the new
organizational structure of the Secretariat.
The new structure aims at delivering on the
objectives of the revised Regional Indicative
Strategic and Development Plan (RISDP), the
Strategic Indicative Plan of the Organ (SIPO)
and the Industrialization Strategy and Roadmap;
and addressing the identified weaknesses.
SADC has concluded negotiating an Economic
Partnership Agreement with the European
Union. Six SADC Member States namely
Botswana, Lesotho, Mozambique, Namibia,
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South Africa and Swaziland signed an Economic
Partnership Agreement with the EU on June
2016. The Agreement came into force on 10
October 2016 following the ratification by the
five SADC EPA member states namely Botswana,
Lesotho, Namibia, South Africa and Swaziland.
Mozambique is in the process of ratifying the
Agreement while Angola did not sign however,
with both participating as observers.
The Agreement has entered into force and
preparation for the implementation of the
Agreement are underway as two studies have
been undertaken on market access and trade
facilitation and technical barriers to trade and
sanitary and phyto sanitary measures to identify
opportunities and benefits.
2.5.4 Common Market for Eastern and
Southern Africa (COMESA)
Swaziland is a founder member of the
Preferential Trade Area of Eastern and Southern
Africa, the predecessor to COMESA, whose
main objective is to strengthen the process of
regional integration that was initiated under
the Preferential Trade Agreement (PTA) to help
Member States achieve sustainable economic
growth. COMESA launched its Customs Union in
2009 and Swaziland continues to trade in COMESA
under a derogation which allows her goods to
preferentially enter the COMESA market without
obligation to reciprocate. Over the years the
derogation had been subjected to an annual
review until a decision by Summit to link it to
the conclusion of the COMESA-EAC-SADC Free
Trade Agreement. The other COMESA members
are Burundi, Comoros, D.R.C., Djibouti, Egypt,
Eritrea, Ethiopia, Kenya, Libya, Madagascar,
Malawi, Mauritius, Rwanda, Seychelles Sudan,
Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe.
Since Swaziland is trading under a derogation
in COMESA and the derogation has been linked
to the conclusion of the Tripartite FTA, if
negotiations are not concluded in the agreed
timeframe there is a possibility that discussions
can be re-opened on the derogation.
2.5.5 Other Regional and International
Arrangements
2.5.5.1 COMESA-SADC-EAC Tripartite Free
Trade Area
According to an update from a SACU report on
the Tripartite Free Trade Area (TFTA), Ministerial
meetings were held in 28-30 October 2016.
The objective of the meetings was to consider
the outstanding Phase I issues on Tariff Offers,
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Rules of Origin and Trade Remedies. In addition,
the meetings considered the legal scrubbing
of Tripartite Annexes, Phase II negotiations,
Movement of Business Persons, Continental
Free Trade Area (CFTA), Industrial Development
Pillar, Infrastructure Development Pillar and
funding of the Tripartite Programme.
With regard to Trade Integration Pillar, eighteen
Member States have already signed the
Tripartite Agreement on Free Trade Area. Most
Annexes of the Agreement have been finalised
and are undergoing legal scrubbing. However,
two critical annexes are still under discussion:
Rules of Origin and Trade Remedies. These
two Annexes are critical to operationalize the
Agreement (SACU update report, April 2017).
In October 2016, Tripartite Council received the
draft Tripartite Framework for Cooperation and
the draft Tripartite Work Programme/Roadmap
for the Tripartite Industrial Development
Cooperation and noted the need for speedy
implementation of the Work Programme/
Roadmap. The Tripartite Council approved
the Draft Framework for Cooperation and
Work Programme/Roadmap of the Industrial
Development Pillar; and urged the Tripartite
Task Force (TTF) to mobilize resources for
the implementation of the Work Programme/
Roadmap of the Industrial Development Pillar
(SACU update report, April 2017).
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The Tripartite work programmes had been
supported by donor funds from the European
Development Fund through EU-IRCC as well
as the African Development Bank (AfDB). The
level of EU funding currently available for the
Tripartite is US$100,000. The AfDB had agreed
to extend its US$7.5 million support line from
November 2016 to November 2018 with US$5
million available for the extension period. The
meeting also noted that the Tripartite Task
Force had been discussing with UNECA for the
latter to support the funding of studies on Phase
II issues and a consultative meeting of Member/
Partner States on these issues, for an estimated
total cost of US$180,000 (SACU update report,
April 2017).
2.5.5.2 Proposed Continental Free Trade Area
The African Union Summit endorsed an
African Union Commission proposal for the
establishment of a continental Free Trade
Area covering all the members of the African
Union by an indicative date of 2017. The
Conference of African Ministers of Trade,
through an AU Summit directive, have adopted
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the work plan, modalities and principles of the
CFTA negotiations and was launched in 2015.
Negotiations have been scheduled to commence
by April 2016 and be completed by the same
time in 2017. Phase I issues are trade in goods,
trade in services and movement of business
persons. Phase II negotiations will focus on
investment, intellectual property rights and
competition policy (Ministry of Commerce &
Industry Update Report on trade negotiations,
May 2017).
Preparatory work ahead of the commencement
of the Continental Free Trade Area negotiations
is on-going mainly through the work of the
Continental Free Trade Area Negotiation Forum
(CFTA-NF). Terms of Reference have been
finalized for all the various Technical Working
Groups to be constituted to provide expert
input into the negotiations, namely: on Rules of
Origin; Sanitary and Phyto-sanitary measures;
Customs Procedures and Trade Facilitation;
Non-Tariff Barriers and Technical Barriers to
Trade; Legal and Institutional Affairs; Trade
Remedies; and Trade in Services. The Tariff and
Trade in Services Negotiation Modalities are
being developed and expected to be finalized
and approved in June 2017.
2.5.5.3 Generalised System of Preference
(GSP)
The countries that grant GSP include some of
the EU member states, US, Canada, Japan,
Australia, Russia and New Zealand. A wide
range of export products from Swaziland enjoys
market access through the GSP scheme. The
scheme affords access of Swazi products at
reduced custom duties in advanced economies
(Ministry of Commerce & Industry Update
Report on trade negotiations, May 2017).
The European Union has since reviewed its GSP
and the possible implication could be that some
products that were receiving preference under
the previous regime might be subjected to
customs duties.
2.5.5.4 SACU-EFTA FTA
Swaziland is party to SACU-EFTA (European Free
Trade Association), which comprises Norway,
Switzerland, Iceland and Liechtenstein. The
EFTA agreement has been ratified by all member
states and became operational in May 2008.
Furthermore, both Parties have engaged on a
process to review the Agreement with an aim to
improve market access on both agricultural and
industrial products.

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

Under this Agreement the review of the entire
Agreement, which might result in reduction
duties of the requested tariff lines, should the
request be considered favourably requested by
both Parties, commenced in 2016. The EFTA
submitted as part of the review of the Annex
on the Rules of Origin. It desires to amend
the “whole owned” article to cover products
obtained from cell cultures and fermentation.
These cell cultures are technological methods
of extraction and cultivation of human cells,
animal cells and plant cells under controlled
conditions. The scope of the EFTA proposal
covers a wide range of products from chapter
29 to 39 of the Harmonised System (HS) of
product classification. However, noting the
complexities in managing and controlling such
processes in view of the Rules of Origin and
noting that the same treatment would have to
be offered to the European Union (EU) SACU
experts are recommending that SACU should not
agree to the request from the EFTA (Ministry of
Commerce & Industry Update Report on trade
negotiations, May 2017).
2.5.5.5 SACU-MERCOSUR PTA
SACU negotiated and successfully concluded
a Preferential Trade Agreement (PTA) with
MERCOSUR (Common Market of the South)
comprising Brazil, Argentina, Uruguay and
Paraguay. The Agreement was signed in
2008 and ratification processes commenced
immediately after. Both Parties have completed
and deposited their instruments of ratification
and the Agreement came into force on 1st April
2016.

Subsequently South Africa has offered to train
the BLNS countries on the implementation of
Rules of Origin.
The entry into force of the SACU-MERCOSUR
PTA necessitated comprehensive training on
the Rules of Origin to ensure standardization
in the tariff treatment processes undertaken
by customs authorities at the entry points into
the custom union. Therefore, each new trade
agreement requires SACU to have a common
understanding on the procedures and to deploy
a common approach. This training would be
aiming at providing additional capacity to
Member States to complement what is already
available. The training was deemed to be very
important and Member States were urged
to utilize the training opportunities being
offered; the training would be undertaken once
the member states indicated their readiness
(Ministry of Commerce & Industry Update
Report on trade negotiations, May 2017).
2.2.5.6 SACU-India PTA
SACU-India, negotiations stalled and are yet to
resume with new tariff offers already prepared
by both Parties. Exchange of offers will be
done once a meeting has been confirmed. SACU
technical experts are in the process of improving
the SACU offer to India and once the list has
been finalised it will be submitted to the SACU
Commission for clearance before shared with
India through a negotiations session (Ministry of
Commerce & Industry Update Report on trade
negotiations, May 2017).

3. DOMESTIC ECONOMY
3.1 ANNUAL REAL GDP DEVELOPMENTS
Revised estimates for GDP growth indicate
that the economy grew by 1.3 per cent in
2016, an upward revision from the September
2016 estimate of -0.6 per cent, but remained
marginally lower than the revised estimate of
1.5 per cent growth in 2015. The improvement in
economic performance (relative to the previous
projection) mainly benefited from better
output in the secondary sector due to lowerthan-anticipated effects of the El Nino induced
drought on food manufacturing, electricity
generation and water supply. Furthermore,
demand driven growth was boosted by an
expansionary fiscal policy particularly in the
second half of the year which improved the
performance of most sub-sectors in the tertiary
sector.
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The real output of the secondary sector
decreased by 0.8 per cent in 2016 compared
to a growth of 2.8 per cent in 2015. The
decrease in output relative to 2015, was mainly
accounted for by the negative effects of the
El Nino induced drought on food processing,
electricity supply and water supply. However,
the decrease observed in these subsectors was
notably lower than previously anticipated.
Sugar production which is the main component
of food processing in Swaziland decreased by
15 per cent in 2016, lower than the previously
projected growth of -25 per cent. The betterthan-expected sugar production emanated from
good weather conditions in the last quarter of
2016 which resulted in improved yields from
sugarcane. Manufacturing output contracted
by 1.3 per cent in 2016 compared to growth of
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2.5 per cent in 2015. Above average rains in the
last quarter of 2016 also led to an improvement
in hydro-power generation and water supply,
partially reversing the impact of the severe
drought on these subsectors. Electricity supply
recorded a modest decline of 5 per cent in 2016
compared to 22 per cent projected previously
while water supply decreased by 7 per cent
broadly in line with the previous projection.
The secondary sector further benefitted from
increased activity in the construction sector.
Despite facing cash-flow challenges, the
Government was able to implement 73 per
cent of her capital programme in the 2016/17
fiscal year. This, coupled with other private
sector projects, supported increased activity in
the construction sector. As a result, indicators
used to measure construction activity such as
imports of construction material and quarried
stone production recorded notable increases in
2016.
Developments in the primary sector were mainly
dominated by the negative effects of the El
Nino induced drought particularly the growing
of crops both for rain-fed crops and irrigated
farms. Sugarcane which is predominantly
irrigated fell approximately by 10 per cent while
maize and cotton, which are predominantly
rain-fed crops decreased by 60 and 90 per cent
respectively. The output of the livestock sector
was affected by the negative effects of the
drought which manifested through low birth
rates, high mortality rates and high feeding
costs, a development that would potentially
affect the performance of this subsector in the
medium term. On a positive note, the primary
sector was boosted by positive performance
in the ‘forestry’ and ‘mining and quarrying’
subsectors. The overall primary sector is
estimated to have contracted by 2.4 per cent in
2016 following another contraction of 3.5 per
cent the previous year.
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An expansionary fiscal policy in the second half
of 2016 supported growth in the tertiary sector.
The above inflation average increase in public
sector wages following the implementation
of a salary review supported growth in the
‘wholesale and retail’ subsector. This subsector
is estimated to have grown by 6.7 per cent in
2016 after contracting by 7.5 per cent in 2015,
accounting for approximately 1 percentage
point of the overall growth outcome in 2016.
Public administration rose by 2.8 per cent in
2016 in line with an increase in public sector
payroll numbers (excluding teachers and
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healthcare workers) which rose by a similar
magnitude.
Other sectors that recorded growth include
‘tourism’, ‘financial services’, ‘transport’,
‘communication’ and ‘real estate’ subsectors.
Tourism activities mainly benefited from
Swaziland’s chairmanship over SADC which
resulted in an increase in number of SADC events
hosted by the country. Even though international
arrivals rose marginally by 1.8 per cent in 2016,
the number of bed-nights sold rose significantly
by 16 per cent reflecting an increased usage of
accommodation services in the country in the
period under review. The real value added for
financial and insurance activities grew by 4.8
per cent in 2016 compared with growth of 3.7
per cent in 2015. This growth was broadly in
line with increase in credit extended to the
private sector which resulted in a more 30
per cent increase in net interest incomes for
the banking sector. All other subsectors in the
tertiary sector reflected positive growth rates
except ‘professional, administrative and other
support services’. As a result, the tertiary
sector is estimated to have rose by 3.7 per cent
in 2016 up from 1.3 per cent the previous year.
The notable increase in the tertiary sector was
the main driver that offset the negative growth
rates observed in the primary and secondary
sectors.
3.1.1 Maize
The 2015/16 season was characterised by below
long-term average rains over most parts of the
country as a consequence of an El Nino induced
drought that affected the entire Southern
African region. The impact of the drought was
evident in most parts of the country as most of
the fields remained uncultivated and unplanted.
Other fields experienced poor germination
rates due to lack of moisture caused by a
combination of extremely high temperatures
and dry weather conditions resulting in crop
failure in the 2015/16 season.   Consequently,
total area under maize cultivation significantly
declined by 65 per cent to 46.0 thousand
hectares in 2015/16 compared to 87.2 thousand
hectares in the 2014/15 season. In line with the
significant decrease in area planted, total maize
production shrank by 58.9 per cent to 33,460
metric tonnes in the 2015/16 season from
81,623 metric tonnes in the previous season.
This occurred despite government’s assistance
through the provision of input subsidies through
the Indian loan to farmers in the high maize
producing areas.
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Table 1: Maize Production; 2012/13 to 2016/17
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17f

Area (‘000 ha)

61.3

86.8

87.2

46.0

69.9

Production (‘000 Mt)

82.0

101.0

81.6

33.5

84.3

Source: Ministry of Agriculture and Co-operatives and National Maize Corporation
f: forecast

With consumption requirement rising to 132,780
metric tonnes (according to the Vulnerability
Assessment Report of 2016), the significant
drop in maize production resulted in a notable
decline in self-sufficiency levels for the country
from about 62.2 per cent in the previous year to
25.2 per cent in the period under review. This
compelled the country to rely heavily on maize
imports to cover the shortfall. Maize imports by
the National Maize Corporation rose by 54.5 per
cent from 28,043 metric tonnes in the 2015/16
marketing season to 43,317 metric tonnes in
the 2016/17 marketing season. With lower
production, NMC was only able to source 1,586
metric tonnes of maize from local farmers in
2016/17 compared to 6,341 metric tonnes
the previous year. On a positive note, the
local supply of maize during 2016 benefitted
from a food security project which involved
maize production in some selected sugarcane
plantations facilitated by the Swaziland Water
and Agricultural Development Enterprise
working with the sugar mills.
In addition to maize imports, the combination
of relatively high domestic prices and supply
shortages, led to an increase in informal
imports of mealie meal mainly for household
consumption. In September 2016, the Ministry
of Agriculture and Co-operatives issued an
instant review of the limit of mealie meal
imported for household consumption from a
statutory 20 kilograms to 50 kilograms per
month per household as a temporary relief
to drought stricken areas. The National
Agricultural Marketing Board (NAMBOARD) was
tasked with issuing permits for these imports so
as to counter a trend of mealie-meal smuggling
into the country for trading and /or reselling
purposes.
Prospects for the maize industry are positive in
the medium term. The above normal rainfall
received during the 2016/17 planting season
in most parts of the country resulted in a
significant recovery in the total area planted.
As at February 2017, the Ministry of Agriculture
(through its Rapid Assessment Report of March
2017) estimated that the area planted grew by
52 per cent to 69,931 hectares in the 2016/17
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planting season with an estimated production
output of 84,344 metric tonnes (NB: before
accounting for post-harvest losses).
3.1.2 Cotton
The cotton industry was one of the most hard-hit
sub-sectors in the agricultural sector following
the El Nino induced drought. During the planting
season, lack of sufficient rains coupled with its
poor distribution in the Lowveld, where cotton
is predominantly grown, affected planting of
cotton seed. In some cases, where planting
took place, the germination of the crop was
not sustained due to lack of sufficient moisture
to support germination. The Swaziland Cotton
Board (SCB) distributed about 6 tonnes of cotton
seed to 460 growers in the 2015/16 season
compared to 23.8 tonnes that were distributed
to 1,997 farmers in the previous season. In line
with the poor participation in cotton growing
in 2015/16, the area planted was significantly
lower at 600 hectares in the 2015/16 season
compared to 1,730 hectares in the 2014/15
season. These developments culminated in an
89.7 per cent decline in seed cotton production
to 90 metric tonnes in 2015/16 from 873 metric
tonnes in 2014/15.
With production volumes falling below the
required minimum quantity to run the ginnery
economically, the SCB did not gin any seed
cotton in 2015/16. All produce was stockpiled for the 2016/17 season. Consequently,
there was zero production of both cotton lint
and fuzzy seeds which are the key processed
products from the ginnery. This also meant that
the SCB generated no sales revenue in 2015/16
resulting in cash-flow challenges which in turn
affected the operations of the developer and
regulator on the cotton industry in the country.
Cotton growers also suffered immensely as
most farmers who took loans from the revolving
fund to finance planting cost ended up with
no output to sell, worsening not only the
incomes of the farmers but their debt levels
as well. The non-operation of the ginnery in
2015/16 marketing season also meant that 90
people who are usually seasonally employed at
the ginnery, when it is operational, ended up
jobless throughout the season under review.
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Table 2: Cotton Production; 2012/13 to 2016/17
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17f

2,485

1,820

873

89

800

3.0

2.3

1.7

0.6

1.6

Value to Growers (E’m)

13.2

10.3

4.4

0.5

6.0

Average Price (E/kg)

5.30

5.70

5.15

6.0

6.0

50.9

36.7

23.8

6.0

16

Production (Mt)
Area (‘000 ha)

Planting Seed Sales (Mt)
Source: Swaziland Cotton Board
f: forecast

The outlook for cotton production for the
2016/17 season indicates signs of recovery
from the worst season of 2015/16 largely on the
back of an improvement in weather conditions
coupled with better distribution of rains during
the planting season. The SCB distributed 16
tonnes of cotton seed in the 2016/17 planting
season. The cotton seed was distributed free
of charge to the farmers to encourage them to
return to cotton production following the worst
performance in more than 30 years. Based on
the cotton seed distributed, the area planted
for 2016/17 season is estimated at 1,600
hectares with a yield of 800 metric tonnes
of seed cotton. This output combined with
accumulated stock is projected to yield about
320 tonnes of lint and 448 tonnes of fuzzy seed.
Revenues for the growers are projected to
reach E6 million in 2016/17 whilst the SCB will
realise an estimated E7.9 million in revenue
from processed products (lint and fuzzy seeds).
Apart from erratic weather conditions, cotton
production in the medium term would be
highly dependent on whether the growing
of Genetically Modified (GM) cotton would
eventually get a green light in Swaziland.
Trials on GM cotton seed compared to the
conventional non-GM cotton seed were
conducted in 2014/15 season which revealed
that the GM cotton seed yielded far better
results than the conventional non-GM cotton in
terms of both productivity and profit margins.

However, the growing of GM cotton continues to
be hindered by the Bio-Safety Act of 2012 which
has clauses that prohibits the growing of GM
cotton. If successfully reviewed, opening up for
GM cotton provides a significant opportunity to
revive the cotton industry in the medium term
as it has a potential to attract other large scale
growers who have ceased producing cotton
under the prevailing circumstances.
3.1.3 Livestock
Erratic weather conditions characterised by
below long-term average rains over most parts
of the country severely affected the livestock
subsector particularly in terms of depletion of
animal stock levels. According to figures from
the annual livestock census conducted by the
Ministry of Agriculture and Co-operatives, total
cattle population declined by 10.6 per cent
to 531,450 in 2016 from 594,240 in 2015. The
persistent drought resulted in unfavourable
livestock breeding conditions and deteriorating
cattle well-being due to the depletion of
grazing areas with most parts of the country,
particularly the Lowveld region, exposed
to prolonged dryness. Calf births remained
suppressed falling by 17.6 per cent in 2016
following a cumulative decline of 22 per cent
in the previous two years. Cattle mortality rate
remained at elevated levels of 8.6 per cent in
2016 but was slightly lower than the peak of 9.7
per cent observed in 2015.

Table 3: Livestock Production - Cattle; 2013 to 2016
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2013

2014

2015

2016

Total Population

627,486

620,032

594,240

531,450

Calves Birth

102,418

85,784

80,602

66,437

Total Slaughters

59,971

50,041

55,842

60,760

Commercial Slaughters

32,642

23,789

28,345

31,866

Home Consumption Slaughter

27,329

26,252

27,497

28,894

Deaths

35,096

38,899

57,796

46,123

5.6

6.3

9.7

8.6

Mortality Rate %
Source: Ministry of Agriculture & Co-operatives
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Total cattle slaughters (including commercial,
abattoirs, butcheries and home consumption
slaughters) increased by 8.8 per cent to 60,760
in 2016, reflecting the highest slaughters the
country has recorded in the past five years.
An observed offloading of excess cattle stock
by farmers as the drought intensified was the
main driver of this increase in total slaughters.
Commercial slaughters which accounted for
about 52 per cent of total slaughters in 2016
and represent the formal sector for the subsector, rose by 12.4 per cent to 31,866 in 2016
from 28,345 the previous year. On the other
hand, home consumption slaughters, which
captures the informal sector activity, increased

to 28,894 in 2016 from 27,497 recorded in 2015.
Despite the increase in commercial slaughters
particularly by the Swaziland Meat industries
(SMI) in 2016, exports were hurt by the poor
quality of the cattle coming from the farmers
who disposed their cattle persuaded by the
negative drought effects on grazing and feeding
cost. Consequently, beef exports decreased by
12.7 per cent to 983 metric tonnes in 2016 from
1,126 metric tonnes in 2016. Exports receipts
from beef were however higher at E86.6 million
in 2016 compared to E77.8 million in 2015
largely driven by an exchange rate depreciation
in 2016.

Table 4: Beef Exports; 2012 to 2016
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

1,402

1,280

1,038

1,126

983

85,888

84,142

73,917

77,804

86,578

Exports (Mt)
Value of Exports (E’000)
Source: Swaziland Meat Industries

The total population trends of the other
livestock categories depicted an opposite
trend from that of cattle despite the persistent
drought conditions during the period under
review. The number of goats, sheep and
pigs rose by 13.1, 12.5 and 11.3 per cent
respectively reflecting that the other species
coped somewhat better than cattle during
the drought conditions. Population trends for
poultry remained volatile as it is informed by
completely different dynamics given the short
life-span for chickens in different categories.
In terms of productivity of the other livestock
categories, the trends were mixed. The number
of pigs slaughters reported in the formal sector
dropped to 3,624 in 2016 from 26,576 in 2015
whilst the other livestock categories observed
slight growth during the period under review.

Goats slaughters increased to 325 in 2016
from 208 in 2015, whilst the number of sheep
slaughters rose to 17 in 2016 from 11 recorded
in the previous year. (NB: These numbers
represent what was recorded in the formal
sector, more activity in the informal sector, it
is not recorded unlike cattle where data on all
slaughters is reported).
The negative effects of the drought were also
evident in poultry processing as the second
round effects of drought significantly pushed
up maize prices which in turn affected feeding
costs for poultry processors. Slaughters of
broilers dropped by more than 460,000 to 15.51
million in 2016 from a high of 15.97 million
in 2015. The production of eggs was however
higher at 117 million units in 2016, 10 per cent
higher than the previous year’s output.

Table 5: Other Livestock – Pigs, Goats, Sheep and Poultry; 2014 to 2016
2014

2015

2016

39,808

38,513

42,852

Goats

441,137

443,218

501,496

Sheep

15,983

14,969

16,841

1,459,418

506,151

660,967

183,798

1,073,889

170,092

Total Population
Pigs

Broilers
Layers
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2014

2015

2016

13,176

26,576

3,624

344

208

325

Total Formal Slaughters/Productivity
Pigs Slaughters
Goats Slaughters
Sheep Slaughters
Broilers
Egg Production (in ‘000 units)

Source: Ministry of Agriculture & Co-operatives

76

11

17

12,697,600

15,967,743

15,506,535

98,822.3

106,468.3

117,331.2

600 dairy cows were brought into the country
in 2016 and this aided an increase in the total
number of dairy cows from 5,477 in 2015 to
6,276 in 2016. The increase in the number of
dairy cows led to a 35.8 per cent increase in
domestic milk production from 12.02 million
litres in 2015 to 16.65 million litres in 2016.

Prospects for the livestock sector are mixed. On
the positive side, the good rains received in last
quarter of 2016 and first quarter of 2017 would
improve rangelands and aid an improvement
in cattle calves’ births which have been
significantly affected during the drought period
in the past 2 years. This would allow farmers
to restock their livestock which was severely
depleted during the drought years. However,
the rebuilding of stocks would negatively affect
production because less animals would be
available for commercial slaughters and this will
hamper export volumes. Beef exports receipts
would further be dampened by a relatively
stronger Lilangeni/Rand exchange rate against
major trading currencies.

The country’s demand for dairy products (milk
and milk products) remained sustainably higher
at 82.24 million litres in terms of liquid milk
equivalence (LME) in 2016 compared to 81.67
million litres the previous year. Thus, the
increase in local milk production only covered
17.7 per cent of the total demand. Though
the increase in local milk production still fell
significantly short of total demand (for dairy
products), it did reflect good strides towards
self-sufficiency. Dairy imports fell by about 5
per cent from 69.02 million litres (LME) in 2015
to 65.65 million litres (LME) in 2016. UHT milk,
margarine and yoghurt are amongst the top
5 dairy products that are imported in higher
quantities.

3.1.4 Milk/Dairy Production
The dairy sector performed well in 2016 despite
challenges presented by the El Nino induced
drought which increased mortality rates and
feeding costs for the dairy farmers. The sector
largely benefitted from the first phase of the
implementation of a large scale dairy project
facilitated by Old Mutual. Under this project

Table 6: Dairy Production in Millions – Liquid Milk Equivalent (LME); 2013 to 2016
Domestic Demand

2013

2014

2015

2016

60.24

68.94

81.67

82.24

9.76

10.64

12.02

16.65

50.48

58.30

69.02

65.65

Domestic Production
Imports

Source: Swaziland Dairy Board
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In terms of local processing, there are 5 main
products namely; dairy juice, emasi, yoghurt,
fresh cream and fresh milk. Emasi and yoghurt
are the leading products in terms of volumes and
revenues for dairy processing. Dairy processing
yielded E115.3 million in 2016 compared to
E99.7 million the previous year reflecting gains
made from improved domestic milk production.
The Swaziland Dairy Board (SDB), as per its
development mandate, continued to provide
support, training and advisory services to
milk producers. Services to farmers included;
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resource assessment for starting dairy
businesses, procurement of dairy cattle,
perennial and winter pasture establishment
and management, artificial insemination,
production and handling of clean milk, and
the construction of dairy structures. In an
endeavour to stimulate local milk production
and dairy farming at grass-root level, the SDB
continued to support the Indigenous Dairying
Initiative by encouraging farmers to venture
into dairy farming as an enterprise. Through
this initiative, the SDB distributed its cooling

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC ECONOMY (Continued)
milk tanks to communities for farmers to take
milk from their indigenous beef cattle to the
collection centres where it can be stored and
sold in bulk to dairy processors.
At a large scale, the Old Mutual Dairy Project
which started in 2016 is earmarked to deliver
broader positive prospects for the dairy
industry. The three-year project (2016-2018) is
targeting to bring in 3,500 dairy cattle during
the project period and produce about 2 million
litres per month at full scale production. Though
the project has had some unanticipated delays
in its scope of implementation, it is expected
that at its completion, the proportion of dairy
imports would be reduced substantially and the
prospects of attracting more processors into
the country would be enhanced.
Another aspect of dairy production is goat milk
production and consumption. The demand for
goat milk has been consistently on the upward
trend reaching 35,870 litres in 2016 from 33,035
litres in 2015. Domestic goat dairy production
stood at 28,250 in 2016 compared to 24,800
the previous year. In line with the increase in
domestic production, goat dairy imports were
lower at 7,350 in 2016 from 8,235 the previous
year. The SDB is actively involved in supporting
and promoting production and consumption of
dairy goat. The SDB operates a goat breeding
programme in one of its farms to help boost
availability of dairy goats given their scarcity
even at region level. The Board also conducts

technical trainings to equip farmers on how to
manage dairy goats’ projects.
3.1.5 Mining and Quarrying
The ‘mining and quarrying’ subsector continued
to be dominated by anthracite coal and quarried
stone production. The sector depicted signs of
recovery in 2016 with output and revenues for
both coal and quarried stone recording increases
from levels realised the previous year. Sales
revenues, which represent the output value
for the sector, rose by 9.2 per cent to E236.9
million in 2016 from E216.9 million in 2015. At
this level, however, the mining output remained
more than two-thirds lower than what it was
when there was active production in the ironore mine that was terminated in August 2014.
Coal production increased by 12 per cent to
158,418 metric tonnes in 2016 from 141,733
metric tonnes produced in 2015. The increase
in production volumes of coal benefitted from
an improvement in coal yields which came
through accessing of new mining grounds with a
higher yield. International price developments
for coal were broadly unfavourable remaining
depressed for most part of 2016. Prices
rebounded in the last quarter of 2016 following
a decision by China, the largest coal producer,
to reduce harmful emissions, triggering higher
demand of coal and causing coal prices to soar.
Sales revenue from coal output rose slightly
from E177.6 million in 2015 to E188.1 million
in 2016.

Table 7: Minerals - Production and Sales; 2014 to 2016
2014

2015

2016

Coal (Mt)

177 930

141 733

158 418

Quarried Stone (M³)

310 659

396 046

419 642

Iron Ore (Mt)

603 251

-

-

210.3

177.6

188.1

36.8

39.3

48.8

Iron Ore

381.2

-

-

Total Sales

628.3

216.9

236.9

Production

Sales Value (E’ 000)
Coal
Quarried Stone

Source: Ministry of Natural Resources & Energy, Mining Department
Notes: Mt= Metric Tonnes, M³= Cubic Metres

Quarried stone production maintained an
upward trend rising by 6 per cent from
396,046 cubic metres in 2015 to 419,642
cubic meters in 2016. The increase in quarried
stone production mainly benefitted from
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continuous implementation of public works
projects particularly road infrastructure (such
as Nhlangano – Sicunusa road and Mbandlane
– Manzini road which were under construction
during the period under review). In line with
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the higher volumes produced and sold, revenue
from quarried stones increased to E48.8 million
in 2016 from E39.3 million in 2015.
Prospects in the mining and quarrying sector are
positive. During the course of 2016, there was a
commencement of gold mining at Lufafa, albeit
at a small scale. Small quantities of extracted
gold ore were sent to Dubai for conversion to
a bullion which weighed 1 kilogram and was
worth about E1 million. There is scope for
intensifying gold production and the Swaziland
Mining Department has issued more licenses
for scooping in areas between Bulembu and
Piggs Peak where there is a prospect for
more minerals’ extraction. Prospects for coal
production are also positive particularly after
the official renewal of the mining licence for
Maloma Colliery which had expired in June
2013. Increases in coal production would
also benefit from planned thermal power
production at Lubhuku area. The anticipated
positive prospects in the mining sector would
also present opportunities for processing of
raw minerals to enhance value addition in this
sub-sector. In quarrying, the on-going road
and building projects are expected to have a
positive impact on quarry output in the short to
medium term.
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3.1.6 Sugar
The sugar industry was not spared from the
drastic effects of the El Nino induced drought.
Lack of consistent rains negatively affected the
flow of rivers and dam levels, severely disrupting
irrigation activities as some dam levels fell below
required levels to support effective irrigation
of sugar cane. For example, in the northern
region, the Umjoli dam fell below 10 per cent
whilst in the southern region, the Ingwavuma
river and some parts of Lusushwana river ran dry
for most part of the season. Consistent supply
in the south only came from the Lubovane dam
in the Lower Usuthu Smallholder Irrigation
Scheme (LUSIP) areas. Thus, even though
there was a continuous increase in area under
sugarcane production, the drastic effects of
the drought resulted in area harvested falling
by more than 1,200 hectares in the 2016/17
harvesting season and some of the harvested
cane was of a poor quality. The poor quality of
the cane was reflected in sucrose yields which
fell by 12 per cent from 14.2 tonnes/hectare in
the 2015/16 season to 12.5 tonnes/hectare in
2016/17 season.
The developments at agricultural level
filtered through to the manufacturing of sugar
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particularly the significant drop in sucrose
production. Sugar production fell by 15.7 per
cent from 695,410 metric tonnes in 2015/16
season to 586,085 metric tonnes in 2016/17.
However, sugar production volumes were
slightly better than previously anticipated
where it was estimated that output might
fall by 25 per cent. This improvement mainly
resulted from better weather conditions in the
last quarter of 2016 which partially improved
yields of the harvested crop.
The significant drop in sugar production resulted
in lower sugar sales volumes in 2016/17. Total
sugar sales volumes fell by 11.3 per cent to
621,164 metric tonnes in 2016/17 marketing
season from 700,017 metric tonnes in 2015/16.
The drop in total sales was relatively lower than
the fall in production due to high inventory stock
from the 2015/16 season which was a record year
in terms of production. Export sales destined
outside the SACU market – predominantly to
the European Union (EU) decreased by 20.8
per cent from 299 936 metric tonnes in the
2015/16 marketing season to 237 582 metric
tonnes in 2016/17. This decline resulted from
the combination of lower volumes available for
sale (due to the drop in sugar production) as
well as the continuous market diversification
away from the EU market undertaken by the
Swaziland Sugar Association (SSA) in light of the
erosion of preferential access to this market.
In line with the fall in volume shipments,
exports receipts from outside the SACU market
decreased by 3.7 per cent to E1.646 billion in
the period under review with moderate gains
from the exchange rate depreciation.
The significant fall in sugar production, coupled
with a surge in imports also affected sales to
the domestic SACU market even though the
SSA strategically pushed more volumes to the
SACU market where there was a deficit in sugar
supply caused by the negative effects of the
drought. Volume sugar sales into the SACU
market dropped by 4.1 per cent to 383,582
metric tonnes in the period under review from
400,081 metric tonnes in the previous season.
With the SACU market slightly protected by a
sugar tariff, the shortfall in sugar supply in the
Southern region pushed prices upwards by more
than 25 per cent in the period under review.
Henceforth, sugar sales revenue from the SACU
market rose significantly from E2.573 billion in
2015/16 marketing season to E3.009 billion in
the period under review.
In line with sugar production, molasses which
is a by-product for sugar production and a
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major input to ethanol production for distillers
decreased by 10.5 per cent to 239,337 metric
tonnes in 2016/17 from 267,390 the previous
season. Revenue from molasses rose marginally
from E147.5 million in 2015/16 marketing
season to E148.4 million in the period under
review benefitting from higher molasses prices
in the SACU market.
The medium term outlook for the sugar industry
is mixed. At production level, a gradual
recovery from the drastic effects of the El Nino
induced drought is expected in the 2017/18
season. Sugar production is expected to only
grow by 4.3 per cent to 611,537 metric tonnes
in 2017/18 season but more robust growth is
expected in the outer years of the medium term
(i.e. 2018/19 and 2019/20). The increase in
production would also be buoyed by continuous
investments through the Lower Usuthu
Irrigation Project (LUSIP) projects facilitated by
the Swaziland Water Agricultural Development
Enterprise (SWADE) wherein an additional 6,000
hectares is envisaged for sugarcane production
in the medium term (i.e. 1,200 hectares under
continuous implementation of LUSIP phase 1
project while more than 5,000 hectares would
come from LUSIP phase 2 project).
On the negative side, the marketing landscape
for sugar remains uncertain particularly due to
developments in the EU market. Continuous
EU sugar reforms, particularly the abolition of
internal EU beet sugar quotas which would come
to effect in October 2017 would result in a fall
in EU sugar imports. Preliminary numbers in the

EU reflect that EU sugar production for 2017/18
marketing season would reach about 20.1
million metric tonnes 20 per cent higher than
the output of 2016/17 and 30 per cent higher
than the output of 2015/16 marketing season.
This increase in sugar production is projected
to result in a drop in sugar imports in the EU
from over 3 million metric tonnes in previous
years to about 2 million metric tonnes in the
2017/18 marketing season. The anticipated
oversupply of sugar in the EU market would also
further reduce EU sugar prices and draw them
closer to the world sugar prices. Consequently,
Swaziland’s continued volume shipments to
the EU would potentially be of lower volumes
and attract a lower price. Further, current
negotiations of the Brexit presents new market
uncertainty with the UK being one of the major
importers of African Caribbean Pacific (ACP)
sugar.
On the other hand, world sugar prices have
also been on a downward trajectory (despite
hitting a 4-year high in October 2016) and this
has resulted in a resurgence in sugar imports
into the SACU market. In addition, the slight
protection provided by the SACU sugar tariff
has come under immense pressure as sugar
customers are continuously petitioning for its
scrapping and the shortfall in production in the
SACU region, particularly in 2016/17 marketing
season, has intensified these concerns. As a
result, the protection of the SACU market
is increasingly under pressure resulting in
uncertainty of the lucrativeness of the SACU
market in the medium-term.

Table 8: Sugar Production and Sales; 2013/14 to 2016/17
2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Production (Mt)

653,337

686,778

695,410

586,085

Exports (Mt)

339,250

329,829

299,936

237,582

Value of Exports (E’m)

2,205.1

1,875.0

1,709.6

1,646.2

Domestic (SACU)  Sales (Mt)

307,918

360,450

400,081

383,582

Value of Domestic (SACU) Sales (E’m)

1,662.8

2,207.6

2,573.0

3,008.8

Source: Swaziland Sugar Association

3.1.7 Other Manufacturing
This subsector includes manufacturing and sales
of ‘beverages’, textile and wearing apparel’,
‘wood and wood products’ and other specific
manufactured products such as electrical
appliances, chemicals and chemical products
among other products. The sub-sector excludes
food manufacturing such as the ‘manufacturing
of sugar and sugar related products’, ‘canned
fruit processing’, ‘milk and milk products’ and
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‘meat and meat products’. Most subsections
grouped
under
‘other
manufacturing’
performed relatively better in 2016 compared
to the previous year.
The manufacturing of beverages which includes
the production of ‘miscellaneous edibles
and soft drinks concentrates’, the leading
export commodity in the country, grew by less
than 1 per cent in 2016 mainly tracking poor
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developments in the South African market.
Significant positive growth was observed in the
manufacturing of ‘wood and wood products’
mainly benefiting from investments made by
forestry companies in selling diversified forestry
products. The textile sector also performed
well with an estimated growth of about 6 per
cent aided by the continuous penetration of the
regional markets which have partially offset
earlier anticipated negative effects of the loss
of the US market following Swaziland’s removal
from the benefits of the African Growth and
Opportunity Act (AGOA). Most textile companies
have expanded their operations to maximize
returns from the regional markets.
Subsectors that recorded negative performance
included ‘manufacture of construction material
(such as cement and concretes)’, ‘manufacture
of paper and paper products’, ‘manufacture of
electrical appliances’ and ‘other manufacturing
non-elsewhere-classified’. The manufacturers
of construction material recorded negative
growth largely due to the effect of increased
competition from imports. The other subsectors
recorded negative growth due to scaling down of
operations partly due to deterioration in market
conditions and other internal challenges.
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3.1.8 Construction
The
construction
sector
registered
a
steady performance in 2016 on account of
developments in various public projects in the
country. The public infrastructure development
benefitted from the 42 per cent increase in
capital expenditure; E5.29 billion was allocated
in 2016/17 fiscal year against E3.72 billion
allocated in 2015/16. The implementation rate
remained relatively higher at 73 per cent in
2016/17 but slightly lower than the 80 per cent
recorded the previous year. Some of the major
on-going capital projects implemented in 2016
included: the International Convention Centre
and Five Star Hotel (ICCFISH) at Ezulwini, the
Biotechnology themed park at Nokwane and
Information Technology (IT) Park at Phocweni
and Nhlangano-Sicunusa road, and ManziniMbhadlane road.
Indicators linked to construction activity
reflected positive activity in the construction
sector. Imports of construction material rose by
24 per cent in real terms in 2016 compared to
16 per cent the previous year. Quarried stone
production increased by 6 per cent in 2016
from 396,046 cubic meters in 2015, reflecting
that there was notable growth in construction
activity particularly road infrastructure which
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uses relatively more quantities of quarried
stone.
Private sector construction activity was however
on the downside. Statistics from the country’s
municipalities which broadly track private
sector related construction activity exhibited
negative growth in 2016. The total number of
buildings completed decreased from 178 units
in 2015 to 166 units in 2016. The number of
residential completed buildings contracted
from 148 units in 2015 to 134 units in 2016.
The number of completed commercial buildings
also decreased from 26 units in 2015 to 24
units in 2016 while ‘other buildings’ completed
increased to 8 units from 6 units over the same
period.
Prospects for the construction sector are mixed
with numbers of building plans approved by
municipalities showing slower construction
activity for the urban areas. The total number
of building plans approved decreased by 6 per
cent from 879 units in 2015 to 829 units in
2016. Residential building plans approved stood
at 643 units in 2016 compared to 683 units in
2015 while commercial building plans approved
were also lower at 112 units from 130 units over
the same period. The number of building plans
approved for ‘other’ buildings was higher at 77
units in 2016 compared with 66 units in 2015.
In line with the decline in the number of units
approved, the value of the total building plans
approved was also lower at E845.2 million in
2016 compared to E1.23 billion in 2015.
On a positive note, estimates for Government
budget show growth in funds allocated for
capital expenditure that mainly caters for
infrastructure development in the country.
On-going and new construction projects in the
public sector, if fully implemented, are expected
to continue to drive activity in this sector. The
International Convention Centre and Five Star
Hotel (ICCFISH) at Ezulwini and Biotechnology
themed park at Nokwane and Information
Technology (IT) Park at Phocweni remain the
major on-going capital projects expected to
finish in the short-term. Upcoming projects
include the construction of the Mkhondvo and
Nondvo dams, the National Referral Hospital
at Siteki as well as the Strategic Fuel Depot.
Road construction projects include the on-going
construction of Nhlangano-Sicunusa road and
Manzini-Mbhadlane road. The construction of
Sikhuphe link roads, Bulembu-Piggs Peak road,
Lukhula Big-Bend road and Motshane-Matsamo
road are upcoming in the short to medium-
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term. The construction of the 146 kilometres
railway connecting Lothair in South Africa and

Sidvokodvo valued at about E16 billion, will also
benefit the sector in the medium-term.  

Table 9: Construction Indicators; 2013 to 2016
Approved Building Plans
No. of Plans

Completed Buildings

E’ million

No. of Buildings

E’ million

2013

728

656.3

147

144.2

2014

768

1 747.3

141

100.9

2015#

879

1 245.9

178

159.4

2016

829

845.2

166

142.1

Source: All Municipalities

3.1.9 Electricity Consumption
Persistent drought conditions experienced over
the past two years severely depleted water
levels in dams and reservoirs, severely affecting
local hydro-power generation. Consequently,
hydro-power generation remained on a downtrend falling by 3.6 per cent to 118.9 GWh in
the 2016/17 financial year from 123.3 GWh in
2015/16. In line with decline in sugar production,
complementary electricity from the Ubombo
Sugar cogeneration plant fell from 55 GWh in
2015/16 to 52 GWh in 2016/17 resulting in a
4.2 per cent drop in overall power generation.
On a positive side, through Individual Power
Producers (IPPs) arrangements, there was an
additional 0.11 GWh power produced through
a solar plant in the Lubombo region in 2016/17.
Total electricity consumption, measured in
volume unit sales, dropped by 2.4 per cent to
1,058.4 GWh in the 2016/17 from 1,084.1 GWh
in 2015/16. The decline was due to the severe
drought that affected dam levels used for
irrigation purposes, which, in turn, resulted in
the demand for electricity by the ‘bulk power
and irrigation’ customers falling by 7.9 per cent
in 2016/17. Furthermore, the negative drought
effects on hydro-power generation prompted
the Swaziland Electricity Company (SEC) to
undertake load-shedding in a bid to reduce
imports. Despite the fall in local generation,
electricity imports were slightly lower at
1,063.7 GWh in 2016/17 from 1,077.1 GWh in
2015/16.
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The prospects for electricity generation are
broadly positive in the medium term. A weak
and short-lived LaNina weather phenomenon
in the last quarter of 2016 and first quarter
of 2017, resulted in above-normal rainfall
during this period and restored most dams and
reservoirs to pre-drought levels. This, coupled
with investments made by SEC during the
drought period, which included the dredging
of the Edwaleni head pond in order to increase
the water holding capacity of the dam,
would facilitate an increase in hydro-power
generation. As a result, electricity generation
is forecasted to increase by 30 per cent in the
2017/18 financial year. Power generation would
also be impacted positively by collaboration
between SEC and IPPs. Planned projects include
solar energy stations and more hydro-power
stations. Sugar and forestry companies have
also registered interest to partake in renewable
energy supply. On a longer term though, SEC
plans hinges on the proposed thermal power
plant envisaged for production of about 300 MW.
On this project SEC has completed initial stages
that include prospecting the availability and
quality of the coal at Lubhuku where the plant
is to be constructed. If all prospective projects
are fully implemented, then the production
capacity for the country will grow beyond the
local demand of about 220 MW and will enable
the country not only to self-sustain itself but
also to export some of its power to the region.
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Table 10: Electricity Consumption; 2013/14 to 2016/17
2013/14

2014/15

2015/16*

2016/17*

Domestic Generation (GWh)

350.1

278.7

178.9

171.3

Imports (GWh)

860.0

978.7

1,077.1

1,063.7

SEC Sales (GWh)

1,034.6

1,074.4

1,084.1

1,058.4

Feature of the year

Medium

Drought

Drought

Drought

Source: Swaziland Electricity Company.
Notes: * revised figures # Preliminary (unaudited) figures, Domestic generation from 2011/12 onwards includes
power generated by Ubombo Sugar and sold to the grid; 2016/17 also includes solar energy generated by
Wundersight.

3.1.10 Water Consumption
Following a flat growth in 2014 and 2015, the
total consumption of treated water fell by 7 per
cent to 11.83 million kilolitres cubic metres in
2016 from 12.73 million kilolitres cubic metres
in 2015. Commercial sales which continue to
account for more than 50 per cent of total
treated water consumption declined by 11 per
cent to 5.89 million kilolitres cubic metres in
2016 compared to 6.64 million kilolitres cubic
metres in 2015. This fall was mainly driven
by a shift of customers occupying government
flats from bulk metres which were commercial
to single residential metres. In spite of the
reclassification of government sector customers
from commercial to domestic customers,

domestic sales also slightly dropped by 2 per
cent to 5.94 million kilolitres cubic metres. This
is mainly attributed to the rationing exercise
implemented on Mbabane residents which
reached about 4-days per week during the
height of the negative drought effects in 2016
which depleted water levels at the main supply
reservoir – the Hawane dam which fell below 5
per cent capacity. However, the total number
of treated water connections rose by 5 per
cent to 40,120 in 2016 from 38,029 recorded
in the previous year. Residential treated water
connections grew by 6 per cent to 35,024 while
commercial connections grew by 2 per cent to
3,073 in the period under review.

Table 11: Treated Water Consumption; 2013 to 2016
2013

2014

2015

2016

Number of Active Connections

32,555

34,643

38,029

40,120

Consumption (Million KL) M

12.861

12.738

12.728

11.833

3

Source: Swaziland Water Services Corporation
Notes: M3= Cubic Meters
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Even though water supply was severely
affected by the El Niño induced drought which
hit the Southern African region in 2015/16, the
Swaziland Water Services Corporation (SWSC)
effortlessly maintained its commitment to
increase access to safe drinking water and
proper sanitation. Evidently, the SWSC in
partnership with the Government of Swaziland
and other donors implemented treated water
and sanitation projects countrywide. Some
of these projects have been completed and
this include the Nhlangano water and sewer
treatment plants amongst others. On-going
projects aimed at accelerating the rate
of treated water supply in both rural and
urban areas include the construction of the
Siphofaneni, Somntongo and Matsanjeni water
supply schemes (SISOMA), Ezulwini water and
sanitation project, Lomahasha water supply
project and the Matsapha sewer treatment
plant.
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The water supply outlook continues to depend
on the weather forecast for the country
and Southern African region as a whole. On
a positive note, the country received good
rainfall in the last quarter of 2016 and opening
months of 2017 which saw improvements in the
dam levels especially those that were severely
affected during the drought, including the
Hawane dam supplying Mbabane residents.
With the persistent urgent need for the
construction of raw water storages, the African
Development Bank (AfDB) has approved grant
funding (through the African Water Facility and
the Middle Income Country Technical Assistance
Fund) to finance the feasibility study for the
proposed Mbabane-Manzini corridor Nondvo
Dam project. According to the SWSC, once this
dam is commissioned, it would ease pressures
on Mbabane water supplies and possibly
alleviate challenges that have been observed
during drought periods in the country.

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC ECONOMY (Continued)
3.2 PRICES
The annual consumer inflation as measured by
the growth rate of the Consumer Price Index
(CPI) averaged 7.8 per cent in 2016 compared to
an average of 5.0 per cent in 2015 with a peak
of 8.7 per cent in December 2016. Inflationary
pressures were mainly noted in the CPI for
goods. The CPI for goods rose by an average of
11.8 per cent in 2016, up from an average of
4.6 per cent the previous year mainly driven by
increases in prices for non-durable goods largely
dominated by perishable products particularly
food. The drastic negative effects of the El Nino
induced drought which severely affected food
supplies weighed heavily on both processed and

non-processed foods. The CPI for services on
the other hand slowed to 4.4 per cent in 2016
from 5.2 per cent the previous year.
The negative effects of the El Nino induced
drought resulted in significant increases in food
inflation. Food inflation averaged 15.0 per cent
in 2016 compared to 4.1 per cent in 2015. The
first round effects of the drought were noted
in the prices of cereals and this pushed food
inflation to double digits as early as February
2016. Later in the year, the second round effects
of the drought manifested in other processed
foods particularly ‘bread’ and ‘sugar and sugar
products’ prices.

Figure 2: Consumer Price Inflation for Goods and Services; March 2015 to March 2017
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In terms of percentage contributions to the
overall headline inflation outcome, the index for
‘food and non-alcoholic beverages’ accounted
for about 53.8 per cent in 2016 compared to
48.1 per cent the previous year reflecting that
food inflation dominated inflation developments
in 2016. Transport inflation, which is the only
other component that recorded an increase
in its contribution in the period under review,
averaged 9.1 per cent in 2016 compared to 4.1
per cent the previous year and accounted for
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12.3 per cent of the overall headline inflation
outcome in 2016, 3.2 percentage points higher
than its contribution the previous year. Transport
inflation acceleration was mainly driven by
increases in prices of passenger transport
services following the implementation of the
25 per cent public transport fares increment in
January 2016. This was a pending increment of
the 50 per cent increase that was approved by
Parliament in 2014 (i.e. the first increment of
25 per cent was effected in July 2014).
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Figure 3: Contribution to annual consumer inflation by COICOP category; 2015 to 2016
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There was a decrease of 3.8, 1.8 and 1.5
percentage points in the contributions of
the price indices for ‘housing and utilities’,
‘education’ and ‘miscellaneous goods and
service’ respectively reflecting deflationary
pressures in prices of these components. The
growth rate of the housing and utilities index
was muted at 4.6 per cent in 2016 whilst the
indices for ‘education’ and ‘miscellaneous
goods and services’ recorded decreases of 3.3

and 4.2 percentage points respectively.
Core inflation which is CPI excluding food, autofuel and energy averaged 5.0 per cent in 2016
compared to 5.3 per cent the previous year.
This reflected that demand side inflation drivers
remained modest in 2016 and that acceleration
in headline inflation was mainly driven by
supply side factors mainly the drought effects
which affected food inflation.
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The country’s headline inflation is expected
to be contained in the short to medium-term.
Favourable weather conditions are expected
to reverse the adverse effects of the severe
drought (particularly on food production) which
prevailed throughout the 2015/16 season.
A combination of a relatively stronger Rand
(though volatile) and contained international
oil prices would also contribute to deflationary
pressures in the medium-term. High base
effects from previous year’s administered price
increases in the transport category would also
continue to feed into deflationary pressures
during the course of 2017. However, inflationary
pressures emanating from upward adjustments

in administered prices remain on the high side
in the medium-term. The Swaziland Electricity
Company was granted a 15 per cent two-year
tariff hike for the 2017/18 and 2018/19 financial
years which is effective 1st April of each year.
With the medium-term inflation outlook
anchored on a stronger Rand/Lilangeni
exchange rate and moderation in food prices,
the Central Bank of Swaziland projects that
headline inflation will moderate to 7.0 per cent
in 2017 from 7.8 per cent the previous year.
Inflation is expected to moderate further to 5.8
and 5.6 per cent in 2018 and 2019 respectively.

4. BALANCE OF PAYMENTS
4.1 CHANGES IN THE BALANCE OF PAYMENTS AND INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT POSITION
METHODOLOGY DUE TO MIGRATION FROM BPM5 TO BPM6
This communiqué is aimed at sensitising all Central Bank of Swaziland (CBS) stakeholders that as
of 2017, the Bank will start publishing the Balance of Payments (BOP) and International Investment
Position (IIP) statistics in accordance with the Sixth Edition of the Balance of Payments and
International Investment Position Manual (BPM6)4, published in 2009. Prior to this period, the Bank
has been publishing these statistics according to the Fifth Edition of the Balance of Payments Manual
(BPM5), 1993. The migration from BPM5 to BPM6 will allow the improvement of the country’s balance
of payments according to national statistical standards, alignment with best international practices,
and will ensure consistency with the System of National Accounts (SNA 2008).
The new methodology places greater emphasis on the link between financial account transactions
and the IIP and takes into account important developments that occurred in the world economy in
recent years. Four major factors which influenced the revision are detailed as follows:
 Globalisation (increased use of cross-border production processes, complex international
company structures and international labour mobility);
 An increasing focus on balance sheets as reflected by the importance of the International
Investment Position in the new manual;
 To take into account financial innovation that occurred since 1993, as financial instruments
became more and more complex;
 The manual was also revised parallel with the introduction of the System of National
Accounts 2008 (2008 SNA), in order to ensure harmonisation between external and domestic
macroeconomic statistics.
Main Changes Introduced by the Migration
This section gives a summary of the main changes brought about by the migration from the old to
the new manual. However, this brief will not go into details as more information can be sourced
from the manual itself.

4

BPM6 is available on the IMF website at https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/bop/2007/pdf/bpm6.pdf
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Current and Capital Accounts
 Under BPM6, both credit and debit entries in the current and capital accounts are shown with an
implied positive sign (even though some exceptions can occur especially in the primary income
account);
 The net balance of the current account is the difference between credit and debit entries.
According to the previous methodology (BPM5), debit entries were shown with a minus sign and
the net balance was the sum of credit and debit entries;
 The primary income and secondary income accounts replace the income and current transfer’s
accounts respectively, to be consistent with the SNA 2008;
 “Merchanting” was reclassified from services in BPM5 to goods in BPM6;
 “Manufacturing services on physical inputs owned by others” (“goods for processing” in BPM5)
and “maintenance and repair services” (“repairs on goods” in BPM5) were reclassified from
goods to services in BPM6. The adoption of the BPM6 treatment of goods for processing might
result in increases in imports and/or exports of services (equivalent to the amounts received or
paid for manufacturing services), and larger reductions in gross goods imports and exports (due
to the elimination of imputed transactions in goods that do not change ownership);
 “Migrants’ transfers” is no longer recorded as a balance of payments transaction in “other
capital transfers”, in the capital account in BPM6.
Financial Account
 In BPM6, the financial account is now consistent with the SNA and the GFS (Government Finance
Statistics) presentations and, furthermore, eliminates the balance of payments practice of
presenting an increase in assets as a negative entry (debit);
 The headings of the financial account have been changed from “credits and debits” to “net
acquisition of financial assets” and “net incurrence of liabilities”, i.e., all changes due to credit
and debit entries are recorded on a net basis separately for financial assets and liabilities;
 A positive balance of the total financial account, as well as positive net values of financial
account items, mean an increase in our claims on non-residents and/or a decrease in our
liabilities to non-residents, i.e. capital outflow from Swaziland, while a negative balance of the
financial account indicates changes towards a reduction in our claims, i.e. capital inflow into
Swaziland. This is the opposite of the BPM5 version where a positive balance of the financial
account denoted capital inflow, while a negative balance meant capital outflow;
 The net balance of the financial account is the difference between assets and liabilities (i.e.
assets minus liabilities), while in BPM5 it was calculated as change in assets plus change in
liabilities.
4.2 CURRENT ACCOUNT
In 2016, preliminary data shows that the current
account recorded a E5.923 billion surplus, down
from a surplus of E9.379 billion in the previous
year. The decline was a turnaround from the
52.9 per cent increase in the surplus reported

in 2015. The current account in 2016 was
equivalent to 10.8 per cent of GDP from 17.9
per cent in 2015. The balance in the current
account was explained by a narrow trade
balance and a reduction in the net receipts
posted in the secondary income account.

44

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

BALANCE OF PAYMENTS (Continued)
Current Account

Figure 5: Current Account; 2011 to 2016
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4.2.1 Trade Account
A trade surplus of E2.527 billion was recorded in
2016, a 24.8 per cent decline from the surplus
registered in the preceding year as exports
rose faster than imports. In 2015, the country’s
merchandise imports declined by 2.9 per cent,
however, in 2016, imports rose by a wide 17.1
per cent signifying a turnaround in economic
activity. Exports receipts, mainly driven by the
export of sugar and miscellaneous edibles, grew
by 10.9 per cent to E23.209 billion on account
of a weaker Lilangeni against major world
currencies and calculated efforts to increase
volumes in new and existing markets. This
comes after a 7.5 per cent increase in exports
in 2015 from the previous year. The South
African market remains the major contributor
to Swaziland’s export receipts contributing 66
per cent to total merchandise exports.
Export earnings from miscellaneous edibles,
in 2016, maintained stable growth posting the
previous year’s 8.4 per cent increase to E12.023
billion. Receipts from the South African market,
however, rose by 9.5 per cent to E6.729 billion
while maintaining a 55 per cent share of the
exports for these goods. The performance of
miscellaneous edibles exports was partially
affected by persistent macroeconomic pressures
in emerging and developing markets during the
period. Sugar and sugar confectionery exports
made notable returns amounting to E5.115
billion in 2016, a 13.7 per cent increase from the
previous year. The sugar sector was sustained
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by implementation of industry plans that were
put in place to mitigate the adverse effects of
the drought season that was experienced during
the period. The share of earnings received for
the export of sugar and sugar confectionery
into South Africa remained around 66 per cent
in 2016. Receipts from South Africa, however,
declined by 15.2 per cent in the reporting
period from 23.6 per cent a year earlier.
Textiles and articles of textiles grew
considerably by 13.6 per cent to E2.616 billion
in 2016. The textile sector continues to post
persistent growth in the face of tough global
economic conditions and growing competition.
Proceeds from the export of wood and wood
products grew a wide 38.1 per cent to E1.274
billion in the review period. The forestry
sector in Swaziland specializes in the planting
of timber and processing it into finished
products. In 2016, most companies under this
sector invested extensively in their forestry
operations and extended plantations, thus the
impressive export performance. Wood products
from Swaziland are sold to countries as far as
Europe and Asia through sales agents based in
South Africa.
The total merchandise imports bill in 2016
jumped a wide 17.1 per cent to E20.682 billion
from the previous year. Accounting for the spike
in imports during the period was a 17 per cent
year-on-year increase in imports of machinery,
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appliances and electrical materials to E2.300
billion. These were directed to the high value
construction projects that have been ongoing
in the country since 2014. Also contributing
to the bill were products of chemical or allied
industries which rose by 6.3 per cent to E2.948
billion during the period. Vehicles and other
transport means grew to E1.659 billion in 2016,
a 23.6 per cent hike from 2015.
4.2.2 Services Account
The services account recorded a significantly
higher deficit in 2016. A year-on-year comparison
reveals a 23.2 per cent increase in the deficit to
E3.059 billion. The combined effects of higher
imports of services of 12.6 per cent coupled
with a 4.8 per cent decline of exported services
resulted in the deterioration observed in the
account.
Trade in services exports amounted to E1.451
billion in the year. These inflows were mainly
supported by export activity in transport, travel
and construction services. Export of transport
services amounted to E578.7 million in 2016
compared to E574.9 million in the previous
year. Travel service exports displayed a 7.3
per cent year-on-year growth to E191.6 million
in the year under review. In 2016, the export
of construction services increased to E379.6
million from E322.9 million in the previous year.
Construction services contributed significantly
to export service proceeds in the review period.
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Imports of services were reported at E4.509
billion in 2016, higher than the E4.005 billion
services import bill in the preceding year. Still
dominating the services imported is transport
services which registered an increase of 9.1 per
cent to E2.119 billion in the year. The import
of travel services fell to E514.0 million in 2016
from E689.6 million in the previous year. Other
business services outflows, however, increased
by 73.0 per cent to E831.0 million in 2016 with
charges for the use of intellectual property
registering E256.7 million worth of outflows.
These increases in outflows from imported
services resulted in the worsening of the deficit
in the services account.
4.2.3 Primary Income
In 2016, the primary income account recorded a
deficit of E326.1 million, a turnaround from the
surplus of E497.0 million in 2015. The negative
turnaround is largely explained by a E1.139
billion net income payable recorded in the
other primary income sub-account in 2016 from
a E72.6 million inflow in the preceding year.
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Compensation of employees’ inflows in 2016 fell
by 5.1 per cent to E417.3 million and outflows
increased to E178.4 million from E64.2 million
in 2015. Investment income recorded a E574.8
million net income receivable due to a significant
reduction in outflows. This decline in outflows
was as a result of a slowdown in payments of
reinvested earnings to E82.8 million in 2016
from E523.9 million in the previous year due
to resident companies paying more dividends
than the net earnings made during the year.
Outflows due to dividend pay-outs in the review
period also recorded a decline to E260.5 million
from E350.4 million. Investment income inflows
on the other hand, were comparatively on the
higher side despite a 7.7 per cent year-onyear decline to E1.110 billion in 2016. Interest
earned, including interest with respect to loans,
forms a large part of these inflows. Interest
earnings grew from E1.071 billion in 2015 to
E1.069 billion in 2016.
Other primary income includes rent, taxes
and subsidies. Inflows from this subcategory
dominated by taxes on products and production
which include income tax were recorded at
E410.3 million while other primary income
outflows declined by 5.5 per cent to E1.550
billion in 2016. The net income payable in this
account contributed significantly to the overall
deficit in the primary income account.
4.2.4 Secondary Income
Despite the continued surplus trajectory, the
secondary income account recorded a surplus
of E6.781 billion in 2016, lower than the E8.003
billion surplus in 2015. This decline is a result
of reduced SACU revenue receipts in the fiscal
year 2016/17 compared to 2015/16. As a result,
general government registered a 20.9 per cent
lower net inflow of E5.633 in 2016 from the
previous year.
The surplus was supported by a 39.2 per cent
upsurge in transfers from non-profit institutions
serving households (NPISHs), financial and
nonfinancial corporations, and personal
transfers inflows to E2.068 billion.  
Secondary income outflows decreased to E476.9
million in the year from E521.0 million in the
preceding year. Government subscriptions
to international organisations and social
contributions by NPISHs account for most of the
outflows recorded in the account. Preliminary
data still shows that the country is still a
net receiver of transfers in all the functional
categories of the secondary income account.
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4.3 FINANCIAL ACCOUNT
Preliminary figures for 2016 indicate that the
financial account resulted in a net acquisition
of foreign assets of E5.066 billion reflecting a
net outflow, though moderating relative to the
net outflow of E7.391 billion in 2015. The net
outflow depicts that Swaziland was a net lender
to the rest of the world during this period. This

result was the interplay of net foreign assets
acquired in the ‘other investment’ sub-account
as well as incurrence of liabilities in direct
investment and other investment. Foreign
assets in the financial account amounted to a
net outflow of E7.172 billion while liabilities
posted a net inflow of E2.106 billion.

Financial Account

Figure 6: Financial Account; 2011 to 2016
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Direct investment registered a net incurrence
of E298.7 million worth of liabilities during 2016
mainly influenced by foreign direct investment
(FDI) liabilities inflows surging by E167.5 million
coupled with a net inflow of E131.2 million
in FDI assets. The increase in FDI liabilities
inflows, though abated compared to 2015, was
accounted for by the E82.8 million increase
in reinvested earnings during the year from a
E523.9 million hike previously. Debt instruments
recorded a net inflow of E83.0 million in 2016,
a turnaround from the net outflow of E33.8
million reported in 2015. During the same
period, FDI recorded a net reduction of E131.2
million in FDI assets, a magnified decrease
from the net contraction of E12.6 million in the
previous year.
The foreign portfolio investment account
swayed during 2016, posting a net inflow of
E291.9 million from a net outflow of E315.3
million in 2015. The development in the
portfolio account was mainly driven by the net
reduction in debt securities assets comprising
placements of pooled funds by local fund
managers in the South African money markets.
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Domestic portfolio markets are not yet well
developed to attract foreign portfolio investors
which results in minimal flows in the portfolio
investment liabilities.
Figure 7: Foreign Direct Investment
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The net outflow in ‘other investment’ account
narrowed to E6.036 billion during 2016
emanating from a E1.938 billion net incurrence
of liabilities coupled with a slight increase
of E7.974 billion in net assets acquired. The
acquisition of assets edged up in 2016 on a net
basis when compared to the E7.648 billion net
increase in assets acquired in the preceding
year, while the liabilities side registered an
uptick from the E94.4 million increase incurred
previously. Attributable to the net acquisition of
financial assets were trade credits and advances
by other sectors alongside currency and deposits
assets by deposit-taking corporations.
Investment liabilities incurred, on a net basis,
increased during 2016 from a net inflow of E94.4
million to a net inflow of E1.938 billion.   The
net increase was underpinned by increases in
currency and deposits as well as loans towards
general government. During 2016 government
drawdowns amounted to E1.618 billion against
repayments of E393.8 million resulting to a net
incurrence of E1.224 billion liabilities. During
2016, the country’s reserve assets declined
by E597.2 million excluding valuation changes
from a E263.5 million rise in 2015, leading to
a net depletion in reserves during the period
under review. The decline in reserve assets
derives from a drop of E999.7 million in foreign
securities assets in 2016 against the previous
year’s E388.1 million outflow.
4.4 INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT POSITION
The international investment position (IIP) for
Swaziland indicates that external financial
assets continued to surpass external financial
liabilities. At the end of 2016, Swaziland’s IIP
recorded a net asset position amounting to
E21.698 billion, an increase of 21.7 per cent
from the net asset position posted in 2015.
The net position in the IIP was sustained by a
21.6 per cent increase in foreign assets while
liabilities grew 21.4 per cent.
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The stock of financial assets amounted to
E41.269 billion in December 2016 compared to
the stock of E33.940 billion in the preceding
year, mainly on account of portfolio investment
assets as well as other investment assets.
Portfolio investment assets recorded a growth
of 3.5 per cent to E16.867 billion in 2016
accounting for 40.9 per cent of the country’s
foreign assets. These assets were driven by
equity and investment fund shares of E12.237
billion from E12.172 billion in 2015 alongside
debt securities assets amounting to E4.630
billion from E4.130 billion in the previous year.
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Other investment assets were E15.141 billion in
2016 posting a growth of 69.7 per cent from the
stock of 2015, mainly on account of currency
and deposits assets and trade credits and
advances. These assets closed the year 2016 at
E8.591 billion and E6.450 billion respectively.
The stock of reserve assets amounted to E7.748
billion in 2016, declining by 8.1 per cent when
compared to the E8.432 billion reported in
2015. Outward FDI stock was E1.513 billion in
2016 from E281 million in the previous year.
The international investment position
(IIP) is a statistical statement that shows
at a point in time the value of financial
assets of residents of an economy that are
claims on non-residents and the financial
liabilities of residents of an economy to
non-residents. The difference between
the total assets and liabilities is the net
position in the IIP and represents either a
net claim on or a net liability to the rest of
the world.
Swaziland’s stock of financial liabilities
amounted to E19.571 billion in 2016 from
E16.116 billion the previous year. FDI stock
which constituted 53.5 per cent of the country’s
external financial liabilities, registered an
annual increase of 29.3 per cent in 2016. The
growth in FDI stock liabilities was supported by
equity and reinvested earnings as well as debt
instruments. Equity and reinvested earnings
accounted for 71.4 per cent of the total FDI
stock in 2016. Other investment liabilities
surged by 13.5 per cent to E9.104 billion in 2016.
The composition of these liabilities was mainly
loans amounting to E4.769 billion with a share
of 52.4 per cent while currency and deposits
registered E2.907 billion accounting for 31.9
per cent. SDRs and trade credit and advances
were the least contributors with E888.2 million
and E539.6 million respectively.
4.5 EXCHANGE RATE DEVELOPMENTS
The exchange rate of the Lilangeni/Rand was
volatile during the year 2016, but generally
weakened against the major currencies. The
depreciation was more pronounced in the first
quarter of 2016 with the local unit ending
the period under review just above the E13.5
mark against the United States (US) Dollar on
average, which was higher than the E10 mark
recorded in the previous period. Although the
Lilangeni on average depreciated against major
currencies in 2016 compared to 2015, there
were recoveries in the second quarter to the
fourth quarter of 2016. During this period, the
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to the Pound Sterling and E14.35 to the Euro
after closing the previous year at E15.54 to
the US dollar, E23.04 to the Pound Sterling and
E16.98 to the Euro.

currency benefitted from the Standard & Poor’s
Global Ratings’ (S&P) decision to maintain SA’s
investment grade rating, the assurance by South
Africa’s Finance Minister in bringing prudence
to fiscal policy, and the weakening of the US
Dollar amid policy uncertainty in the US.

During the first quarter of 2017, the domestic
currency strengthened against the major
currencies; averaging E13.23 to the US dollar,
E14.10 to the Euro and E16.39 to the Pound
Sterling. This was due to the Rand gaining
confidence following South Africa’s budget
speech, the improvement of the current account
and the subsiding inflation in South Africa.

On the other hand, the overall weakening of
the Lilangeni as observed in the first quarter
of 2016 is attributable to the following factors
among others:
• The improvement in the US economy and
expectations of rate hikes;
• Subdued commodity prices coupled with
lacklustre economic growth in South Africa;
and
• Continued political uncertainty in South
Africa.

Future prospects indicate that the domestic
currency is likely to remain volatile. The
strength of the local currency will be restricted
by the threat of further downgrades of South
Africa’s sovereign credit ratings which may take
several years to regain. Moreover, the recent
political developments in the US and South
African administration are a cause for concern
and can be viewed as a negative risk to the
stability of the domestic currency.

However, the local unit continued to weaken
despite a broad rally by emerging market assets
just after the US Federal Reserve Bank had left
interest rates unchanged. The local unit ended
the year 2016 at E13.63 to the US dollar, E16.73

Figure 8: Monthly Lilangeni’s Exchange Rate; January 2016 to December 2016
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Expressed against a basket of trading partners’
currencies, the value of the domestic currency
as measured by the Nominal Effective
Exchange Rate(NEER) index, depreciated by
8.2 per cent during the year 2016 compared
to a depreciation of 9.9 per cent in 2015.
The depreciation of the NEER reflects that
the domestic currency depreciated against its
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trading partners’ currencies during the period
under review. This development is also in
tandem with the general weakening of the local
unit against major currencies in 2016. Similarly,
the inflation adjusted value of the currency as
measured by the Real Effective Exchange Rate
(REER) index recorded a depreciation of 3.4
per cent in 2016 following a depreciation of
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the depreciation debt repayment increases in
Emalangeni value.

9.7 per cent in 2015. The lower depreciation of
the REER relative to the NEER depreciation is
an indication that domestic inflation has been
increasing at a faster pace compared to those
of the trading partners.

Notwithstanding the volatility of the Lilangeni
exchange rate in line with the South African
Rand, the country’s monetary authority still
believes that maintaining the parity peg
continues to benefit the country. The parity
status of the lilangeni to the Rand has, amongst
other things, facilitated cross-border trade
with CMA member countries, in particular
South Africa (the country’s major trading
partner), attracted tourism from South Africa
and guaranteed sound monetary policy through
stable interest and inflation rates.

The depreciation of the REER, as a measure of
export competitiveness, implies that domestic
exports destined to markets outside the
CMA have been rendered more competitive,
hence more revenue in Emalangeni terms.
The depreciation is also envisaged to have
benefitted other sectors of the economy such as
the tourism sector. However, the depreciation
does not augur well for the country in terms of
servicing its foreign debt, which as a result of

Figure 9: Nominal Effective and Real Effective Exchange Rate Indices; January 2016 to December
Figure 9: Nominal Effective and Real Effective Exchange Rate Indices
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5. MONETARY DEVELOPMENTS
5.1 OVERVIEW
During the year ended March 2017, the stance
of monetary policy was partly restrictive and
steady, characterized by efforts to safeguard
price stability while cautious not to restrain
economic growth. As economic growth weakened
notably, threats to price stability were mostly
fuelled by the severe drought-induced elevated
food price inflation. Consequently, over the
year under review, the policy (discount) rate
increased twice in May 2017 and in January
2017 and remained unchanged in the remaining
months. Overall, the policy rate went up by
a cumulative 75 basis points to 7.25 per cent
at the end of March 2017.The banks’ prime
lending rate increased by a similar margin to
reach 10.75 per cent at the end of Mach 2017.
Having aligned the local discount rate to the
South African repo rate since May 2016, the
differential between the two resurfaced in
January 2017. Unlike in the past where the local
rate was lower, this time, the discount rate was
25 basis points higher than the repo rate. This
has indirectly implied a reduced incentive for
capital flight to South African money markets.
Nonetheless, this continues to be temporal
with the view of aligning the two rates at an
appropriate instance.
A notable development on the structure of
deposit interest rates as at the end of March
2017 was the tendency to encourage longer
term deposits than shorter term deposits. This
was evidenced by the comparatively higher
growth in the remuneration of longer term
depositors compared to shorter term and savings
depositors. Additionally, the spread between
the local and South African rates narrowed
somewhat; indicating improvement from the
widening spread registered the previous year.
However, treasury bill rates increased by a
higher margin owing to the greater risk premium
attached to government securities amid the
fiscal cash flow challenges.
Over the year, credit extended to the private
sector continued to grow but at a slightly
slower pace compared to the previous year. The
growth was underpinned by renewed demand
for credit from the business sector, consistent
with the dissipating drought condition during
the year under review. Subsequently, credit
to the business sector turned around from the
negative growth rates recorded since 2015 to
register positive and even double digit growth
rates since November 2016. However, household
credit growth decelerated notably from double
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to single digit levels and credit to Other residual
(mainly other financial corporations, local
government and public enterprises) sectors fell
substantially.
The double-digit growth rates in broad money
supply (M2) which began in 2015 persisted
during the year under review predominantly
enhanced by growth in private sector credit
extension. However, the growth in M2 was
slightly lower than recorded in the previous
year owing somewhat to the notable fall in the
country’s net foreign assets. The rise in broad
money supply was discernible in its components
namely; quasi and narrow money supply. This
was evidence of depositors’ preference to hoard
money for both investment and transactions
motives.
The country’s net foreign assets declined
markedly; in line with the plunge in SACU
revenue during the 2016/17 fiscal year combined
with the strengthening of the external value of
the local currency over the year under review.
Consistently, the country’s external reserves
went down as the government made drawdowns
to mitigate the resultant cash flow challenges.
However, the reserves were maintained above
the internationally recommended import cover
threshold of three months. Notably, the import
cover of the reserves fluctuated between 3.4
and 4.4 months throughout the year under
review.
Domestic liquid assets of the banking system
rose persistently over the year under review.
The increase was to a large extent reinforced
by banks’ investment in government securities
as they sought to meet the higher statutory
liquidity requirement introduced in July 2016
as well as to absorb the competitively priced
securities offered by the government under its
auction calendar.
5.2 INTEREST RATES
During the year under review, the structure
of Interest rates was revised upwards on two
occasions; following the tight monetary policy
stance pursued by the Bank. Therefore, in May
2017, the policy (discount) rate increased by 50
basis points from 6.5 per cent in April 2016 to 7.0
per cent and in January 2017 by an additional
25 basis points to 7.25 per cent at the end of
March 2017. Similarly, the prime lending rate
increased from 10.0 per cent in March 2016 to
10.5 per cent and further to 10.75 per cent in
March 2017.
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Deposit interest rates, on the other hand,
increased sluggishly by varying aggregates with
longer term deposits rising more than shorter
term deposits. The average 12-month deposit
rate, signifying longer term deposits rates
rose by 55 basis points from 4.48 per cent in
March 2016 to 5.03 per cent in March 2017.
The spread between the domestic rate and
RSA rate narrowed from 4.14 per cent in March
2016 to 3.03 per cent in March 2017. Shorterterm deposit rates represented by the average
31-days deposit rates increased by a lower 38
basis points from 3.06 per cent to 3.44 per
cent. Within this category, the spread between
the domestic rate and the RSA rate narrowed
from 4.24 per cent the previous year to 3.54
per cent.

increased with effect from 1st July 2016 while
the reserve requirement remained unaltered.
The increase was motivated by the Bank’s
effort to strengthen the prudential resilience of
banks as well as to absorb their excess liquidity.
Accordingly, the liquidity requirement went up
from 20 per cent to 25 per cent of domestic
liabilities. The liquidity requirement for the
SwaziBank increased correspondingly from 17
per cent to 22 per cent of domestic liabilities.
The reserve requirement remained unchanged
at 6 per cent.
Generally, the banks sufficiently met both
the statutory reserve and the liquid assets
requirements and furthermore retained excess
balances. Over the twelve months to March
2017, the reserve requirement ratio ranged
between 6.3 per cent and 6.9 per cent. The
liquidity ratio, on the other hand, ranged from
a low of 25.1 per cent to a high of 29.3 per cent
over the year.

Average treasury-bill rates increased by a
higher margin of 154 basis points from 6.65 per
cent in March 2016 to 8.19 per cent in March
2017 and turned around to be more than the
RSA treasury-bill rates since September 2016.
The spread between the local and RSA treasurybill rates widened considerably from 49 basis
points to 102 basis points. This was attributed
to the government’s efforts to attract investors
amidst the cash shortfall challenges during the
year under review.

Domestic liquid assets of the banks expanded
by 17.3 per cent to E3.5 billion. The rise
was mostly attributed to an upturn in banks’
investment in government securities. Following
the growth in banks’ liquid assets, the liquid
assets ratio improved by 2.3 percentage points
from the previous year to reach 28.5 per cent.
However, domestic excess liquidity fell by 36
per cent over the year to E473.1 million.

Remuneration for smaller savers continued to
be lacklustre as average savings deposit rates
rose by only 30 basis points from 2.23 per cent
to 2.53 per cent over the year under review.

The reserve holdings of the commercial banks
reached E760.3 million at the end of March
2017, representing growth of 3.6 per cent
from the previous year. Excess reserve holdings
amounted to E38.9 million, showing a decline
of 27.2 per cent over the year.

5.3 STATUTORY RESERVE AND LIQUIDITY
REQUIREMENTS
Over the review period ended March 2017, the
liquidity requirement for commercial banks
Table 12: Bank Liquidity; 2014/15 to 2016/17
Item
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Amount at
31/03/2017
(E’000)

2016/17

2015/16

2014/15

Total Liquid Assets

4,466,005

4.5

29.0

3.5

Domestic Liquidy

3,466,942

17.3

23.0

4.5

999,063

24.3

44.6

1.04

31/03/2017

31/03/2016
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28.5

26.2

24.5

24.8

8.2

11.7

9.3

10.2

85.9

87.7

95.0

93.2

Foreign Liquidity (Net)
Ratio (%)
Liquidity to Domestic Liabilities
Foreign Liquidity to Domestic
Liabilities
Loans to Deposits

Annual Changes %

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland
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5.4

DEPOSITORY CORPORATIONS SURVEY

drawing down on their foreign balances to meet
the higher domestic liquid assets requirement.
Additionally, net official assets receded by 15.9
per cent to reach E6.2 billion; a significant
reduction from the 1.4 per cent growth recorded
the previous year. Almost similarly, gross official
reserves contracted by 13.7 per cent over the
year to E7.3 billion. In terms of imports of goods
and services, the reserves were sufficient to
cover 3.4 months in March 2017, substantially
lower than the 3.9 months covered the previous
year. The deterioration in reserves was largely
attributed to the considerable decline in SACU
receipts for the fiscal year 2016/17. However,
the somewhat recovery in SACU receipts for
2017/18 is expected to improve the reserves
level.

5.4.1 Net Foreign Assets
Over the twelve months ended March 2017, the
country’s net foreign assets tumbled by 17.3
per cent to reach E7.2 billion. This was contrary
to the growth of 6.6 per cent recorded a year
ago. Contributing to the fall in net foreign
assets was a decrease in net foreign holdings of
the banking system as well as the official sector
combined with revaluation losses from the
significant appreciation of the lilangeni/rand
exchange rate against major trading currencies
over the year.
Net foreign assets of the banking sector
dropped by 25.1 per cent over the year to reach
E1.0 billion. This was partly a result of banks
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Figure 10: Net Foreign Assets & Gross Official Reserves; 2014 Q1 to 2017 Q1
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5.4.2 Domestic Claims (Net)
Net domestic claims registered moderate
growth of 31.8 per cent over the year to E11.6
billion. The rise was buoyed by growth in credit
extended to the private sector combined with
a fall in government net balances with other
depository corporations. Government net
balances with other depository corporations
declined markedly by 71.1 per cent over the
year to close at E808.3 million, primarily as a

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

result of lower government revenue vis-à-vis
accelerating expenditure.
Credit extended to the private sector reached
E12.5 billion at the end of March 2017
indicating a year-on-year expansion of 7.0 per
cent compared to that of 9.3 per cent recorded
the previous year. The increase was mostly
discernible in the business sector and to a lesser
extent in the household sector. Weighing down
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on the growth in credit extension was a decrease
in credit to the ‘other’ sector comprising other
financial corporations, local government and
public enterprises.
Credit extended to the business sector turned
around from a decline of 8 per cent in the
past year to double-digit growth of 14.2 per
cent at the end of March 2017. This was partly
a consequence of the recovery in demand for
credit owing to the good rains that dispelled
the drought phenomenon that prevailed in the
past years. Outstandingly, the increase was
evident in the ‘agriculture & forestry’ (mainly
sugar cane and forestry growing), ‘distribution

& tourism’, ‘community, social & personal
services’ as well as the ‘construction’ sectors.
Credit extended to the household sector grew
by 4.7 per cent to E5.7 billion, notably lower
than the 20.4 per cent increase registered the
previous year. Within the household sector,
housing finance, which constitutes the largest
share of household credit, recorded the highest
rise of 8.3 per cent. The second highest rise of
6.0 per cent was recorded in other personal
(primarily unsecured) loans. Motor vehicle
finance, however, contracted by 3.7 per cent
compared to growth of 26.4 per cent recorded
last year.

Table 13: Total Claims on Other Sectors (Private Sector) by Category of Borrower; 2014/15 to
2016/17
Sector

Total

Outstanding
at 31/03/2017
(E’000)

Annual Changes (%)
2016/17

2015/16

2014/15

12,455,914

7.0

9.3

9.0

Other Non-Financial Corporations (Industry)

5,716,412

14.2

(8.0)

4.0

Other Resident Sectors (Households &
NPISH)

5,732,460

4.7

20.4

13.1

Public Enterprises

307,273

7.4

14.4

3.8

Other

699,769

(19.9)

110.9

47.7

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland

Table 14: Business: Loans and Advances by Type of Industry; 2014/15 to 2016/17
Sector

Total

Annual Changes (%)
2016/17

2015/16

2014/15

5,716,412

14.2

(8.0)

4.0

Agriculture & Forestry

809,339

24.8

(27.9)

34.1

Manufacturing

297,071

(44.1)

(26.5)

-12.6

Construction

420,088

13.3

(34.0)

20.7

1,204,063

43.8

8.9

14.9

Transport & Communication

484,614

4.3

(17.5)

24.7

Community, Social & Personal Services

635,117

23.0

35.7

-26.7

1,317,090

8.8

24.1

15.6

549,029

28.9

16.0

(27.5)

Distribution & Tourism
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Outstanding
at 31/03/2017
(E’000)

Real Estate
Other
Source: Central Bank of Swaziland
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Figure 11: Private Sector Loans and Deposits; 2014 Q1 to 2017 Q1
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Figure 12: Loans by Type of Business; 2014 Q1 to 2017 Q1
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5.4.3 Money
Broad money supply (M2) advanced by 12.8
per cent from the previous year to reach E14.4
billion. The growth was buoyed by the notable
rise in private sector credit extension and to
some extent the higher deposit rates induced
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by the tighter monetary policy stance pursued
by the Bank.
Both components of broad money supply,
narrow and quasi money supply contributed to
the growth. Narrow money supply picked up
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by 15.5 per cent to E4.7 billion as transferable
(demand) deposits accelerated by 16.0 per
cent to E4.1 billion while emalangeni outside
depository corporations rose by 12.1 per cent to
E594.5 million. Quasi money supply increased

by 11.5 per cent to E9.7 billion. The rise was
attributed to growth of 11.6 per cent in time
(interest-bearing) deposits and 11.3 per cent in
savings deposits to reach E7.9 billion and E1.7
billion, respectively.

Figure 13: Money Supply; 2014 Q1 to 2017 Q1
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Figure 14: Money Supply: Annual Changes; 2014 Q1 to 2017 Q1
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As at the end of March 2017, other depository
corporations’ deposits amounted to E13.8
billion, registering an increase of 10.3 per cent
from the previous year. When classified in terms
of ownership, deposits by the other resident
sector (households and NPISH), constituting the
second largest share of deposits, accelerated

by 36.5 per cent to E4.6 billion. Deposits by the
local government, other financial corporations
and public enterprises grew by 15.5 per cent to
E2.7 billion. However, corporate sector deposits
(constituting the largest share of deposits)
contracted by 3.2 per cent to E6.1 billion.

Table 15: Ownership of Deposits with Other Depository Corporations in Swaziland; 2015/16 to
2016/17
Sector

Outstanding at
%
31/03/2017
Distribution
(E’000)

Central Government

Annual Changes (%)
2016/17

2015/16

378,162

2.7

(15.8)

(4.8)

Local Govt, Public Enterprises & Private
Financial Corporations

2,707,689

19.6

15.5

14.0

Other Resident Sectors

4,647,077

33.6

36.5

12.8

Other Non-Financial Corporations

6,086,455

44.1

(3.9)

16.2

13,819,383

100.0

10.3

13.9

Total

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland

6. PUBLIC FINANCE
6.1

2017/18 GOVERNMENT BUDGET REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

6.1.1 Introduction
On 24th February 2017, the Minister of Finance
presented the 2017/18 National Budget to
Parliament on the backdrop of devastating
effects of severe drought over the last two
years and the resultant low economic growth.
The theme of the Budget was in line with
His Majesty’s Speech from the Throne when
opening the 4th Session of the 10th Parliament,
being: “Rising Above Adversity to Create
Prosperity for All”. His Majesty’s Speech from
the Throne emphasised that more resources
should be channelled to infrastructure that will
yield to economic growth while at the same
time, efforts should be made to decrease the
budget deficit. His Majesty pointed out that
a fall in SACU revenue coupled with a rise in
Government spending has put pressure on
ability to meet commitments to suppliers. Also

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

highlighted is Government’s commitment to
ensure that the private sector does not suffer.
The key objectives of this Budget were
highlighted as reducing reliance on SACU
receipts, fiscal consolidation and infrastructure
development
to
build
Government’s
preparedness and resilience against future
adversities.
6.1.2 Summary of Budget Estimates
The actual outturn for 2015/16 shows a budget
deficit of E2.5 billion or 4.8 per cent of GDP.
On the other hand, the estimated outturn for
2016/17 indicates a budget deficit of E6.8
billion, an equivalent of 12.3 per cent of GDP.
The rising deficit was mainly attributable to a 23
per cent decline in SACU receipts and increases
in Government expenditure.
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Figure 15: Comparative Budget Summary; 2014/15 to 2017/18
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Estimates for 2017/18 indicate that Government
will run a deficit of E4.8 billion, corresponding
to 8.2 per cent of GDP. The improvement is
mainly attributed to a 36.7 per cent projected
increase in SACU receipts coupled with a
marginal increase in Government expenditure.

Over the medium to long term, Government’s
aim is to bring the deficit back to levels less than
3 per cent, in line with SADC Macroeconomic
Convergence targets, supported by improved
revenue collection and fiscal consolidation.

Table 16: Budget Summary (E’ Million); 2014/15 to 2017/18
Item

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17*

2017/18**

14,731

14,452

14,352

16,894

Total Expenditure

15,304

16,998

21,194

21,734

  o/w Current Expenditure

11,694

13,273

15,898

16,186

   o/w Capital Expenditure

3,610

3,725

5,296

5,548

-573

-2,546

-6,842

-4,840

-1.2

-4.8

-12.3

-8.2

Total Revenue & Grants

Fiscal Balance
Fiscal Balance as % of GDP

Source: 2017/18 Estimates Book, Ministry of Finance
* Revised Estimate
**Budget Estimate
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6.1.3 Revenue
Total revenue and grants are projected to
increase by 17.4 per cent from E14.4 billion
the previous fiscal year to reach E16.9 billion in
2017/18. SACU receipts and several proposed
policy measures targeted to increase revenue
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underpin the projected increase in revenue.
SACU receipts, which constitute 42.1 per cent
of total revenue, is projected to increase by
36.7 per cent to reach E7.1 billion in 2017/18.
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Figure 16: Government Revenue Major Components; 2016/17 and 2017/18
2016/17 Revised Estimate

2017/18 Budget Estimate
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Domestic revenue collection is set to increase
by 13.3 per cent from E8.3 billion in 2016/17
to reach E9.4 billion in 2017/18 mainly
attributable to Swaziland Revenue Authority’s
efficiency in tax collection and administration.
VAT is projected to increase by 4 per cent to

reach E2.5 billion in 2017/18 accounting for 15
per cent of total revenue. Corporate tax and
PAYE are also projected to increase by 7.0 per
cent and 1.2 per cent to E1.6 billion and E2.7
billion, respectively. Grants account for 2.6 per
cent of total revenue.

Table 17: Central Government Revenue (E’ Million); 2014/15 to 2017/18
2014/15

2015/16

Taxes on Net Income and Profit

Item

3,551

3,825

4,510

4,661

27.6

Company Tax

1,483

1,372

1,495

1,600

9.5

Individuals

1,880

2,176

2,654

2,687

15.9

187

278

361

374

2.2

33

30

43

43

0.3

Other
Taxes on Property
Taxes on Goods & Services

2016/17* 2017/18**

% Share

10,078

9,819

8,474

11,195

66.3

Customs Union Receipts

7,500

6,931

5,252

7,109

42.1

VAT

1,895

2,107

2,352

2,530

15.0

573

667

754

1,023

6.1

-

-

-

300

1.8

109

115

116

233

1.4

13,662

13,675

13,026

15,900

94.1

291

448

512

569

3.4

82

95

95

107

0.6

198

340

395

438

2.6

11

13

21

24

0.1

13,953

14,123

13,538

16,468

97.5

778

329

813

426

2.52

TOTAL REVENUE & GRANTS
14,731
14,452
Source: 2017/18 Estimates Book, Ministry of Finance
* Revised Estimate
**Budget Estimate

14,352

16,894

100.

Fuel Tax
Mobile Tel. Licenses
Other
Total Taxes
Non-Tax Revenue
Fees, Services and Fines
Property Income
Other
Total Revenue
Grants
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6.1.4 Expenditure
Total expenditure is estimated to marginally
increase by 2.4 per cent to reach E21.7 billion in
2017/18. Recurrent expenditure will account for
E16.2 billion (including statutory expenditure).
This accounts for 75 per cent of total spending
leaving little fiscal space for capital spending.
The wage bill accounts for 71 per cent of non-

SACU revenue and approximately 41 per cent
of recurrent expenditure. By any standard
and particularly given the volatility of SACU
receipts; the major source of Government
revenue, as well as the ongoing review of the
SACU revenue sharing formula, the wage bill
level is too high.

Table 18: Central Government Recurrent Expenditure (E’ Million); 2014/15 to 2017/18
Item

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17
Preliminary
Outturn

General Public Service

5,610.4

6,227.8

6,975.8

7,903.8

47.6

General Administration

3,617.6

3,877.2

4,128.7

4,888.7

29.8

Public Order, Safety & Defence

1,992.8

2,350.6

2,847.1

3,015.2

17.8

Social Services

2017/18 Avg. % Share
Budget over the past
5 Years

4,437.6

5,327.5

6,087.3

5,932.6

37.7

Education

2,750.5

3,020.1

3,579.3

3,556.4

22.5

Heath

1,407.6

1,725.3

1,887.6

1,739.9

11.9

279.4

582.2

620.4

639.3

3.3

1,178.9

1,084.2

1,384.7

1,349.5

8.9

Agriculture

293.3

298.7

337.0

324.4

2.2

Industry & Mining

126.5

189.1

285.5

255.1

1.4

Transport & Communications

536.5

519.6

677.4

684.7

4.2

Other

222.6

76.9

84.8

85.3

1.1

Public Debt Interest

467.1

634.0

1,450.0

1,000.0

5.8

11,6940.0

13,273.5

15,897.8 16,185.9

100

Other Community Services
Economics Services

Total

Source: Ministry of Finance

Capital expenditure for 2017/18 is projected
to increase by about 4 per cent to E5.5 billion
from E5.3 billion allocated the previous fiscal
year. The capital budget accounts for 25 per
cent of total expenditure. These resources
support Government’s efforts to revive

the economy and contribute to sustainable
economic growth, especially for agricultural
development (LUSIP Project), livestock and
crop production, water supply and sanitation,
energy/power generation, improving road and
rail infrastructure.

Table 19: Central Government Capital Expenditure (E’ Million); 2014/15 to 2017/18
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Item

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17
Preliminary
Outturn

2017/18
Budget

Avg. % Share
over the past
5 years

General Public Service

1,493.4

1,099.8

1,794.0

1,975.0

35.2

General Administration

1,299.5

1,000.1

1,639.8

1,808.7

31.4

Public Order & Safety

193.9

99.7

154.1

166.3

3.8

Social Services

710.8

879.3

735.8

730.4

17.9

Education

191.7

266.6

204.5

172.5

4.6

Health

210.1

271.8

350.3

274.8

6.5

Other Community Services

309.0

340.9

181.1

283.2

6.8
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Item

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17
Preliminary
Outturn

2017/18
Budget

Avg. % Share
over the past
5 years

Economics Services

1,406.3

1,746.2

2,766.3

2,842.5

46.9

Agriculture

270.3

310.4

532.1

416.4

8.7

Industry & Mining

287.0

397.7

626.9

332.3

8.5

Transport & Communications

784.1

863.3

1,529.9

2,014.0

27.1

Other

64.9

174.9

77.4

79.9

2.6

Total

3,610.4

3,725.3

5,296.1

5,547.9

100

Source: Ministry of Finance

6.2 BUDGET DEFICIT FINANCING
In accordance to the country’s constitution
of 2005, the Government has to maintain the
public finance at a sustainable level, therefore
this budget recognised that provision where
the budget strategy is to return to a balance
position. This should be accompanied by fiscal
discipline through the curtailing of wasteful
spending. A combination of a lower increase in
expenditure coupled with a surge in revenues
has resulted in budget deficit for 2017/18
fiscal year projected to fall to 8.2 per cent
of GDP compared to 12.3 per cent estimated
for 2016/17. Over the medium to long term,

Government’s aim is to bring the deficit back
to levels less than 3 per cent, in line with SADC
Macroeconomic Convergence targets, supported
by improved revenue collection.
The Minister indicated in previous budgets that
to avoid an increase in relatively expensive
external borrowing and reduce the fiscal
burden of debt payments over the medium
term, a larger share of the fiscal deficit will
be financed through domestic borrowing.
External borrowing will be considered only for
the financing of highly productive fixed capital
investments.

7. PUBLIC DEBT
recorded in March 2016. The surge was mainly
attributed to the disbursements of foreign
loans for on-going Government projects and the
continued issuance of Government securities
during the year under review.

E’Million

Figure 17: Total Public Debt Trend; 2014/15 to 2016/17
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7.1
OVERVIEW
Total public debt stock was estimated at E11.29
billion, an equivalent of 19.3 per cent of GDP
as at end of March 2017. This represents an
increase of 35.2 per cent from the E8.35 billion

Total Public Debt (% of GDP)

Source: Ministry of Finance and Central Bank of Swaziland
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PUBLIC DEBT (Continued)
Public debt has been on the increase over
the years but relatively low when compared
to other African countries. Government has
reaffirmed its policy stance articulated in
previous years that Government will ensure
that total public debt remains below the 35 per

cent of GDP threshold as advised by the Bretton
Woods Institutions. Of the outstanding total
public debt portfolio, domestic debt accounted
for 53.5 per cent with external debt accounting
for the remaining 46.5 per cent.

Table 20: Public Debt Indicators (E’ Million and Percentages); 2014/15 to 2016/17
Item

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

6,654.1

8,348.9

11,291.1

12.7

15.2

19.3

3,050.2

3,240.3

6,075.0

5.8

5.9

10.4

3,603.9

5,108.6

5,216.1

6.9

9.3

8.9

Domestic debt as % of total debt

45.8

38.8

53.5

External debt as % of total debt

54.2

61.2

46.5

Total Debt (E’ Million)
Total Debt as % of GDP
Domestic Debt (E’ Million)
Domestic Debt as % of GDP
External Debt (E’ Million)
External Debt as % of GDP

Source: Ministry of Finance and Central Bank of Swaziland

7.2
PUBLIC EXTERNAL DEBT
Total public external debt stock including
publicly guaranteed debt stood at E5.2 billion
or 8.9 per cent of GDP at the end of March 2017.
This reflects a marginal increase of 2 per cent
from the figure recorded in the previous year.

The increase was primarily due to disbursements
of loans for on-going Government capital
projects which was nevertheless off-set by the
appreciation of the local currency against the
US Dollar and other major currencies in which
most of the external liabilities are denominated.

Table 21: Public External Debt by Holder Category (E’ Million); 2014/15 to 2016/17
Item

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2,198.4

3,226.1

3,271.4

Foreign Governments

943.0

958.4

966.2

Private Lenders

462.6

924.1

978.5

3,604.0

5,108.6

5,216.1

As % of GDP

0.8

1.2

0.6

As % of exports of goods and services

1.7

2.7

1.2

12.1865

14.8620

13.3513

Multilateral Organisations

Public External Debt
Debt Service:

USD/SZL Period End
Source: Ministry of Finance and Central Bank of Swaziland
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The external debt for Central Government
which constitutes the largest share of external
debt stood at E5.1 billion as at end of March
2017 from E4.9 billion recorded in the previous
fiscal year.
7.2.1 Debt Service
Total public external debt service marginally
increased by 0.7 per cent to reach E448.7
million at end of March 2017. Of the total debt
service; E348 million went towards principal
payments while E100.7 million was directed to
interest payments.
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With regards to the prevailing debt ratios at the
end of March 2017, public external debt stock
to exports of goods and services marginally
increased to 21.9 per cent from 21.4 per cent
and; public external debt service to exports of
goods and services decreased to 1.2 per cent
from 2.7 per cent recorded in the previous fiscal
year. These ratios all reflect that Swaziland is
still within acceptable levels of indebtedness
although close monitoring and management of
public debt remains of paramount importance
to ensure that the country’s debt is kept within
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sustainable levels given the fiscal challenges
facing the country.
7.2.2 Disbursements
Total public external debt disbursements for
the 2016/17 fiscal year stood at E924.8 million
from E1.33 billion the previous year. The
disbursements were associated with loans from
the following institutions and/or Governments:
• African Development Bank (AfDB) for
Ezulwini Water Supply & Sanitation Delivery
Project;
• Abu-Dhabi for Manzini-Mbadlane Highway;
• Arab Bank for Economic Development in
Africa (BADEA) for the Sicunusa-Nhlangano
Road and Manzini-Mbadlane Highway;
• Export-Import Bank of China (EXIM-C) for
International Convention Centre;
• Export-Import Bank of India (EXIM-I) for
Agricultural Farm Inputs and IT Park;
• International Bank for Reconstruction &
Development (IBRD) for Health, HIV/AIDS &
TB Project;

• IBRD for Local Government Project;
• Kuwait Fund for Arab Economic
Development for Manzini-Mbadlane Road;
and
• OFID (Organisation for Petroleum
Exporting Counties’ Fund for International
Development) for Manzini-Mbadlane
Highway and Nhlangano-Lavumisa Road.
7.3

DOMESTIC DEBT

7.3.1 Domestic Debt Portfolio Overview
Total Government domestic debt stood at E6.08
billion, an equivalent of 10.4 per cent of GDP at
end of March 2017. The domestic debt portfolio
is comprised of Treasury Bills, Treasury Bonds
(fixed and floating) and Private Placements
(fixed and floating). A statutory advance from
the Central Bank of Swaziland and Promissory
Notes issued by the Government of Swaziland
to private companies also form part of the debt
portfolio.

Table 22: Domestic Debt Portfolio by Instrument as at 31 March 2017
Type of Debt
Fixed Rate Bond (Listed)
Floating Rate Bond (Listed)
Fixed Rate Private Placement
Floating Rate Private Placement

E’ Million

% of total

2,223.49

36.6

274.69

4.5

75.00

1.2

560.00

9.2

Treasury Bills

1,657.32

27.3

CBS Advance

1,100.00

18.1

184.52

3.1

6,075.02

100.00%

Promissory Notes
Total Domestic Debt

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland
Note: Listed securities are listed in the Swaziland Stock Exchange
Private placement entail Bonds issued under a Suppliers Medium Term Note Programme and other Bond private
placements

While commercial banks continued to dominate
participation in Government securities on
the shorter end of the yield curve, Non-bank

Financial Institutions (NBFIs) dominate on the
longer term securities.

Table 23: Domestic Debt Portfolio by Holder as at 31 March 2017
Item
CBS

Treasury
Bills

Normal Suppliers Promissory
Bonds
Bonds
Notes

CBS
Advance

Total

% of
total

2.2

0.9

0

0

1,100

1,103.1

18.2

1,316.0

616.8

240.0

0

0

2,172.8

35.8

NBFIs

241.1

1,801.6

335.0

0

0

2,377.7

39.1

Other

98.0

138.9

0

184.5

0

421.4

6.9

Total

1,657.3

2,558.2

575.0

184.5

1,100

6,075.0

100.0%

Commercial Banks

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland
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8. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
8.1 THE GOVERNING LEGAL ENVIRONMENT
The Central Bank of Swaziland (CBS) is
established and incorporated in terms of the
provisions of The Constitution of the Kingdom
of Swaziland Act, 2005 and The Central Bank of
Swaziland Order 6/1974 (as amended).
In terms of both pieces of legislation, the Bank’s
operating organs are also established, these
being the Office of the Governor as Chairman
of the Board as well as Chief Executive Officer
appointed by the Head of State for a period of
5 years.
The ultimate governing authority of the Bank is
the Board of Directors appointed by the Minister
of Finance for a period not exceeding 3 years.

a period not exceeding 5 years and shall be
eligible for reappointment.
As at the 31st May, 2016 the term of office of the
Board of Directors terminated and the Minister
of Finance appointed a new Board of Directors on
the 1st July, 2016 namely:- Mr. Bheki S. Bhembe,
Professor Mike S. Matsebula, Dr. Sikhomba C.
Gumbi, Dr. Khanyisile D. Dlamini, Mr. Daniel M.
Shabangu and Mrs. Adelaide S. Dlamini.
Section 4 of the CBS Order stipulates the
matters that the Board must consider whilst the
Board Charter sets out the rules and procedures
for the Board to ensure the proper discharge of
its governance functions.

8.2 THE BOARD
The Bank is governed following the Unitary
Board structure regime which functions in
terms of the CBS Order 1974, as amended and
a Board Charter. The Board on this basis is the
ultimate and final authority of the institution.  
The Board of Directors comprises 9 members
which include the Governor, Deputy Governor
and seven other directors one of whom shall be
a public officer of the Ministry responsible for
Public Finance.

The Board, among other things, receives
reports from the Executive Committee (which
is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the Bank) and the various Board committees
(which are chaired by non-executive directors).
The Board ordinarily meets six times a year.

The Board’s executive members are
Governor and Deputy Governor and they
both appointed in terms of Section 10 of
CBS Order 1974. Their appointments are

The Bank operated with a full board for most of
the period under review with one vacant seat
in the composition of the Board in terms of the
CBS Order.

the
are
the
for

In the year under review the Board met six
times, with all meetings being held within the
statutory prescribed periods of at least one
meeting in two months.

28 Jul 2016

19 Sep 2016
(Special meeting)

29 Sep 2016

24 Nov 2016

26 Jan 2017

30 Mar 2017

Table 24: Frequency and Attendance of the Board Meetings, 2016/17

Mr. Majozi V. Sithole (Chairperson)

�

�

�

�

�

�

Mr. Mhlabuhlangene P. Dlamini

�

�

�

X

�

X

Mr. Bheki S. Bhembe

�

�

X

X

�

X

Professor Mike S. Matsebula

X

�

X

�

�

�

Dr. Sikhomba C. Gumbi

�

�

�

�

�

�

Dr. Khanyisile D. Dlamini

�

X

�

X

�

�

Mrs. Adelaide S. Dlamini

�

�

�

�

�

�

Mr. Daniel M. Shabangu

�

�

�

�

X

�

Board Member
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Dr. Sikhomba C. Gumbi

16 Mar 2017

(Special meeting)

24 Jan 2017

Remuneration Committee
Member

9 Sep 2016

Table 25: Frequency and Attendance of the
Remuneration Committee Meetings

�

�

�

Mr. Majozi V. Sithole

�

�

�

Mr. Mhlabuhlangene P. Dlamini

�

�

X

Mr. Bheki S. Bhembe

X

�

X

Mrs. Adelaide S. Dlamini

�

�

�

(Chairperson)
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Capital Projects Committee
Member

21 Mar 2017

Table 26: Frequency and Attendance of the
Capital Projects Committee Meetings

Professor Mike S. Matsebula (Chairperson)

X

Mr. Majozi V. Sithole

�

Mr. Mhlabuhlangene P. Dlamini

�

Mr. Bheki S. Bhembe

�

Dr. Khanyisile D. Dlamini

�

Dr. Sikhomba C. Gumbi (Actg. Chair)

�
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(Chairperson)

Mr. Majozi V. Sithole

9 Mar 2017

13 Jan 2017

10 Nov 2016

14 Oct 2016

� � � �
X

�

X

X

Mr. Mhlabuhlangene P. Dlamini � � � �
Professor Mike S.Matsebula

X

�

X

Dr. Khanyisile D. Dlamini

�

X

� �

Dr. Sikhomba C. Gumbi

� � � �

�

Table 28: Frequency and Attendance of the
Audit Committee Meetings
Audit Committee
Member
Dr. Khanyisile D. Dlamini
(Chairperson)

20 Mar 2017

In addition to the aforementioned control, is
the chairing of all the Board sub-committees
by independent non-executive directors and
the Governor only being an ordinary member
in all the sub-committees save for the Audit
Committee. These Committees had several
meetings during the 2016/17 financial year.

Mr. Daniel M. Shabangu

20 Jan 2017

The structure and composition of the Board
sub-committees is in line with international
corporate governance best practice obtaining in
Central Banks. The ratio of executive directors
to non-executive directors is weighted towards
non-executive directors which is generally
considered a balancing factor to the Board
Chairmanship of the Governor who is also the
Chief Executive Officer.

Risk & IT Committee
Member

11 Jan 2017

The Board is assisted by four sub-committees,
the Board Risk & IT Committee; Board Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Capital Projects Committee, which all have their
functions set-out in specific sub-committee
charters.

Table 27: Frequency and Attendance of the
Risk & IT Committee Meetings

27 Oct 2016

8.3 THE BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES

(Continued)

� � � �

Mr. Mhlabuhlangene P.
Dlamini

� � � �

Mrs. Adelaide S. Dlamini

� � � �

Mr. Daniel M. Shabangu

� � �

X

8.4 BOARD STATEMENT ON RISK
MANAGEMENT
The Board of Directors is responsible for Bankwide Risk Management. This oversight function
is exercised through the Board Risk and IT
Committee. The Committee comprises both
executive and non-executive board members
and is chaired by a non-executive director. The
risk management approach within the Bank
is primarily decentralized, with the Head of
Departments as risk owners, but day to day
coordination of the function is the responsibility
of the Risk Department. This approach to risk
management ensures that risk management is
embedded into the operations of the Bank and
reported accordingly.
In the course of the year, the Board reviewed
the terms of reference of the Board Risk and IT
Committee to include oversight responsibility
on governance of Information Technology.
Accordingly, the Committee is now called “The
Board Risk and IT Committee”. This was in
direct response to the emergence of cybercrime
as critical risk in the banking sector globally.
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This decision has brought the IT function
directly within the Board’s purview, increasing
accountability and control.
As much as possible, the Bank has invested
in IT systems for process automation. This is
designed to minimize people risk at all levels
and generally to improve risk management.
During the year, the Board approved a major
investment in an SAP ERP system. This system
comes with a GRC module for risk management.
Implementation of this project is expected to
be completed by November 2017. The project
value-adds include;
• Enhanced collaboration, productivity and
communication;
• Managed risk with increased accuracy;
• More effective responsiveness through
analytics;
• Reduced impact of loss events through early
mitigation; and
• Improved compliance, oversight and
disclosure.
Approved risk management tools and techniques
used by the Bank include a Loss Events data
base, Key Risk Indicators, Self-Assessments as
well as Value at Risk and Sensitivity Analysis.
The deployment of these tools is ongoing
throughout the Bank, with varying levels of
success. The Board remains committed to
the adoption and application of universally
acceptable techniques for this purpose. The
risk assessment process and framework adopted
by the Bank are consistent with the principles

of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO). There are
ongoing discussions to migrate to ISO 31000
certification and to adopt the principles of
“King IV” on Risk governance.
Finally, with respect to the risk of business
disruptions, a robust business continuity
program is now in place, with a fully resourced
disaster recovery site. A minor simulation test
for the site, including all key departments was
done during the year. Adjustments are being
made from lessons learned from this exercise
and a full bank-wide simulation is planned for
next year.
The Board is of the opinion that the Bank’s
risk governance is effective, responsive and
evolving. All risks are presently within set
appetites and the necessary adjustments and
investments have been made in anticipation of
emerging risks.
8.5 MONETARY POLICY CONSULTATIVE
COMMITTEE
Subordinate to the Board is the Monetary
Policy Consultative Committee (MPCC) which
is a Consultative Committee that the Governor
chairs and consults mainly but not exclusively,
on monetary policy decisions. The MPCC is
established in terms of the CBS (Amendment)
Act, 1/2004 with its members other than the
Governor appointed by the Minister of Finance.
The Committee decision on the monetary
stance is announced in the media at the end of
each bi-monthly meeting.

MPCC Member

20 May 2016

21 Jul 2016

23 Sep 2016

25 Nov 2016

25 Jan 2017

31 Mar 2017

Table 29: Frequency and Attendance of the MPCC Meetings, 2016/2017

Mr. Majozi V. Sithole (Chairperson)

�

�

�

�

�

�

Mr. Mhlabuhlangene P. Dlamini

X

�

X

�

�

X

Mr. Mfan’fikile E. Dlamini

�

�

�

�

�

�

Professor Mike S. Matsebula

�

X

�

X

�

�

Mr. Cleopas S. Dlamini

�

X

�

X

�

X

Mr. Muzikayise I. Dube

�

X

�

X

�

�

Mrs. Bongile P. Simelane

X

X

�

X

�

�

8.6 CONCLUDING STATEMENT
The Bank assesses the Bank’s governance
framework against best practises annually. This
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includes the principles and recommendations
set out in the King Reports and the Bank
Governing Statutes.
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9. CORPORATE STRATEGY
AND COMMUNICATION
9.1 STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION
The 2016/17 financial year marked the second
year of execution of the Bank’s three year
projects-based corporate strategic plan. The
latest end-of-year performance review which
was conducted in the last quarter of the year
ended 31st March 2017 gave the Bank good
indicators on whether positive progress was
achieved whilst executing the Bank’s strategic
plan.
9.2 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
In order to assess progress made in the
implementation of the strategy over the past
twelve months the Bank considered five (5)
indicators that would provide a solid guide.
These were variations in the SWOT analysis
position that had been determined at the
beginning of the year; how well the Bank
has achieved excellence and organizational
transformation in its processes; strived for
innovation and high performance; the top ten
(10) risks that would make it difficult to achieve
the aspirations of the strategy and finally,
benchmarks for measuring performance in the
various areas of operation.
9.3 PROGRESS MADE

68

9.3.1 SWOT Analysis
The Bank remained in a good position to
influence the financial sector in a positive
manner as a regulator and was still sitting at
the apex of the financial sector. This was still
a major strength for the Bank even during
the year under review. The list of internal
weaknesses was shorter though, with most of
the remaining items adequately covered in the
recommendations and plan of action for the
2017/18 financial year. There were also no new
threats facing the business, save for the obvious
consequences of unpredictable global economic
dynamics. The Bank noted an opportunity to
continue enhancing its legislative regulatory
space and be more innovative in dealing with
new developments like financial technology,
among many other opportunities.
9.3.2 Excellence and Organizational
Transformation
Having properly defined the meaning of
excellence and transformation in the context
of, the execution of strategic projects and
processes, it was noted that the Bank was on
the right direction. The ultimate targets have
not yet been met, but plans are in place for
implementing outstanding actions in the final
year.
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9.3.3 Innovation and High Performance
Since the formulation of the strategy in 2015 the
Bank introduced a number of programmes aimed
at enhancing a culture of high performance, the
main one being the Sishingishane Performance
Management System. The Bank was able to
introduce innovative products for stakeholders
during the year under review, particularly in
the currency portfolio. More initiatives are in
the pipeline for further innovative services and
products across all functions of the Bank.
9.3.4 Top 10 Risks
Top ten (10) risks were identified. The proper
management of these is critical in order for the
execution of the strategy to be successful. These
were generally classified into four (4) types of
risks being strategy risk (risks that affect or are
created by an organization’s business strategy
and strategic objectives); operational risk
(major risks that affect an organization’s ability
to execute its strategic plan; financial risk (areas
such as financial reporting, valuation, market,
liquidity and credit risks) and compliance risk
(legal and regulatory compliance). Out of these
four classes, the top ten risks were identified,
and converted into actionable plans.
9.3.5 Performance Standards
Finally, the Bank was able to adopt
internationally
recognised
performance
standards for all functions. This will further
enhance the culture of excellence and high
performance which is key in the vision of the
Bank.
9.4 BRANDING AND IMAGE
All initiatives across all functions of the Bank are
designed such that the functions complement
each other in fulfilling the mission of the
Bank (i.e. fostering financial sector stability
conducive to economic development within the
Kingdom of Swaziland).
As the various functions pursued their
initiatives under the new performance culture,
the quality of products and services provided
by the Bank to stakeholders improved. A public
perception survey undertaken during the period
under review indicated satisfactory levels by
stakeholders in terms of their appreciation of
the Bank’s operations. This performance culture
also impacted the level of publicity that the
Bank received over the period, with the Bank
attracting more positive publicity in the media
compared to previous years.
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10. FINANCIAL MARKETS DEPARTMENT
10.1 RESERVES MANAGEMENT
The level of gross official reserves was lower
over the financial year 2016/17 compared to
the level reached in 2015/16. The depletion in
level of reserves was a result of net outflows
over the year and revaluation losses as the
local currency appreciated. At the beginning of
each quarter when major inflows are received,
and gradually declining over the quarter as a
result of net outflows which mainly comprise of
Government payments and rand trades against
lilangeni with the local commercial banks.
The proportion of reserves held by external fund
managers increased to 20.0 per cent from 19.8
per cent the prior year as a result of growth
of funds under management. The currency
composition of the portfolio as at 31 March 2017
remains broadly exposed to South African Rand
at 59 per cent of the total portfolio, with US
Dollar making up 26 per cent, Special Drawing
Rights at (13 per cent) and other currencies at
2 per cent. The table below depicts the asset
class composition of investments.

Table 30: Asset Class Composition
Assets Class

Percentage Share

Cash

26%

Money Market

55%

Bonds

9%

Structured Instruments

10%

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland

The Capital Investment Fund, in the books of
the Central Bank decreased to E1.078 billion as
at 31 March 2017 from a level of E1.134 billion
at the end of March 2016. The fall is a result of
revaluation effects.
10.2 DOMESTIC DEBT MARKET
DEVELOPMENTS
10.2.1 Treasury Bills Portfolio
Treasury bills constitute 27 per cent of the total
domestic debt portfolio. Treasury bills Issuances continued in 2016/17 and were mainly used
to finance Government cash shortfalls.

Table 31: Treasury Bills Portfolio by Tenor as at 31 March 2017
Item

E’ Million

Closing Interest Rate (%)

% of Total

91 Days

751.22

7.932

45.3

182 Days

293.38

8.269

17.7

273 Days

308.09

8.406

18.6

364 Days

304.63

8.414

18.4

Total

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland

1,657.32

100.00%

Table 32: Treasury Bills Auction Performance for 2016/17
Tenor

E’ Million

Per cent (%)

Amount Offered

Bids Received

Bids Allotted

BTCR

AR

91-days paper

4,760

4,331.12

3,218.30

90.6

67.3

182-days paper

1,080

791.51

647.38

73.3

59.9

273-days paper

1,040

697.04

489.25

67.0

47.0

364-days paper

520

454.41

304.63

87.4

58.6

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland
Note: BTCR – Bid-to-cover ratio measured by bids received divide by amount offered
AR - Allotment ratio; measured by bids allotted divide by amount offered.

The highest average bid to cover ratio recorded
on the 91-days paper signalled a relatively
stronger demand for this short term paper as
seen with a corresponding higher allotment
ratio.

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

10.2.2 Treasury Bonds Portfolio
Treasury Bonds Listed on the Swaziland Stock
Exchange (SSX) make up 41.1 per cent of total
outstanding debt with fixed rate bonds covering
36.6 per cent and floating rate bond (prime
linked) taking up 4.5 per cent.
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FINANCIAL MARKETS DEPARTMENT (Continued)
Table 33: Treasury Bonds Portfolio Listed on SSX by Tenor as at 31 March 2017
Maturity

E’ Million

% of total

3 Year

395.82

15.8

5 Year

1, 035.14

41.5

7 Year

672.12

26.9

10 Year

395.09

15.8

2,498.17

100.00%

Total

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland

10.2.3 Private Placement Portfolio
Private Placement Portfolio consists mainly
of Suppliers Medium Term Notes ranging from

twelve (12) to sixty (60) months, which were
issued to finance outstanding Government
arrears to domestic suppliers.

Table 34: Private Placement Portfolio By Tenor as at 31 March 2017
Maturity

E’ Million

% of Total

12 Months

205.00

32.3

18 Months

175.00

27.6

24 Months

195.00

30.7

36 Months

30.00

4.7

60 Months
Total

30.00

4.7

635.00

100.00%

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland

Suppliers Bond make up E575 million of the total
of E635 million private placements portfolio.
Other private placements amounted to E60
million.
10.2.4 Medium to Long-term Auction
Performance for the Fiscal Year 2016/17
10.2.4.1 Government Bonds Auction
Performance
The 2016/17 Bond Issuance Programme was a

success as a total of E1.087 billion has been
raised which corresponds to an allotment
rate of 108.7 per cent considering that the
targeted amount sought was E1 billion. The
average bid to cover ratio on all the auctions
for Government Bonds hovers above 1, a signal
of a fairly positive appetite for Long-Term
Government paper observed in the 2016/17
fiscal year.  However, pricing remains a concern
as all the Bonds, but one, were cleared above
set coupon rates.

Table 35: Government Bonds Auction Performance for 2016/17
Fixed Coupon Bonds

70

Bond
Code

Issue Date

Coupon
Rate (%)

Issuance
Amount
(E’ Million)

SG024

May-2016

9.50

200.00

9.49

1.54

SG025

Jun-2016

10.00

178.05

10.24

1.31

5

SG027

Oct-2016

10.75

171.65

10.99

1.28

10

SG025

Dec-2016

10.00

169.24

10.38

1.38

5

SG029

Feb-2017

10.50

129.26

10.96

1.12

5

Total
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Weighted Average Bid Term to
Average
to Cover Maturity
Yield (%)
Ratio
3

848.20
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Floating Coupon Rate Bonds
Bond
Code

Issue Date

SG026

Coupon
Rate (%)

Aug-2016 Prime minus 150 bsp

Issuance
Amount
(E’ Million)

Weighted
Average
Yield (%)

Average Bid Term to
to Cover
Maturity
Ratio

178.65

9.978

1.38

7

9.50

1.00

2

Private Placement
SG028

Dec-2016

9.50

60.00

Grand Total

1,086.85

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland

10.2.4.4

Central Bank Advance to
Government
In accordance with the Central Bank of
Swaziland Order 1974, the Bank granted
temporary advances to Government totalling
to E1.1 billion in 2016/17. The Order stipulates
that the total amount that can be advanced
by the Bank to Government shall at no time
exceed 20 per cent of average ordinary revenue
of Government for the last three fiscal years for
which accounts are available.

10.2.4.2 Suppliers Medium Term Notes
The pursuit of expansionary fiscal policy has
resulted in accumulation of domestic arrears
to Government suppliers. In trying to address
the situation, the Bank, in consultation with
Government, initiated a programme (Suppliers
Medium Term Notes Programme) to settle
arrears at the earliest possible time. This was
all done through Private Placements. Financial
Institutions were engaged and as at 31st March
2017, a total of E575 million has been raised
which was solely used to pay arrears to minimise
prolonged periods of unsettled bills which can
translate into business failure.

10.2.5 Bonds Maturity Profile
The Government Bonds Maturity Profile
entails; Listed bonds, Private placements and
Promissory notes.   The maturity profile of
debt is a key component of the sustainability
of Government debt. The objective is to
manage cash flow demands at any period
within acceptable limits. Upcoming issuances
are planned in consideration of not only the
cost implications but also the concentration
or volume of Government commitments within
any fiscal period.

10.2.4.3 Promissory Notes
In recognition of outstanding payments to
private companies in respect of services
rendered, the Government issued Promissory
Notes amounting to E184.5 million to these
companies with agreed payment terms.

Figure 18: Government Bonds Maturity Profile as at 31 March 2017
700

700

600
600

E’ Million

E' Million

500
500
400
400
300
300
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200
200
100
100

Bond Maturities, Nominal Value

2026/27

2026/27

Coupon Payments

2025/26

2025/26

2024/25

2024/25

2023/24

2023/24

Bonds Maturities, Nominal Value

2022/23

2022/23

2021/22

2021/22

2020/21

2020/21

2019/20

2019/20

2018/19

2018/19

2017/18

2017/18

-0

Coupon Payments

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland
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10.2.6 Government Bonds Issuance Plan for 2017/2018
Following Government’s indication to run a
budget deficit of E4.84 billion in 2017/18, part
of which is to be financed through domestic
borrowing, Government has published an
auction calendar for the fiscal year 2017/18, in
order to keep the market abreast of planned
domestic issuances.

Two (2) Issuance Programmes will be undertaken
in the short-medium term, comprising of a
E2 billion Normal Issuance Programme aimed
towards budgetary support and an inaugural E2
billion Infrastructure Bond Programme aimed at
financing specific capital projects in the Roads,
Energy, Agriculture and Health Sectors.

Table 36: 2017/2018 Issuance Calendar; Normal Bond Issuance Programme
Quarter

Month

Bond

Tenure

Maturity
Date

Issuance

Amount On Offer
(E’ Million)

1

28-Apr-17

SG029

5 - Years

28-Feb-22 Re-opening

150

1

30-Jun-17

SG030

7 - Years

30-Jun-24

IPO

150

2

31-Aug-17

SG027

10 - Years

31-Oct-26 Re-opening

150

4

31-Jan-18

SG031

7 - Years

31-Jan-25

150

IPO

Total

600

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland

Table 37: 2017/2018 Issuance Calendar; Infrastructure Bond Programme
Quarter

Month

Bond

Tenure

Maturity
Date

Issuance

Amount On Offer
(E’Million)

2

31-Jul-17

SG032

5 - Years

31-Jul-22

IPO

150

3

31-Oct-17

SG033

8 - Years

31-Oct-25

IPO

150

3

31-Dec-17

SG034

9 - Years

31-Dec-26

IPO

150

4

31-Mar-18

SG035

10 - Years

31-Mar-28

IPO

150

Total

600

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland

11. OPERATIONS DEPARTMENT
There are four subdivisions under this
department namely; Banking, Currency,
Development Finance and Information &
Communications Technology Divisions.
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11.1 BANKING DIVISION
The provision of banking services to commercial
banks and Government was successfully carried
out during the period 1st April 2016 to 31st March
2017.
11.1.1 Back Office – Clearing Section
The Bank’s clearing section processed a total
of 124,935 local cheques valued at E869.8
million during the period under review. Inward
clearing cheques totalled 119,390 valued at
E770 million whilst outward clearances totalled
5,545 cheques valued at E99 million.
Government credit Electronic Fund Transfers
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processed during the reporting period totalled
2,059 with a total value of E157 million.
A total of 2,555 real time gross settlement
transactions were processed during the year
under review valued at E24.7 billion.
11.1.2

Front Office – Cash & Foreign
Exchange Section
The Bank’s Teller Counter Section paid out
26,451 cheques valued at E164 million in the
period under review reflecting an increase of
40.4 per cent from the previous year’s figure.
The section received 5,923 cash deposits valued
at E166 million during the period under review.
The Bank’s Foreign Exchange Counter handled
deals valued at E29.4 million for USD, Euro,
GBP Bank notes, which represented a 31.3 per
cent increase from the previous year. Foreign
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OPERATIONS DEPARTMENT (Continued)
currency sales totalled E24.8 million whilst
purchases totalled E4.6 million during the year
under review. Foreign bills sent for collection
were 23 with a total value of E99 million in
2016/17.

was issued during 1st April 2016 to 31st March
2017. The highest consumption was in the
month of December as it stood at E593 million
composed of E125 million new notes and E468
million re-issuable notes.

11.2

The lowest consumption was in the month of
April which stood at E368.8 million where E1.5
million new notes and E367.3 million re-issuable
notes were issued.

CURRENCY DIVISION

11.2.1 Emalangeni Notes Issued
A total of E5.73 billion consisting of E360 million
new notes and E5.37 billion re-issuable notes

Table 38: Schedule of Notes and Coins Consumption, 2016/17
SZL Notes E’000
Period

ZAR Notes
R’000

SZL Coins

New

Re-issue

Total

New

Re-issue

Total

Re-issue

Q1

25,500

1,166,760

1,192,260

5,028,000

2,311,600

7,339,600

117,220

Q2

127,500

1,452,080

1,579,580

11,437,900

583,650

12,021,550

128,520

Q3

202,500

1,394,220

1,596,720

7,572,350

4,631,000

12,203,350

159,800

Q4

4,500

1,359,960

1,364,460

390,600

5,410,750

5,801,350

127,350

12,937,000 37,365,850

532,890

Total

360,000 5,373,020 5,733,020 24,428,850

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland

11.2.2 Coins Issued
A total of E37.4 million coins were issued during
the 2016/17 financial year. This consumption
was made up of E24.4 million new coins and
E12.9 million re-issuable coins.   September
recorded the highest issuance of coins standing
at E6.5 million comprising E6.5 million new
coins and E0.3 million re-issuable coins.
February recorded the lowest consumption of
coins amounting to E1.8 million.
11.2.3 Rands Notes Issued
A total of R533 million re-issuable notes were
issued during 1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017.
December recorded the highest issuance at
R73.5 million while March recorded the least
issuance at R26.7 million.
11.2.4 Deposited Currency and Notes
Processed
A total of E5.6 billion notes were deposited
from 1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017. January
recorded the highest deposits which stood
at E623.6 million.   The lowest deposits
were recorded in April amounting to E356.9
million. A total of E32.7 million worth of coins
were deposited in the period under review.
September recorded the highest coin deposits
at E5.7 million while February recorded the
lowest coin deposits at E1.4 million.
E5.8 billion worth of notes were processed
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during 1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017.  January
recorded the highest notes processed amounting
to E596 million whilst April recorded the least
processed notes amounting at E423 million.
11.2.5 Shredded and Destroyed Notes
Out of E5.8 billion worth of notes processed
a total of E310 million worth of notes were
destroyed through on line shredding by the
DLR7000 and BPS M7 Note Processors during the
reporting period from 1st April 2016 to 31st March
2017. The highest destruction was recorded in
April amounting to E35.9 million while February
recorded the least destruction standing at
E12.2 million.
11.2.6 Rands Deposited, Processed and
Repatriated
A total of R1.37 billion Rands were deposited
in the period from 1st April 2016 to 31st March
2017.   The highest deposits of E189.8 million
were recorded in December whilst the least
deposit of R89.6 million was made in March.
A total of R1.35 billion were processed on the
BPS M7 and R901.6 million bank notes declared
unfit were repatriated to the South African
Reserve Bank in the reporting period. May
recorded the highest repatriation amounting to
R139.5 million and the lowest repatriation was
in December standing at R12.5 million.
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Table 39: Rands Deposited and Repatriated (ZAR’000), 2016/17
Deposits

Repatriation

Period

2015/16

2016/17

2015/16

2016/17

Q1

250,990

330,530

249,000

260,500

Q2

265,120

302,160

157,450

207,600

Q3

262,480

456,242

260,000

143,500

Q4

266,340

279,246

280,000

290,000

1,044,930

1,368,178

946,450

901,600

Total

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland

11.2.7 Currency in Circulation (By Denomination)
DENOMINATION

31/03/2016

31/03/2017

E200

538 770

589 806

E100

97 113

80 922

E50

75 854

76 947

E20

41 670

46 217

E10

22 739

23 649

E5

1 249

1 249

E2

1 184

1 184

NOTES (E’000)

E1

342

342

778 921

820 316

E5

17 447

17 950

E2

14 996

16 382

E1

13 655

14 523

50c

4 418

4 653

20c

4 338

4 364

10c

4 131

4 476

5c

5 994

5 857

2c

230

230

1c

685

685

65 894

69 120

844 815

889 436

TOTAL NOTES
COINS

TOTAL COINS
TOTAL NOTES & COINS

Source: Central Bank of Swaziland
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11.2.8 New Coins Series
As part of its mandate, the Bank rolled out
new series of coins in February 2016. The Bank
issued out two Legal Notices which came into
force from 1st September 2016.
Legal Notice No. 147 of 2016 “The Withdrawal
of Currency (Coins) Notice 2016”, stipulates the
old coin series shall cease to be legal tender in
the Kingdom of Swaziland from 1st September
2017. The Legal Notice further stipulates that
all withdrawn coins shall be exchanged on

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

demand without any charge for note and coins
equivalent at the Central Bank of Swaziland or
any other local agencies approved by the Ministry
of Finance with effect from 1st September 2016
to 31st August 2021. The Legal Notice further
states that 5c is excluded from the recall and
shall continue in circulation and remain legal
tender in the Kingdom of Swaziland.
Legal Notice No. 148 of 2016 “The Manufacture
and Characteristics of New Currency (Coins)
Notice 2016” stipulates the characteristics of
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the new coin series, dimension, size, material,
and features.
11.2.9 Old Coin Series
The Bank engaged in the Old Coin Series
Collection Project after the release of the new
coin series in February 2016. The Bank sent out
notices to the public and commercial banks
stipulating that the coin series (dated 2013 and
backwards) of the 10c, 20c, 50c, E1, E2 and
E5 denominations shall cease to be issued as
medium of exchange effective 1st September
2016, as these have been replaced by the new
series of the same denominations dated 2015.
The communications also clearly stated that 5c
is excluded from the recall and shall continue
in circulation and remain legal tender in the
Kingdom of Swaziland.
To expedite the old coin collection exercise,
the Central Bank of Swaziland signed a
Memorandum of Understanding with Swaziland
Post & Telecoms Corporation (SPTC) for the
usage of their Post Offices countrywide as
collection points for the old coins.
11.2.10 Coin Destruction
Following the withdrawal of the old coin series
from circulation, the Bank has commenced a
coin destruction project. The Project will be
completed within the 2017/18 financial year.
11.2.11 Commemorative Coins
The Bank has implemented a commemorative
coins’ project for the country’s 50th
Independence Anniversary which will be
celebrated in 2018. The official launch for
the commemorative coin design competition
was conducted in November 2016 and this was
targeting school going children from the ages of
6 – 16 years.
11.2.12 New Notes
The Bank has completed the approval process
of the new E100 and E200 and the new notes
will be launched by end of 2017. These new
notes come with a different design, colour
and additional security features. With respect
to the new E10, the release into circulation is
planned for August 2017.
11.3

DEVELOPMENT FINANCE

11.3.1 Overview
During the year, participation of individual
commercial banks under the Small Scale
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Enterprise Loan Guarantee Scheme (SSELGS)
declined significantly when compared to the
previous year. The Export Credit Guarantee
Scheme (ECGS) however continued to be
stagnant over the year.
The Bank participated in various promotional
campaigns like the International Trade Fair and
workshops to disseminate information on how
to access finance under the guarantee schemes.
During the year there were numerous
consultative meetings between Government,
the Micro Finance Unit, the Bank as well as other
small and medium enterprises stakeholders.
One of the major issues discussed was, how
best can the schemes be managed and utilized
for better performance and effective impact in
the development of Swaziland’s economy.
During the year, the Government of Swaziland
recapitalized the SSELGS to the tune of E5.0
million to ensure that the scheme continues to
facilitate granting of loans by the participating
financial institutions through issuance of credit
guarantees. The Bank in collaboration with
the Ministry of Commerce, Trade and Industry
continued to monitor the performance of the
schemes over the year, in particular the SSELGS.
The operational activities of the two schemes
presently administered by Central Bank are
summarized below.
11.3.2 Small Scale Enterprise Loan Guarantee
Scheme
The overall performance of the SSELGS declined
over the year when compared to the year ended
31st March 2016. This is indicated by the huge
decrease of guarantees issued from 79 valued
E12.6 million to 35 amounting to E5.5 million
as at 31st March 2017. This can be attributed to
the low number of applications for guarantees
submitted by the participating financial
institutions. Cumulatively, from inception to
31st March 2017, the SSELGS facilitated the
approval and disbursement of 1,201 loans
amounting E100.8 million. As at 31st March 2016
the total loans were 1,166 valued at E95.3
million thus signifying growth year on year.
The guarantees issued by the scheme to
facilitate the disbursement by financial
institutions of the 35 new loans valued at E5.5
million amounted to E4.8 million for the whole
year. At the end of March 2017, the SSELGS
commitment to financial institutions stood at
261 guarantees amounting to E30.7 million.  
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Figure 19: Loans Disbursed and Guarantees Outstanding; March 1991 to March 2017
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The total loans which were either fully repaid
or cancelled increased from 913 amounting
to E54.0 million as at 31st March, 2016 to 940
valued at E65.2 million as at 31st March 2017.
Loans outstanding stood at 261 amounting to
E35.6 million as at 31st March 2017 versus 253
loans outstanding at the end of March 2016
valued at E41.3 million.
As at 31st March 2017 a cumulative total of E4.1
million due to defaults was written off as a loss
by the Scheme. The claims paid increased from
E4.0 million as at 31st March 2016 to E4.1 million
as at 31st March 2017; although the default rate
decreased from 5.6 per cent to 5.2 per cent
respectively due to the increase in guarantees
issued during the year. The recoveries made
from claims settled stood at a meagre E0.07
million as at 31st March 2017 with no changes
during the year.
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In terms of industry performance, the smallscale businesses continued to be dominated
by the retail and services sector whilst
transportation, manufacturing, agriculture and
other industries still lagged behind.
11.3.3 Export Credit Guarantee Scheme
The Export Credit Guarantee Scheme (ECGS)
continued to be stagnant during the year. This
is because the scheme has not been receiving
guarantee applications from the various
commercial banks, which brings the scheme’s
sustainability into question as currently it does
not generate adequate income. The only income
generated is from short-term investments as no
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premium income is made by the scheme in the
absence of guarantees issued.
11.4 INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATIONS
TECHNOLOGY DIVISION
11.4.1 SAP Enterprise Resource Planning
System Update
In 2015, the Bank conducted a corporate
strategy development exercise, with a view
to formulate a revised vision and mission for
the Bank. One of the outcomes was a strategic
objective that aims to foster operational
efficiency through modernization of systems,
processes and automation. A modernization
project was then sanctioned with several
sub-projects aimed at leveraging technology
to improve the business processes. The final
decision was for the implementation of an
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system.
The rationale for implementing an ERP System
as a migration from the disparate standalone
systems is that an ERP offers:
• A single source of information and business
data as data is shared across the various
modules, resulting in improved accuracy
and enhanced decision making;
• A simplified IT environment, with
reduced system interfaces and improved
information security;
• Reduction in diverse specialist skills
amongst the support team therefore
• enabling continuity; and
• Modernization, improved operational
efficiencies and enterprise wide reporting
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due to the end-to- end business processes
covered by the ERP.
In September 2016, the Board approved
Management’s
recommendation
for
the
selection of SAP as the technology of choice
for delivery of the ERP objective. The primary
drivers for the SAP selection were; SAP’s
impressive global and regional track record and
lower total cost of ownership (TCO) for such a
best-in- class ERP.
In the third quarter of the reporting period, the
SAP ERP implementation project commenced
with Ernest & Young (EY) as the Bank’s
implementation partner. This project is now
referred to as #Insika within the Bank. The
approved project plan set very aggressive
timelines with a go-live date set for 1st November
2017.

As at the close of the financial year ended March
2017, the #Insika Project status was on track,
wherein the detailed scope of the project had
been defined, the physical ICT infrastructure
and SAP software was being installed and a
committed team comprising the Bank staff and
EY team were defining and configuring SAP for
the Bank’s environment.
The SAP launch took place on 12th April, 2017
and was headlined with its official name and
catch phrase ‘INSIKA…. Connected, Faster,
Safer.
With a dedicated ERP Project Steering
Committee driving the project governance,
commitment from staff and the implementation
partner, there is high confidence that the
project will be delivered successfully.

12. REPORT ON NATIONAL PAYMENTS
AND SETTLEMENTS SYSTEMS
12.1 INTRODUCTION
The Bank is responsible for supporting financial
stability and to facilitate economic activity
through safe, efficient and effective payment
systems. Safety and efficiency in payment
systems requires that payments are carried out
timely, securely and effectively. The role of the
Bank is executed through promotion, regulation
and supervision of payment systems with the
prime aim of mitigating risks associated with
operations of domestic and cross border
payment systems.
The main payment systems during the period
under review were the Swaziland Interbank
Payment & Settlement System (SWIPSS/
Masheshisa) operated by the Central Bank of
Swaziland (CBS) that is internationally referred
to as the “Real Time Gross Settlement System”
(RTGS), the cheque and Electronic Funds
Transfers (EFTs) processing system operated by
the Swaziland Automated Electronic Clearing
House, the Mobile Money Transfer System
operated by Swazi MTN Limited and the SADC
Integrated Regional Electronic Settlement
System (SIRESS) presently operated by the
South African Reserve Bank.
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12.2 CENTRAL BANK OVERSIGHT OF
PAYMENT SYSTEMS
According to the mandate of the CBS and in
order to ensure that systems comply not only
with applicable domestic rules and procedures
and also with international standards and best
practice, oversight of payment systems is
imperative. In this regard, the Bank continued
to monitor and conduct inspections on
designated payment systems during the period
under review.
No issues were reported from the payment
system oversight function. The inspections are
conducted to satisfy public policy objectives
of ensuring safety and efficiency not only in
the payment systems but also in the financial
system as a whole. As disruptions in payment
systems have a potential to permeate through
to other areas of the national economy including
the financial system, it remained important to
safeguard both payment and financial systems
from systemic disturbances and risk.
The Bank also conducted inspection of
operations under the Mobile Money Transfer
(MMT) system during the period under review.
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The operations of the MMT System were found
compliant to the terms and conditions issued by
the Central Bank of Swaziland. Risk mitigation
measures and operational rules and procedures
were found satisfactory during the reporting
period.
12.3 OPERATIONAL ACTIVITIES
The Automated Clearing House (ACH) and
Swaziland Interbank Payment and Settlement
System (SWIPSS) continued to operate smoothly
during the period under review. In line with
international best practice, large value items
continued to be characterized by low volumes
in SWIPSS while activities at the ACH continued
to record high volumes of low value items.
Usage of the Mobile Money Transfer System
also continued to rise during the period under
review. The Bank views mobile financial services
as products that can change the payment
systems landscape in Swaziland particularly
in view of the potential to facilitate access to
financial systems for the unbanked and underbanked users.
12.4 CROSS-BORDER PAYMENTS
During the period under review, the SADC
Integrated Regional Electronic Settlement
System (SIRESS) continued to operate smoothly.
By the end of March 2017, there were 83
participants made up of 7 Central Banks
and 76 Commercial Banks from 14 Member
States. Madagascar has indicated interest and
has started working on the requirements to
facilitate systems connectivity. The Central

Bank of Swaziland and all four (4) commercial
banks are active participants in the SADC
regional payment system.
12.5 FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
The Central Bank of Swaziland in conjunction
with commercial banks are working on
settlement of cross-border retail payment
streams in the SADC region. This would
be facilitated through channelling these
transactions through a Regional Clearing and
Settlement Operator. Priority had been given to
Low Value Cross-border Credit Electronic Funds
Transfers and scheduled for full implementation
by July 2018, that is, data capture, clearing,
batching and channelled to SIRESS for
settlement. Presently, these transactions are
processed through correspondent arrangements
and processed as domestic transactions in
the South African jurisdiction. In this way,
transparency and reporting has been the main
challenge that required redress henceforth the
need for reform.
On another front, the Bank continues to monitor
and encourage innovation in the payment
systems space that are expected to come with
new products and financial services to meet
client needs and to grow financial inclusion
in the payment systems landscape. These
developments include and extend government
payments and cross border remittances.
Inevitably, the Bank is cognizant that these
developments would require proportionate
review of supporting legal framework.

13. BANK SUPERVISION

78

13.1 INTRODUCTION
During the year 2016/17, the Southern African
region experienced one of the worst drought
ever and Swaziland in particular was not
spared from the effects of the drought. The
agricultural sector which was hit the hardest
saw a significant decline in its annual output
and this had a ripple effect on the banking
sector as the agricultural sector is one of the
main contributors to Swaziland’s GDP. The
Central Bank of Swaziland, which is tasked with
the responsibility of overseeing the prudential
management of banking institutions in order
to protect the stability and soundness of the
financial system, continued to closely monitor
the situation to ensure that it has minimal
impact on the banking industry. The Bank
remains committed to constantly improving the
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level of banking supervision to cope with global
and domestic changes in the banking sector.
13.2 OVERVIEW OF THE BANKING SYSTEM
As at 31st March 2017, the banking sector of the
country remained with the four (4) commercial
banks, three (3) of which are subsidiaries of South
African holding companies and one (1) which is
fully owned by the Swaziland Government. The
commercial banks are Standard Bank Swaziland
Limited, Nedbank (Swaziland) Limited, First
National Bank of Swaziland and Swaziland
Development and Savings Bank. Swaziland
Building Society is also a significant depository
institution in the domestic banking sector due
to its product offering and will be included
in this paper albeit classified as a Non-Bank
Financial Institution.
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Table 40: Banks’ Shareholding as at 31 March 2017
Shareholding (Per cent)
Institution

Swaziland Government

Foreign

Public

-

100

-

23.0

67

10

Standard Bank Swaziland Limited

27.78

72.22

-

Swaziland Development and Savings Bank

100.0

-

-

-

-

100

First National Bank Swaziland Limited
Nedbank (Swaziland) Limited

Swaziland Building Society
Source: Central Bank of Swaziland

13.3 PERFORMANCE OF THE BANKING
SECTOR
13.3.1 Balance Sheet Structure
The total bank assets exhibited a constant
growth over the past 5 years with the highest
growth of about 18 per cent realised in the
2015/16 financial year. The growth in assets
was favourable given that it was accompanied
by a relatively decreasing net profit and loss
to total loans ratio (with the exception of the
2016/17 financial year), averaging 8 per cent
over the past 5 years. The total assets stood
at E17.9 billion as at 31st March 2017, a 5 per
cent growth relative to 2016. The industry loan
book represents 66 per cent of the total assets
compared to 64 per cent in 2016, an increase
of 4 percentage points. This increase indicates
a proportional increase in other bank asset
classes. The highest component of the assets
was in loans and advances and represented 62
per cent in 2017 compared 61 per cent in 2016.
Investments stood at E2.8 billion in 2017
compared to E2.3 billion in 2016. Investments
and due from banks represented the second
and third largest component of assets in 2017
respectively while in 2016, the opposite was
true.
The industry liabilities were mainly made
up of deposits at 92 per cent as at 31st March
2017 and the loan to deposit ratio stood at 85
per cent compared to 87 per cent in 2016, a
marginal improvement of 2 percentage points.
This means that the loans are wholly funded
by the bank deposits and this trend persisted
over the current and previous period. Fixed
assets and other assets constituted 2 per cent
and 4 per cent of assets respectively while Due
to banks and other liabilities represented 2
per cent and 6 per cent as at 31st March 2017.
A closer analysis of the composition of the
industry deposits for the period under review
reveal that with time deposits constituted the
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highest proportion at 55 per cent while demand
and savings deposits constituted 33 per cent
and 12 per cent respectively.
The industry capital and reserves stood at E3.6
billion as at 31st March 2017, up from E3.3 billion
in 31st March 2016. This represents an increase
of 9 per cent year-on-year. The debt to equity
ratio decreased over the two years from 4.2 in
2016 to 3.9 reflecting a marginal decrease in
leverage ratio. Retained earnings represented
the highest portion of capital at 65 per cent
and 70 per cent in 2016 and 2017 respectively
while statutory reserves had the second largest
portion at 8 per cent and 10 per cent in the
same period. The industry was considered well
capitalized as the risk based adequacy ratio
stood at 27 per cent, well above the prescribed
minimum capital adequacy ratio of 8 per cent.
The banking industry remained profitable
however there was a significant drop in return
on equity from 22 per cent in 2016 to 4 per
cent in 2017. This is indicative of the severe
impact that the drought had to the profitability
of the banking industry during the period
under review. This decline may not only be
attributable solely to the drought but also the
high interest rates driven by high inflation levels
which characterised the 2016/17 financial year.
This is further supported by the sudden upsurge
of the non-performing loans to loans ratio from
5.75 per cent in 2016 to 10.25 per cent in 2017.
13.3.2 Capital Adequacy
Capital requirements foster the safety and
soundness of banks by limiting leverage and by
providing a buffer against unexpected losses.
Strong capital adequacy therefore provides a
safety net for depositors and promotes public
confidence in the banking industry. The banks
in the country continued to maintain their
Tier 1 capital ratio and total capital above the
minimum statutory requirement of 4 per cent
and 8 per cent respectively.
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As at 31st March 2017, capital and reserves
held by the banking sector amounted to E3.6
billion, up from E3.3 billion as at 31st March
2016 showing an increase of 9 per cent. The
total capital ratio of the industry stood at 27
per cent at 31st March 2017 from 26 per cent at
31st March 2016 indicating a marginal increase
of 1 percentage point. Tier 1 capital stood at 25
per cent as at 31st March 2017, up from 23 per
cent at 31st March 2016.
13.3.3 Earnings Performance
The continued viability of a financial institution
depends on its ability to generate appropriate
return on its assets and capital. Good earnings
performance enables a financial institution to
fund its expansion, remain competitive and
augment its capital base. Earnings are therefore
the primary source of any increases in capital.
Net income before tax decreased drastically by
72 per cent during the year under review from
E492 million in 2016 to E139 million in 2017.
This can be attributable to the severe drought
that had an effect on economic growth, the
high volatility that characterised the foreign
exchange market, high inflation levels leading
to high interest rates which sometimes result in
defaults on credit and high NPLs. Consequently,
the return on equity dropped from 22 per cent
in 2016 to 4 per cent in 2017 while cost to
income ratio increased from 54.9 per cent to 72
per cent during the period under review. The
bank is still to assess the impact of Legal Notice
no. 62 of 2016 to see it is already a factor in the
decline in earnings within the banking sector.
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13.3.4 Asset Quality
Deterioration of asset quality may result in an
upsurge in the volume of non-performing loans
and advances which could cause a decline in
interest income. A review of asset quality dwells
much on the assessment of loans and advances
as they form a major portion of the asset
structure. Also, loans and advances present the
greatest credit risk and potential loss to banks.
The quality of banks assets is also assessed by
tracking the levels, trends and compositions
of accounts in arrears, provisions and credit
concentrations.
Total gross loans in the banking industry
amounted to E11.8 billion in the year under
review from E11.0 billion the previous year
representing a growth rate of 7 per cent.
General provisions and specific provisions
stood at 1.3 per cent and 1.8 per cent during
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the year under review. Non-performing loans
and advances expressed as a percentage of
gross loans was recorded at 10.25 per cent as
at 31st March 2017 representing a significant
deterioration relative to 5.75 per cent recorded
at 31st March 2016.
13.3.5 Liquidity Management
Liquidity is one of the fundamental aspects
used to determine the soundness of the banks.
Several indicators show that the Swaziland
banking sector had sufficient liquid assets and
that these are continuously maintained at
healthy levels with liquid assets to deposits
higher than the minimum statutory requirement
of 25 per cent. The liquidity ratio for 31st March
2017 stood at 27.26 per cent from 26.26 per cent
at 31st March 2016, well above the prescribed
statutory minimum liquidity ratio.
In line with the Bank’s mandate of promoting
a sound and safe banking system and ensuring
confidence in the domestic banking sector, the
Central Bank increased the minimum liquidity
requirement for the banking system, effective
1st July 2016 to 22 per cent for Development
Banks and 25 per cent for all other banks. The
banking sector remains compliant with the new
requirements and maintain sufficient buffers
to protect themselves in times of financial
distress.
13.4 OFF-SITE SURVEILLANCE
A reliable and financially sound banking sector
is an essential prerequisite for a country’s
financial stability and economic growth. For this
reason, continual monitoring and examining the
financial condition of banks is of great interest
to regulatory authorities throughout the world.
Since on-site examinations require substantial
amounts of time and resources and thus cannot
be carried out very frequently, off-site analyses
play a major role in the supervision process.
The main purpose of the off-site monitoring
function is to study and analyse the financial
data of each of the banking institutions
to ensure the soundness of their financial
positions and to monitor phenomena or trends
whose emergence calls for issuing relevant
recommendations and or remedial actions. The
Bank continues to receive financial and nonfinancial information from banks on a frequent
basis through Bank Supervision Application and
then prepares periodic reports on the trends in
the financial position and results of activities of
each bank and on a consolidated basis.
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13.5 ON-SITE SUPERVISION
The Bank is mandated with the responsibility
to supervise the operations of the domestic
banking sector. Apart from its off-site work, the
Bank, pursuant to section 39 of the Financial
Institutions Act, 2005 conducts routine
examinations in order to gain full understanding
of the operations taking place and assess
operational procedures and processes, to
identify key risks that banks are faced with
and the risk management systems in place to
mitigate the identified risks.
Based on the Risk Based Supervision approach,
the Bank conducted two targeted on-site
inspections for Standard Bank and Nedbank
during the period under review.
13.6 REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS
The Bank continued to strive for better ways
of improving its supervisory oversight and a
number of significant milestones were achieved
and some still underway. The following is a list
of the activities and policy changes that were
initiated by the Bank during the year;
13.6.1 Legal Notice on Bank Charges
The Bank issued Legal Notice No. 62, 2016 which
came into force on 1st July 2016. The regulation
among other things prescribed for the capping
at zero of cash deposit fees, capping at E100
the penalty fee for dishonoured payments
and compelling banks to post their banking

fees and charges in their respective websites
and banking halls and further publish same
semi-annually in one of the widely circulating
newspapers in the country. The intervention
on the market disclosure regime is aimed at
fostering market discipline in the industry. The
Central Bank continues to monitor compliance
and the policy implications of the Legal Notice
on an on-going basis.
13.6.2 Basel II Implementation
The Bank has taken a strategic direction to
migrate to Basel II and is currently doing
preparatory work for the full implementation of
Basel II which is scheduled for 1st January 2018.
The Bank has finalized a draft guideline on Pillar
1 (minimum capital computation). Further, the
Bank is currently meeting with various key
strategic stakeholders, including banks, to
discuss in detail the fundamental aspects of
Basel II implementation in Swaziland.
13.6.3 IFRS 9 Implementation
In order to align its regulatory and supervisory
practices with other regimes like the new
accounting standard, IFRS 9, which outlines
the treatment of financial assets, the Bank
through the Policy and Enforcement Division
has developed industry guidelines which set out
the Bank’s policy in terms of IFRS 9. The new
standard will be effective on or after 1st January
2018.

14. EXCHANGE CONTROL AND
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING
14.1 EXCHANGE CONTROL
14.1.1 Applications Approved
During the period from 1st April, 2016 to 31st
March 2017, the Bank approved a total of 71
applications for foreign exchange transactions
with countries outside the Common Monetary
Area (CMA). The number of applications
approved decreased by 2.7 per cent from a
total of 73 approved in 2015/16. The amount of
foreign exchange involved was E13.449 billion
reflecting a decrease of 20.8 per cent when
compared with E16.983 billion approved in
2015/16. The monthly average for the period
was E1.121 billion compared with E1.415 billion
in 2015/16.
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Dividend plus profit transactions accounted
for E4.900 billion or 31.8 per cent of the total
amount of E15.419 billion approved by the Bank
for remittance outside the CMA.
14.1.2 Out Payments
Out payments totalling E11.807 billion were
made through the banking system and include
remittances for transactions approved by the
Bank. This figure shows an increase of 155.4
per cent when compared with E4.623 billion
transferred in 2015/16 period. The monthly
average for the period under review was E983.9
million compared with E385.2 million the
previous year.
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EXCHANGE CONTROL AND
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING
Payments for invisible goods/services accounted
for E4.472 billion or 37.9 per cent of total out
payments, a decrease of 53.6 per cent when
compared with E2.910 billion remitted during
the 2015/16 period.

under review, reflecting a decrease of 32.1
per cent when compared with E16.924 billion
received in 2015/16. The monthly average for
the period under review was E956.9 million.
Income from exports totalled E8.440 billion
reflecting a decrease of 5.1 per cent when
compared with E8.895 billion received from the
2015/16 period.

Payments for imports amounted to E7.336
billion denoting a significant increase from the
E1.712 billion recorded during the 2015/16
financial period.

The monthly average of export receipts for
the period under review was E703.3 million
compared with E741.3 million in 2015/16.

14.1.3 Import Permits Granted and Out
Payments
A total limit of E338.5 million was granted
for imports of goods covered in the country’s
negative list during the year under view,
denoting an increase of 55.4 per cent when
compared with E217.8 million recorded during
the 2015/16 financial period.

14.2 ANTI–MONEY LAUNDERING
14.2.1 Introduction
The Bank, continued with its objective of
maintaining the integrity of the financial system.
Identification of the inherent money laundering
and terrorist financing risks in the financial
industry topped the agenda list in the year
under review. To facilitate the identification of
the money laundering and terrorist financing
risks in the industry, the Bank phased in a risk
based approach to supervision. It is through
the identification and assessment of risks that
appropriate controls can be implemented and
adequate resources allocated to detecting
and deterring money laundering and terrorist
financing in the industry.

Out payments for imports totalled E7.336
billion. The variance between import permit
granted and actual payments was caused by
imports, which do not require an import permit
for importation into the country.
14.1.4 Analysis of Import Permits Granted
This section covers breakdown of import
permits granted by the Ministry of Finance for
the period under review. The highest allocation
was for machinery and transport equipment
which recorded E234.1 million or 69.2 per cent
of the total limit, followed by miscellaneous
manufactures which added up to E 103.9 million
and clothing totalling to 0.5 million.

14.2.2 Overview of the Regulated Industry
On the anti-money laundering and combatting
of terrorist financing front, the Bank regulates
the players in the banking financial industry.
These include banks, forex bureaus and money
remittance service providers.

14.1.5 Total in-Payment
Total receipts of foreign exchange from outside
the CMA were E11.483 billion during the year
Table 41: Regulated Entities as at 31 March 2017
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Authorized Dealers

Forex Bureaus

Money Remittance
Service Providers

First National Bank

Interchange

MTN

Standard Bank

Swaziland Building Society

Shoprite

Swazi Development and Savings Bank
Nedbank
Source: Central Bank of Swaziland
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EXCHANGE CONTROL AND
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING (Continued)
14.2.3 Regulatory Developments
14.2.3.1 Risk Based Approach
The Bank phased in the risk based approach to
supervision by directing financial institutions
to conduct money laundering and terrorist
financing risk assessments. As part of the
exercise, banks were expected to develop
money laundering and terrorist financing risk
management frameworks and thereafter submit
quarterly risk assessment reports beginning
from the quarter that ended on 30th June 2016.
As at 31st March 2017, only one bank had
managed to meet full compliance by developing
a risk assessment framework and conducting a
satisfactory risk assessment.
The Bank continues to provide guidance to the
financial institutions to ensure compliance with
the directive to conduct risk assessments and
steady progress has been noted. Preliminary
risk assessments have been conducted and the
development of risk management framework
by financial institutions is ongoing. It transpired
that the preparatory phase of adopting Risk
Based Approach was more intensive than
originally envisaged which therefore led to the
extension of the implementation deadline.
14.2.3.2 Inspections
In the year under review, the Bank strategically
halted all onsite inspections to allow the
phasing in of the risk based approach. Offsite
inspections continued nonetheless and were
conducted on all four (4) financial institutions
through the quarterly risk assessments. Areas of
specific concern were covered through targeted
ad-hoc onsite inspections. The Bank also
reviewed Post Inspection Remedial Action Plans
of two (2) banks on which onsite inspections
had been conducted in the previous year. This
ensures effective implementation of postinspection recommendations.
Another area of dedicated focus was on new
players in the market on which close offsite
monitoring and guidance was ensured. Offsite
inspections enable the Bank to monitor the
adequacy and implementation of compliance
programmes developed by financial institutions.
14.2.3.3 Money Laundering and Terrorist
Financing (Prevention) Bill, 2015.
The Bank welcomed the promulgation of the Bill
to an Act in September 2016. The amendments
to the Money Laundering and Terrorist
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Financing (Prevention) Act, 2011, in relevant
part, introduced the risk based approach in
the implementation of anti-money laundering
and countering of terrorist financing control
and empowered supervisory authorities to issue
administrative sanctions. The Amendment Act
entrenched the Bank’s strategic objective of
implementing a risk based approach and also
enhanced the enforcement powers of the Bank.
14.2.3.4 Anti-Money Laundering (United
Nations Security Council Resolutions)
Regulations, 2016
The Regulations enacted in August 2016 establish
the structures for the implementation of the
United Nations Security Council Resolutions
1267, 1373 and ancillary resolutions. There
Resolutions require financial institutions to
freeze without delay assets of prescribed
entities and individuals involved in financing
terrorist activities. The Regulations will guide
financial institutions as they thrive to comply
with the Resolutions and join the fight against
terrorist financing.
14.2.3.5 Administrative Sanctions
In the year under review, the Bank imposed
two (2) administrative sanctions on one bank.
The bank was fined for failure to submit an
application for approval for the preferred
candidate to assume the position of money
laundering compliance officer and for failure to
adequately conduct a fit and proper assessment
during the appointment of the compliance
officer.
The role of a compliance officer is crucial in a
compliance programme as the function requires
independence, competence and integrity from
the person occupying the position. The fitness
and probity of the candidate needs to be vetted
using robust structures as the candidate is
the pillar of the function over and above the
policies implemented.
14.2.3.6 Domestic Cooperation
The Bank is proud to have operationalized the
Memorandum of Understanding between the
Bank and the Financial Services Regulatory
Authority on anti-money laundering and
countering terrorist financing matters. A
technical working group between the two
supervisors was established and Terms of
Reference guiding its operation have been
drafted. They are yet to be tabled before the
principals of the two supervisors for approval.
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EXCHANGE CONTROL AND
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING
We look forward to a good working relationship
on matters of common interest with the
Financial Services Regulatory Authority.
14.2.4 National Risk Assessment
The country is conducting a National Risk
Assessment of the money laundering and
terrorist financing risks to which the country is
exposed. The unit is pleased to participate in the
exercise as the leader of the Banking sector. It is
more exciting to have the financial institutions
participate in the project as it gives them
hands-on experience in the identification of the
risk exposures of the sector and understanding
the national threats and vulnerabilities. The
project, which is expected to take 18 months,
will allow the Bank to understand the risks to
which the banking sector is exposed and how
they relate to the risk exposure of the country.
The results will guide the country as it formulates
policy and allocate resources appropriately in
the fight against money laundering and terrorist
financing. From a financial sector perspective,
the Bank will understand the risk exposures,
develop the appropriate supervisory tools, give
appropriate guidance to financial institutions
based on the risk in the banking sector and
allocate adequate resources in implementing
the supervisory tools developed. Through this
exercise, the banks will appreciate the risks
from a national level which will inform their
risk assessments and guide development of
mitigation controls.
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Conducting a national risk assessment also
positions the country for the 2019 mutual
evaluation exercise through which the country
will be assessed on the new methodology.
This is the peer review exercise through
which the country’s compliance to the FATF
40 Recommendations is assessed through
an assessment of all stakeholders as well
all underlying legislations. The last mutual
evaluation exercise was conducted in 2010.
14.2.5 Challenges
In the year under review, the Bank also faced
some obstacles as it rendered its service as
indicated below:
14.2.5.1 Supervisory Tools
With the phasing in of a new system of operation,
it follows that new supervisory tools need to be
developed. In the year under review, the Bank
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had a challenge in implementing the risk based
approach as a risk based supervisory framework
is yet to be developed. The Bank nonetheless
persevered despite the crippling challenge.
14.2.5.2 Identification and Verification of
Ultimate Beneficial Owner
In the year under review, the Bank noted
that financial institutions had difficulty in
implementing the requirement to identify and
verify the ultimate beneficial owner, especially
for legal persons. This was because there is a
growing trend of complex ownership structures
that has been noted yet there is no proper
guidance in legislation on the threshold to apply
in the ownership percentages to be considered
in identifying the ultimate beneficial owner.
Further compounding the problem was the
unavailability of formal government structures
for verifying the authenticity of identification
documents.
14.2.5.3 Voluntary Industry Compliance
The Bank supervises commercial institutions
that are profit driven. Compliance, not clearly
understood, may be deemed to be depleting
resources than contributing to the profits of
an organization. Yet the converse is true,
compliance, effectively carried out, contributes
to the profits of an organization by guiding
business operation towards meeting compliance
standard and thereby avoiding steep regulatory
fines.
The Bank is still trying to embed a voluntary
culture of compliance as opposed to the tick box
culture of compliance. The dangers of the tick
box compliance culture are that institutions do
the bare minimum to comply and they disregard
the effectiveness of the controls employed. The
Bank is hopeful that the risk based approach
to supervision will enable financial institutions
to understand that the controls implemented
should be commensurate with the risk exposures
and appropriate to effectively mitigate the
risks.
14.2.6 Future Outlook
The Bank is optimistic about the ongoing
National Risk Assessment as the process is a
learning curve in understanding the principles
of money laundering and terrorist financing
risk identification and assessment. The Bank is
determined to make a meaningful contribution
in leading the banking sector.

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

The development of supervisory tools to
implement the risk based approach is a chief
strategic objective in the next financial year.
The Bank will be receiving technical assistance
from international partners to develop a robust
and effective regulatory framework that
conforms to international standards.
The Bank is concerned about the increasing
trend of complex ownership structures of legal

persons. Without the knowledge of the natural
persons behind these structures, it opens
room for criminals to use and control the legal
persons to launder money and finance terrorist
activities. The Bank hopes to amend the AML/
CFT Guidelines for Financial Institutions, 2016
in the next financial year to give guidance to
financial institutions on the thresholds to apply
in identifying the ultimate beneficial owner of
legal persons.

15. INTERNAL AUDIT
15.1 OVERVIEW AND AUDIT COVERAGE
The Bank has maintained the provision
of independent, objective assurance and
consulting services designed to add value and
improve the Bank’s Operations. The Bank has
followed the Risk Based Internal Auditing
(RBIA) methodology in performing audits with
emphasis placed on high risk auditable units /
areas.
The Bank endeavours to cover a wide range
of auditable units with high risks, emphasis
being placed on CBS core business areas which
encompass the Bank’s mandate as espoused in
the CBS Order (as amended). In that vein, the
Bank has maintained a three sectional approach
to its audits which are: Core & Continuous
Audits; IS Applications, Strategic Performance
& Change Audits; and QAR, Training & Findings
Assurance. This has ensured broader audit
coverage of the Bank’s activities and instilled
adherence to international auditing standards.
The Bank reported on a wide range of audit
issues to the Board Audit Committee (BAC)
which needed management attention and
were of significant importance. These issues
ranged from policy formulation / updating to
control issues. Most of the issues were resolved
within acceptable time limits, and those that
remained at year end were being attended to
in a satisfactory manner.
15.2 ACHIEVEMENTS
15.2.1 Audits Covered
The Bank continued to focus on integrated
business audits (IBAs) of critical CBS
departments, continuous audits including cash
management audits as well as audit of two
of the Bank’s strategic objectives – Project
Perform and Project Reform.The Bank has
also conducted the Internal Financial Controls
Review to determine if financial controls are
adequate and effective.
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15.2.2 Continuous Internal Assessments
The Bank has periodically conducted internal
assessments of audit projects to ensure
compliance to international auditing standards
in execution of audits. Further, the Bank has
continued with its monthly Quality Circle
(QCS) meetings as per the dictates of the audit
methodology. This is a way of assisting each audit
team manage / resolve challenges encountered
whilst conducting quarterly audits.
15.2.3 Anti-fraud and Logs Monitoring System
(AFLMS)
The Bank has procured and put in place the
AFLMS as at 31st March 2017. The system has
an audit analytics module which is basically a
Computer Assisted Auditing Tool (CAAT).
15.3 FUTURE OUTLOOK
15.3.1 Combined Assurance Audit
The Bank with other assurance providers are
mulling on how would this important activity
be tackled. A formal initiation of this is yet
to be done. The intent is to ensure sufficient
use of all assurance providers within the Bank.
This will ensure that audit resources are then
focused on key areas of the Bank with high risk.
15.3.2 Anti-fraud and Logs Monitoring System
The Bank staff are now expected to start using
the AFLMS. The AFLMS will be used for effective
data mining, analysis and interrogation thus
adding value in the operations of the Bank.
Specific training (user training) on the use of
this acquired tool is an absolute necessity to
equip all the available audit staff.
15.3.3 Upgrade of TeamMate
The Bank has been using an older version of
teammate. An upgrade to the latest version of
teammate – R12 will be done. This will come
with user / refresher training of the audit staff
thus enhance utilization of the system.
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16. RISK MANAGEMENT FUNCTION
16.1 Risk Management Framework
The Bank’s risk management framework is
closely integrated with the strategic and
business planning processes. Improvements to
the framework over the past year resulted in a
number of relatively high risks being identified
early, monitored and controlled.
During 2016/17 the Risk Committee worked
closely with the other governance committees
to ensure overlapping coverage of risk

management in line with the Enterprise Wide
Risk Management Framework.
16.2 Top 10 Risks
Through the collaborated effort, the Bank
managed to come up with Top Ten Risks, which
made the basis for strategic focus. Of the 17 Risk
classes as informed by the Bank’s risk universe,
the 2016/17 reporting period risk assessment
indicated a high exposure on the following;

Table 42: Top 10 Risks
Rank
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Risk Class

Risk Description

1

IT Risk

CBS IT environment (IT Systems, Infrastructure and Security) weakness
against the increasing cyber threats.

2

Financial Risk

Failure to maintain adequate FX reserves thus undermining the
Bank’s ability to fulfil its mandate in the view of adverse financial
markets developments, dwindling reserves, limited revenue base and
government liquidity challenges.

3

Procurement Risk

Ineffective procurement policy and procedures exposing the Bank to
procurement fraud and poor service delivery.

4

External
Environment Risk

Ineffective monitoring and response to external environment
(Political, economic, social, technological, environmental and legal)
developments due to the inadequate tools and data resulting in
uneconomic responses and inappropriate policy direction.

5

People Risk

Inappropriate organizational culture due to ineffective HR policies,
structures and disengaged/demotivated staff leading to poor
performance and loss of key talent.

6

Strategic Risk

Ineffective strategy planning and execution process resulting in
the non-delivery/sub-standard delivery of strategic projects thus
compromising the fulfilment of the mandate of the Bank.

7

Fraud Risk

Failing to effectively prevent, detect, monitor, investigate and
respond to fraud leading to operational disruptions, financial losses
and reputational damage.

8

Processes Risk

Poor process, risk and continuity management due to undocumented
process flows, disintegrated roles and poor risk and business continuity
culture resulting in ineffective and inefficient delivery on objectives.

9

Regulatory
Compliance Risk

Absence of a bank-wide regulatory compliance universe leading to
inadequate compliance to regulatory and good governance practices
and compliance breaches some of which attract penalties with financial
and reputational implications.

10

Reputational Risk

Lack of stakeholder confidence in the Bank due to ineffective
stakeholder engagement leading to poor stakeholder cooperation and
ineffective implementation of the monetary policy.

In ensuring effective management of risk, the
Bank continued to make effective use of the
three lines of defence, which are business units,
risk and audit functions. To the extent that the
Internal Audit function was able to map internal
controls against strategic and operational risks
to help better coordinate and provide coverage
of assurance activities.
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16.3 SAFETY, HEALTH, ENVIRONMENT RISK
AND QUALITY
The Re-Launching of the Safety, Health Quality,
and Risk section during the reporting period is a
reflection of the Bank’s commitment to proving
a safe and conducive working environment
to its employees in compliance with the
Occupational, Safety and Health Act of 2001.
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16.3.1 Compliance with the Occupational
Safety and Health Act of 2001
In compliance with Section 16 of the Occupational
Health and Safety Act of 2001, the Bank
appointed “the Health and Safety Committee”.
In support of this statutory structure was the
appointment of Safety Representatives, Fire
Champions and First Aiders.
16.3.2 Environmental Survey
During the reporting period, the Bank
successfully commissioned an environmental
survey through technical assistance for the
Bank Premises, in particular the vaults, banking
hall and the Matsapha Cash Centre. This was
done to scientifically assess the environmental
conditions of the workplaces in order to
provide timely interventions. The outcome of
the survey was a source of information which
assisted the Bank on the type and nature of
protective equipment to be used, and the
medical surveillance to be afforded on the staff
in those work areas.
16.3.3 Stakeholder Engagement
• Re-Launch of SHERQ function and celebration
of the World Occupational Health and Safety
Day was held on the 13th May 2016, wherein
the Ministry of Labour and Social Services
was represented.
• Engaging internal stakeholders on standards
in use in the Bank. The idea was to define
and discuss standards with a view to collate
an inventory of all standards in use at the
Bank.

• Engaging internal stakeholders on safe
housekeeping in the Bank. A Housekeeping
Plan was adopted running from 1st June 2016
for review in February 2017. The purpose of
this is exercise was to:
- Identify, eliminate and or mitigate unsafe
acts and conditions; and
- Allow for needs assessment of each
division / department that would inform
their planning and budget cycle.
• Engaged
all
stakeholders
(staff
in
operations, audit, risk and cash centre) on
the Environmental Survey report.
• Facilitated appointment and training of First
Aiders and Fire Marshalls.
16.4 BUSINESS CONTINUITY MANAGEMENT
The Bank had reviewed its approach in
addressing its resilience to respond and be able
to operate in case of business disruptions to its
critical process.
During the period under review, activities on
Business Continuity Management (BCM) had
improved significantly as a consequence of
appointing a dedicated BCM Specialist. Business
Continuity Plans had been revised in line with
the new organizational structure. A minor
simulation had been successfully conducted
at the Disaster Recovery Site on all critical
processes to ensure that the Bank can continue
to operate its critical business processes during
a disaster. Major Bank-wide simulation exercise
is planned to be conducted in 2017/18 reporting
period.

17. ECONOMIC POLICY RESEARCH
AND STATISTICS DEPARTMENT
17.1 MAJOR HIGHLIGHTS
17.1.1 Monetary Policy Framework
The year 2016 has been tough for monetary
policy implementation. Various developments
at global, regional and domestic economy have
tested the operational efficacy of the policy
tools the Bank has at its disposal to ensure price
and financial sector stability. The year had the
Bank thinking on how best to respond to supplyside inflation. Part of that process yielded the
documentation of a Monetary Policy Framework
(MPF). The MPF would guide monetary policy
implementation going forward. It outlines the
monetary policy transmission channels and
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targets, in broad terms. The Framework was
disseminated to all stakeholders during the
presentation of the 2017 Governor’s Annual
Monetary Policy Statement.
17.1.2 Research Bulletin
As part of knowledge management and
information dissemination, the Bank introduced
a Research Bulletin in which all research papers
produced by the Bank during the reporting year
were compiled. This is aimed at helping the
public to easily access the published papers
from the Bank’s website and understand the
policy dynamics faced by economy.
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17.1.3 Financial Sector Development
Implementation Plan
To further strengthen the financial sector in
Swaziland, the Ministry of Finance, the Bank
and the Financial Services Regulatory Authority
(FSRA) are working on a Financial Sector
Development Implementation Plan (FSDIP) in
collaboration with the World Bank and IMF.
The objective of the FSDIP is to develop,
strengthen, deepen and modernize the entire
financial sector in Swaziland. The FSDIP takes a
comprehensive approach to the financial sector
covering both Non-Bank Financial Institutions
and the domestic commercial banks. Further,
the FSDIP addresses Payments Systems and
infrastructure and issues of financial inclusion.
This is a three-year strategy which will be
implemented from 2017 to 2019 with the Bank
providing Secretariat services.
17.1.4 Post Budget Seminar
The Bank, in collaboration with Ministry of
Finance, also hosted the 2017 Post Budget
Seminar. The purpose of the Seminar was to
bring together stakeholders from all sectors
of the society to deliberate and brainstorm on
the 2017/18 Budget presented by the Minister

of Finance and thereby assist the Ministry of
Finance and the whole Government on how to
effectively execute the budget.
17.2 ACTIVITIES EARNMARKED FOR 2017/18
Going forward, the Bank aims to continue
refining the MPF and implementing it to ensure
price and financial sector stability. To ensure
transparency and open communication, the
Bank’s decision on the appropriate monetary
policy stance taken in consultation with the
Monetary Policy Consultative Committee (MPCC)
is immediately disseminated to the public
through a Press Release. Secondly, the Bank
in collaboration with the Swaziland Economic
Policy Analysis and Research Centre (SEPARC)
and the University of Swaziland (UNISWA),
will host the first ever Swaziland Economic
Conference in October 2017. The Conference
is conceived as a knowledge sharing platform
wherein research work will be presented.
Thirdly, the Bank will host a Governor’s lecture.
The lecture is a stakeholder engagement
platform for which the Bank can interact with
students, researchers and other policymakers
on monetary policy implementation and other
related issues.

18. HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
18.1 HUMAN RESOURCE DIVISION
18.1.1 Staff Compliment
As a result of the Restructuring process and
increased departmental requirements/ needs,
a number of vacancies were filled across various
levels in the Bank’s Departments. In that regard,
29 positions were filled during the year bringing
the total staff compliment to 291 at end of
March 2017. Staff turn over was recorded at 2.7
per cent during the period under review.
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18.1.2 Induction
All new staff and Graduate Trainees recruited
at all levels were inducted to be acquainted
with the Banks mandate, operations, strategy,
performance management drive and values.
18.1.3 Salary Review
The Bank has embarked on a Salary Review
Exercise which is conducted every three years.
It is expected that the exercise will be concluded
in the 2017/18 financial year.
18.1.4 Talent Management Strategy
Talent Management Strategy is being rolled out
in adherence to the nine pillars:
• Talent Identification and Acquisition
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Succession Management
Performance Management
Development and Learning
Workforce Planning
Leadership Development
Talent Retention
Compensation and Benefits
Off boarding

18.2 LEARNING AND ORGANISATIONAL
DEVELOPMENT
18.2.1 Specialized Training
In the year under review, the Bank continued
to expose its management team to a variety of
training programmes to enhance effectiveness.
18.2.1.1 Corporate Governance and
Induction for the Board of Directors
It was provided by the Institute of Board
of Directors. The course content included
customized
induction,
introduction
to
Corporate Governance, principles of Corporate
Governance, Increasing Board’s effectiveness
and value add, the Board’s role in Strategy and
Risk. An overview of the Chairman’s Programme
formed part of the training.
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18.2.1.2 Emotional Intelligence Training
The training targeted both Executive Committee
and Management. This short course provided
Management with an understanding of and
practice in assertive Communication, defining
Assertiveness, non-verbal Communication, selfimage and developing and managing effective
Relationships.
As the Bank experiences some changes,
especially in adopting the high performance
culture, the ability to relate to people and
make good decisions influences individual and
organisational performance, hence the training
on Emotional Intelligence. This was provided by
Maccauvlei.
18.2.1.3 High Performance Culture
Programme
The Programme was attended by Executive
Committee Members.
18.2.2 General Training
The Generic training for the Bank consists of
the following:
• Emotional Intelligence and target group was
the Line Managers and Executive Team.
• Retire in Dignity – target group consists of
employees who are 55 years and above.
• Introductory, intermediate and advanced
excel for Departments that use excel the
most.
• Customer Care for the front-liners of the
Bank.
• Fire Marshal and First Aid Training.
• Voice Projection and Presentation Skills.
18.2.3 Change Management
The Bank continues to execute the change
Management concept using the ADKAR approach:
A

-

D

- Desire to participate and support the
change

Awareness of the need to change. This
awareness tries to explain issues that
have created the need and what it will
address in terms of business, customer
and competitor needs.
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K

- Knowledge of how to change (and
what the change looks like)

A

- Ability to implement the change on a
day-to-day basis

R

- Reinforcement to keep the change in
place

18.3 FACILITIES
To ensure safe environment for employees,
during the year 2016/17, the Bank implemented
the following:
• Installation of a new secondary gate.
• Refurbishment of the Boundary fence and
painting in the parking premises at Mbabane.
• Continue to support to Bank by provision of
Facelift maintenance to three Bank Flats.
• Continue to provide canteen services.
18.4 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAMME
In its consideration of the wellness of its
employees to be of strategic importance, the
Bank has continued to invest in programmes
and projects that create awareness on how
staff can improve their wellbeing. On 16th June
2016, the Employee Assistance Programme
was relaunched as a Comprehensive Wellness
Programme. The essence of the relaunch
was to sensitise members of staff that the
Bank continues to consider their wellness as
a priority and that the focus has shifted from
the emphasis of interventions on HIV and AIDS
given that the burden of disease for business
has significantly increased as result of noncommunicable diseases (NCDs). These NCDs
have also become known as lifestyle diseases
due their causation being the lifestyle.
As one of the interventions for fighting NDCs,
the Bank hosted a Wellness Aerobathon, which
was a national event that attracted over 300
participants from all over the country. The aim
of the aerobathon was mainly to challenge
members of staff first and general public
secondly to engage their bodies in physical
activity for development of a healthy lifestyle.
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
for the year ended 31 March 2017

The directors are responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and the preparation
and integrity of the financial statements and the related information.  The auditors are responsible
for reporting on the fair presentation of the financial statements.  The financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required
by the Central Bank Order of 1974, as amended.
The directors are also responsible for the Bank’s system of internal financial control.   These are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the reliability of the financial
statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of the assets, and to
prevent and detect misstatement and loss. Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to
indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures and systems has
occurred during the year under review.
The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements.  The directors have
no reason to believe that the Bank will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future based on
forecasts and available cash resources.  These financial statements support the viability of the Bank.
The     financial   statements have been audited by the independent accounting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, which was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related
data, including minutes of the board of directors and committees of the board. The directors believe
that all representations made to the independent auditors during their audit are valid and appropriate.
PricewaterhouseCoopers’ audit report is presented on pages 97 to 98.
The annual financial statements which appear on pages 96 to 215 have been approved by the board of
directors on

and are signed on its behalf by:

GOVERNOR

DIRECTOR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholder’s of Central Bank of Swaziland

Our Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Central Bank of Swaziland (the Bank) as at 31 March 2017, and its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
requirements of the Central Bank Order of 1974.
What we have audited
Central Bank of Swaziland’s financial statements set out on pages 97 to 215 comprise:
• the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017;
• the  statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
Independence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of the International
Federation of Accountants’ (IFAC) Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IFAC Code.
Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’
Report and the statement of director’s responsibility. Other information does not include the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Central
Bank Order of 1974 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholder’s of Central Bank of Swaziland

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue
as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT

for the year ended 31 March 2017
Introduction
The Board of Directors (“Directors”) present their report of the Central Bank of Swaziland (“the
Bank”) for the year ended 31 March 2017.  This report in terms of Section 52 (1) of the Central Bank of
Swaziland Order, 1974 covers the financial performance of the Bank in terms of the relevant statutory
requirements.
Nature of Business and Operations
The Bank is the Central Bank of the Kingdom of Swaziland and is regulated in terms of an Act of
Parliament.  The primary objective of the Bank is the achievement and maintenance of financial and
monetary stability.
Financial Results
The results of the Bank and the state of its affairs at 31 March 2017 are set out in the attached
financial statements.
Directors
The Directors are appointed by the Minister for Finance. The following Directors served on the Board
during the year:
M. Sithole
M. Dlamini  
D. Masilela
P. N. Joubert
HRH Prince David Dlamini
C. Muir
K. Dlamini
S. Gumbi
D. Shabangu
A.S Dlamini
M. Matsebula
B. Bhembe

Governor, Chairman
Deputy Governor
Member (expired 31/05/2016)
Member (expired 31/05/2016)
Member (expired 31/05/2016)
Member (expired 31/05/2016)
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member

Secretary
R. Mamogobo
Business Address
Mahlokohla Street
Mbabane

Postal Address
P O Box 546
Mbabane

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Rhus Office Park, Kal Grant Street, Mbabane
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Contracts
There were no contracts entered into during the year in which directors or officers of the Bank had
interests that significantly affected the affairs or business of the Bank.
Post Balance Sheet Events
There are no events which have occurred between the balance sheet date and the date of this report
which have a material impact on these financial statements.
Expenditure on Capital Projects
The bank completed drilling of the borehole system and network infrastructure for the seventh and
eight floors of Umntsholi building following the relocation of the US Embassy. Other investments
undertaken included purchasing of an armoured vehicle, two SUVs, ERP hardware, planning and
scoping expenses. As at 31 March 2017 the total cost incurred towards capital project amounts to
E20.244 million (2016: E41 Million).
Director’s approval of the Annual Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for maintaining adequate accounting records and preparing annual
financial statements which fairly presents the state of affairs of the Bank at the end of the financial
year, and the results of operations, cash flows and changes in equity for the year, in conformity
with International Financial Reporting Standards. The Board is also responsible for the total risk
management process within the Bank. Management is accountable to the Board and has established
a system of internal control to manage significant risks faced by the Bank. This system supports the
Board in discharging its responsibility for ensuring that the wide range of risks associated with the
Bank’s operations are effectively managed. The system of internal control, which is embedded in
all key operations, provides reasonable assurance, rather than absolute assurance, that the Bank’s
business objectives will be achieved within the risk tolerance levels defined by the Board.
The Board also subscribes to the principles of corporate governance and has maintained and operated an
audit committee, executive committee, budget committee and remuneration committee throughout
the year.
In preparing the financial statements reflected on pages 96 to 215, the Bank has complied with
International Financial Reporting Standards and has used appropriate accounting policies supported
by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates. The Directors are of the opinion that these
financial statements fairly present the financial position of the Bank at 31 March 2017, and the results
of operations, cash flow information and changes in equity for the year then ended.
The Directors have reviewed the Bank’s 3-year corporate strategy and budget for the year ended
31 March 2017. On the basis of this review, and in light of the current financial position and existing
borrowing facilities, the Directors are satisfied that the Central Bank of Swaziland is a going concern
and have continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.
The external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, are responsible for independently auditing and
reporting on the financial statements in conformity with International Auditing Standards. Their
unqualified report on these financial statements appears on page 97.
The annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017, as set out in pages 96 to 215, were
approved by the Board of Directors on  

Governor

Director
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Interest Income
Interest and discount earned

4

451 319

394 825

Interest expense

5

(138 646)

(102 981)

Net Interest Income

312 673

291 844

Non-Interest Income

267 429

Other income

6

248 940

Operating Expenses
Property occupation expenses
Salaries and employee benefits

7

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

9 640

9 290

161 653

139 947

51 641

29 153

Currency expenses

3

32 887

21 206

Other expenses

2

107 718

111 787

363 539

311 383

216 563

229 401

216 563

229 401

Total operating expenses
Profit for the Year
Profit attributable to:

2

Equity holders of the entity
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Profit for the Year

2

216 563

229 401

Revaluation (losses)/gains on foreign exchange activities

8

(73 754)

232 187

142 809

461 588

142 809

461 588

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year
Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the entity
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Assets
Property, plant and equipment

9

333 968

357 989

Intangible assets

10

12 704

17 818

External investments

11

4 739 992

5 191 941

Claims on private sector

12

5 908

3 979

IMF Quota subscription account

13

1 422 106

1 626 300

Holdings of Special Drawing Rights

14

882 733

1 009 381

Loans and advances

15

22 689

21 445

Amounts due from Government of Swaziland

16

1 123 211

3 278

Other assets

17

85 054

71 996

Currency inventory - notes and coins

18

43 268

56 020

Cash and cash equivalents

19

1 520 474

2 093 475

10 192 107

10 453 622

Total Assets
Equity
Capital and Reserves
Capital contribution

20

185 768

185 768

Revaluation reserve

21

305 870

456 092

Buildings revaluation reserve

9

131 751

137 551

Building fund reserve

22

50 000

50 000

Contingency reserve

23

73 817

73 817

General reserve

24

503 907

448 169

SDR/IMF underwriting reserve

25

51 795

51 795

1 302 908

1 403 192

Total Equity
Liabilities
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Currency in circulation

26

889 449

844 815

Allocation of Special Drawing Rights

27

874 725

1 000 323

Domestic deposits

28

4 904 542

5 086 294

Foreign deposits and liabilities

29

260 286

137 279

Other liabilities

30

388 155

184 832

Provisions

31

24 974

18 863

Amounts payable to the Consolidated Fund

32

243 681

287 489

IMF Securities Account

33

1 303 387

1 490 535

8 889 199

9 050 430

10 192 107

10 453 622

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E’000

2016
E’000

142 809

461 588

51 641

28 805

2 268

52

18 097

(27 411)

IMF Quota subscription account

204 194

(774 464)

Holdings of Special Drawing Rights

126 649

(190 751)

IMF securities account

(187 148)

748 803

Allocation of Special Drawing Rights

(125 598)

189 001

Net cash inflow from operating activities

214 815

463 034

Increase in external liabilities

123 007

49 005

Decrease in other liabilities and provisions

209 431

179 740

(3 173)

(5 647)

(13 058)

(18 327)

12 752

(15 673)

Net increase in operating assets and liabilities

328 959

189 098

Net cash inflows from operating activities

543 774

652 132

(24 764)

(40 954)

577

-

451 949

606 877

(1 119 933)

(480)

(287 489)

(245 276)

(979 660)

320 167

Cash flows from Operating Activities
Operating profit
Adjusted for:
Depreciation and amortization and impairment

9,10

Loss on disposal of property plant and equipment
Adjusted for unrealized gains on IMF Accounts:

Decrease/(increase)/ in claims on private sector and
loans and advances
Decrease in other assets
Increase/(decrease) in notes and coins

Cash flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and
software equipment

9,10

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Decrease in external investments
Increase in amounts due from Government
Amounts paid to the Government through the
consolidated fund
Net cash (outflows)/inflows from investing activities
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E’000

2016
E’000

44 636

33 901

Decrease in domestic deposits

(181 751)

(248 029)

Net cash outflows from financing activities

(137 115)

(214 128)

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents

(573 001)

758 171

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the year

2 093 475

1 335 304

1 520 474

2 093 475

Cash flows from financing activities
Increase in currency in circulation

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year

19

100

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND
-

Increase in contingency reserve in terms
of section 41(bis)

Transfer to the Consolidated Fund as
provided under Section 8(3) of the Order

Transfer to the Consolidated Fund in
terms of Section 35 ( 4) of the Order

Transfer to the SDR/IMF underwriting
reserve to fund the shortfall in Holdings
in Special Drawing Rights

-

-

-

55 738

-

-

-

-

-

-

50 000

-

Transfer to general reserve as provided
under section 8 (1) of the order

-

-

-

185 768 503 907

-

Transfer of depreciation on revaluation
surplus to appropriation account

Balance at 31 March 2017

-

Revaluation surplus for the year

-

-

-

Revaluation of foreign currency
activities transferred to Revaluation
Reserve in terms of Section 35(1) of the
Order (refer note 21)

-

-

-

-

50 000

185 768 448 169

Capital
E’000

Building
Fund
Reserve
E’000

General
Reserve
E’000

Net profit for the year including
revaluation of foreign currency activities

Balance at 31 March 2016

for the year ended 31 March 2017

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

51 795

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

51 795

SDR/IMF
Underwriting
Reserve
E’000

73 817

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

73 817

Contingency
Reserve
E’000

131 751

-

-

-

-

-

(6 388)

588

-

-

137 551

Buildings
Revaluation
Reserve
E’000

305 870

-

(76 468)

Total
E’000

-

(55 738)

6 388

-

73 754

142 809

-

(76 468)

- 1 302 908

-

-

(167 213)

-

-

-

588

-

142 809

- 1 403 192

Appropriation
Account
E’000

- (167 213)

-

-

-

-

(73 754)

-

456 092

Revaluation
Reserve
E’000
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Balance at 31 March 2016

185 768

-

-

Increase in contingency reserve in terms of
section 41(bis)

Transfer to the SDR/IMF underwriting
reserve to fund the shortfall in Holdings in
Special Drawing Rights

-

Transfer to general reserve as provided
under section 8 (1) of the order

-

-

Transfer of depreciation on revaluation
surplus to appropriation account

Transfer to the Consolidated Fund in terms
of Section 35 ( 4) of the Order

-

Revaluation surplus for the year

-

-

Revaluation of foreign currency activities
transferred to Revaluation Reserve in
terms of Section 35(1) of the Order (refer
note 21)

Transfer to the Consolidated Fund as
provided under Section 8(3) of the Order

-

185 768

Capital
E’000

Net profit  for the year including
revaluation of foreign currency activities

Balance at 31 March 2015

for the year ended 31 March 2016

448 169

-

-

-

-

57 822

-

-

-

-

390 347

General
Reserve
E’000

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

50 000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

50 000

Building
Fund
Reserve
E’000

51 795

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

51 795

SDR/IMF
Underwriting
Reserve
E’000

73 817

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

73 817

Contingency
Reserve
E’000

131 751

-

-

-

-

-

(1 886)

-

-

-

139 437

Buildings
Revaluation
Reserve
E’000

456 092

-

-

(114 024)

-

-

-

-

232 187

-

337 929

Revaluation
Reserve
E’000

-

-

-

(173 465)

-

(57 822)

1 886

-

(232 187)

461 588

-

Appropriation
Account
E’000

1 403 192

-

(114 024)

(173 465)

-

-

-

-

-

461 588

1 229 093

Total
E’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2017
1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
The Bank is the Central Bank of the Kingdom of Swaziland and is regulated in terms of an Act of
Parliament.  The primary objective of the Bank is the achievement and maintenance of financial
and monetary stability.
The Board of Directors (“Directors”) present their report of the Central Bank of Swaziland (“the
Bank”) for the year ended 31 March 2017.  This report in terms of Section 52 (1) of the Central
Bank of Swaziland Order, 1974 covers the financial performance of the Bank in terms of the
relevant statutory requirements.
1.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.
1.1.0

Statement of compliance and basis of preparation
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation
of financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading at fair value through the
profit or loss.
The financial statements comprise the income statement and statement of
comprehensive income showing as two statements, the statement of financial
positions, the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement and the
notes.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements are discussed in note 1.13
of these accounting policies.

1.1.1

Going–concern basis
The bank meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through its
investments. The bank’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably
possible changes in trading performance, show that the bank should be able operate
within the level of its current facilities. After making enquiries, the directors have
a reasonable expectation that the bank has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. The bank therefore continues to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements.
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1.1.2

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(a) New and amended standards adopted by the bank
The following standards have been adopted by the bank for the first time for
the financial year beginning on or after 1 April 2016:
•

Amendment to IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments Presentation’ on offsetting
financial assets and financial liabilities. This amendment clarifies that the
right of set-off must not be contingent on a future event. It must also be
legally enforceable for all counterparties in the normal course of business, as
well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. The amendment also
considers settlement mechanisms. The amendment did not have a significant
effect on the bank financial statements.

•

Amendments to IAS 36, ‘Impairment of assets’, on the recoverable amount
disclosures for non-financial assets. This amendment removed certain
disclosures of the recoverable amount of CGUs which had been included in IAS
36 by the issue of IFRS 13.

•

Amendment to IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’
on the novation of derivatives and the continuation of hedge accounting. This
amendment considers legislative changes to ‘over-the-counter’ derivatives
and the establishment of central counterparties. Under IAS 39 novation of
derivatives to central counterparties would result in discontinuance of hedge
accounting.
The amendment provides relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when
novation of a hedging instrument meets specified criteria. The bank has
applied the amendment and there has been no significant impact on the bank’s
financial statements as a result.

•

IFRIC 21, ‘Levies’, sets out the accounting for an obligation to pay a levy if that
liability is within the scope of IAS 37 ‘Provisions’. The interpretation addresses
what the obligating event is that gives rise to pay a levy and when a liability
should be recognised. The bank is not currently subjected to significant levies
so the impact on the bank is not material.
Other standards, amendments and interpretations which are effective for the
financial year beginning on 1 April 2014 are not material to the bank.

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for
the financial year under review and not early adopted
•
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IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ addresses the classification, measurement and
recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. The complete version of
IFRS was issued in July 2015. It replaces the guidance in IAS 39 that relate to
the classification and measurement of financial instruments.
IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement
categories: those measured as at fair value and those measured at amortised
cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification
depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. Investments
in equity instruments are required to be measured at fair value through profit
or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value
in OCI not recycling. There is now a new expected credit losses model that
replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39.
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1.1.2

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)
(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for
the financial year under review and not early adopted.
For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements.
The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for financial
liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is
recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the income statement,
unless this creates an accounting mismatch. IFRS 9 relaxes the requirements
for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests.
It requires an economic relationship between the hedged item and hedging
instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to be the same as the one management
actually use for risk management purposes. Contemporaneous documentation
is still required but is different to that currently prepared under IAS 39. The
standard is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018. Early adoption is permitted. The group is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full
impact. The bank is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS
9 no later than the reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
•

IFRS 13 ‘Fair value measurement’ aims to improve consistency and reduce
complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single source
of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs.
The bank is yet to assess IFRS13’s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 13 no
later than the accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

•

IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ deals with revenue
recognition and establishes principles for reporting useful information to users
of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of
revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers.
Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good or service
and thus has the ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good
or service.
The standard replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and IAS 11 ‘Construction contracts’ and
related interpretations. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2017 and earlier application is permitted. The bank is
assessing the impact of IFRS 15.
There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective
that would be expected to have a material impact on the bank.
There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective
that would be expected to have a material impact on the bank.

1.2 Foreign Currency Activities and Revaluation Reserve
The Revaluation reserve has been created in accordance with Section 35 of the Central Bank
Order, 1974, as amended, and is used to accommodate any net gain or losses in any financial year
of the Bank arising from any change in the book value or realized value of the Bank’s assets or
liabilities denominated in currencies or units other than the domestic currency, such as special
drawing rights and foreign currencies. Any change in the value of such currencies or units of
account in terms of the currency on Swaziland, shall be credited to the Revaluation Reserve
account before any appropriation to any other reserve.
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1.2 Foreign Currency Activities and Revaluation Reserve (continued)
Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated to Emalangeni at year end exchange
rates. In terms of section 35 of the Central Bank of Swaziland order, 1974, as amended, the
exchange gains and losses of the Bank are for the account of the Government and are consequently
transferred to the Revaluation Reserve Account before appropriation of profits.
1.3 Financial Instruments
The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables and available for sale. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of financial
assets at initial recognition.
(a)

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are financial assets held for trading.
A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets.

(b) Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date.
These are classified as non-current assets. The Bank’s loans and receivables comprise amounts
due from the Government of Swaziland, claims on private sector, external investments, and
‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the statement of financial position (accounting policies 16,
12,11 and 19).
(c)

Available for Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the
balance sheet date. The Bank’s available for sale financial assets comprises of securities.
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date – the date on
which the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit
or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised
at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired
or have been transferred and the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss’ category are presented in the income statement within ‘other
(losses)/gains – net’ in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the income statement as part of other
income when the Bank’s right to receive payments is established.
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and
classified as available-for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from
changes in amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the
security. The translation differences on monetary securities are recognised in profit or loss,
while translation differences on non-monetary securities are recognised in equity.
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1.3 Financial Instruments (continued)
(c)

Available for sale financial assets (continued)
Changes in the fair value of monetary and nonmonetary securities classified as availablefor-sale are recognised in equity.
When securities classified as available for sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair
value adjustments recognised in equity are included in the income statement as ‘gains and
losses from investment securities’.
Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in the income statement as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-sale
equity instruments are recognised in the income statement as part of other income when
the Bank’s right to receive payments is established.
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for
a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Bank establishes fair value
by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow
analysis, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as
little as possible on entity-specific inputs. The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a bank of financial assets
is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered as an
indicator that the securities are impaired.
If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss –
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed
from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the
income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement.

1.4 Impairment and non-collectability of Financial Assets
An assessment is made at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or bank of financial assets may be impaired.  If such evidence
exists, the estimated recoverable amount of that asset is determined and any impairment loss
recognised for the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount as
follows:
• For financial assets at amortised cost - the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
estimated recoverable amount either directly or through the use of an allowance account and
the amount of the loss is included in the net profit and loss for the period; and
• For financial assets at fair value - the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its estimated
recoverable amount either directly or through the use of an allowance accounts and the
amount of the loss is included in the net profit and loss for the period.
1.5 Property, Plant and Equipment
All property, plant and equipment other than land and buildings are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and amortisation.
Land and buildings are stated at market value based on valuations performed by an external
independent valuer. Increases in the carrying value of land and buildings arising from the
revaluation are credited directly to a non-distributable revaluation surplus reserve.
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1.5 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
Each year the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the
asset and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost is transferred from the non-distributable
revaluation surplus reserve to retained earnings. On disposal of the previously revalued property,
any amount relating to that asset remaining in the non- distributable revaluation surplus reserve
is transferred to retained earnings.
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset, after
taking into consideration the estimated residual value of the asset, as follows:
Buildings				20-50 Years
Motor Vehicles
3-13 Years
Office Equipment
5-22 Years
Furniture and Fittings		
5 -23 Years
Household Furniture		
5-22 Years
The remaining useful lives of assets are reassessed annually.
Land is not depreciated.
Repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred. The cost of major renovations is included in the carrying amount of the asset
when it is probable that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of
performance of the existing asset will flow to the Bank. Major renovations are depreciated over
the remaining useful life of the related asset.
Gains or losses on disposals are determined by reference to the carrying amount of the asset and
the net proceeds received, and are recorded in the income statement on disposal.
1.6 Intangible Assets
Computer Software
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense
as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of
identifiable and unique software products controlled by the bank are recognised as intangible
assets when the following criteria are met:
� it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
� management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;
� there is an ability to use or sell the software product;
� it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic
benefits;
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� adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and
� to use or sell the software product are available; and
� the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably
measured.
Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the
software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
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1.6

Intangible Assets (continued)
Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense
as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an
asset in a subsequent period
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated
useful lives, which does not exceed three years

1.7

Stock of New Notes and Coins
The cost of new notes and coins purchased in bulk are treated as stock and expensed to the
income statement as they are issued to the commercial banks. Cost comprises of printing and
minting costs, carriage insurance and freight landed at the Bank’s premises. The carrying value
of the new notes and coins is the cost of notes determined on the first-in first-out basis.

1.8

Currency in Circulation
Currency in circulation represents Swaziland currency that has been issued into the Swaziland
economy by the Bank since inception. Currency in circulation is measured at the face value of
notes and coins issued. Issued notes and coins held by the Bank are netted off against currency
in circulation.

1.9

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions
comprise lease termination penalties and employee termination payments. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to one item included in the class
may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.

1.10 Revenues Recognition
Interest income is recognized on a time proportioned basis, taking account of the principal
outstanding and the effective interest rate over the period to maturity. The effective interest
rate takes into account all directly attributable external costs, discounts or premiums on the
financial assets.
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1.10 Revenues Recognition (continued)
The bank accounts for rental income on a straight line basis under the term of the lease.
Fees, commission and other income is recognized on an accrual basis. Rand compensation
income is received from the South African Government as compensation for Rand circulation in
Swaziland. The Bank accounts for this income on an accrual basis.
Interest income is recognized on a time proportioned basis, taking account of the principal
outstanding and the effective interest rate over the period to maturity. The effective interest
rate takes into account all directly attributable external costs, discounts or premiums on the
financial assets.
The bank accounts for rental income on a straight line basis under the term of the lease.
Fees, commission and other income is recognized on an accrual basis. Rand compensation
income is received from the South African Government as compensation for Rand circulation in
Swaziland. The Bank accounts for this income on an accrual basis.
1.11 Employee Benefits
a)

Pension and Retirement Funds
The expected costs of post-retirement benefits under the defined benefit and defined
contribution scheme are charged to income over the expected service lives of the
employees entitled to these benefits according to the projected unit benefit method.
Costs are actuarially assessed and expense adjustments and past-service costs resulting
from plan amendments are amortised over the expected average remaining service lives
of the employees participating in the plans.
The Bank operates a defined contribution plan. The pension plan is generally funded by
payments from employees and the Bank taking into account the recommendations of
independent qualified actuaries. For the defined benefit plans, the pension accounting
costs are assessed using the projected unit credit method. Under this method the cost
of providing pensions is charged to the income statement to spread regular cost over the
service lives of employees. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised as they arise.

B)

Short Term Benefits
Short term benefits consist of salaries, accumulated leave payments, bonuses and any
non-monetary benefits such as medical and contribution and free services.  It excludes
termination benefits.  Short term benefits are fully payable in 12 months after the end of
a period in which the employee rendered his or her services.

1.12 Fair Value Estimation
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The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the
future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate available to the Bank for
similar financial instruments.
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1.13 Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities within the financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Estimates have been made primarily
in property plant and equipment, intangible assets and provisions and are disclosed in notes 9,
10 and 31 respectively.
1.14 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other shortterm highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance
sheet.
1.15 Special Drawing Rights
a)

Gross Method of Presenting General Resources Account Position
The bank present their positions in the GRA by reporting their quota subscriptions as
assets in the balance sheet, and including the Fund’s holdings of the Emalangeni in the
Securities Account, No.1 Account, and the No. 2 Account in the Liabilities to Non-Residents
section of the balance sheet. Under this method of reporting, neither the member’s
reserve tranche position in the Fund nor its use of GRA credit is disclosed on the face of
the central bank balance sheet, but both are disclosed in an explanatory footnote to the
financial statements.

b)

Quota Subscriptions
Membership in the Fund is reflected as an asset equal to a member’s quota. Quota is
determined upon admission to membership and is increased periodically under General
Quotas Reviews or ad hoc increases. The quota subscription and subsequent increases
are paid in local currency (75 percent) and in reserve assets (25 percent), except for
the 1978 increase which was paid entirely in local currencies. The quota is denominated
in SDRs but is expressed in local currency on the books of the depository. The IMF No. 1
Account, the IMF No. 2 Account, and the IMF Securities Account are the property of the
Fund, even though the Fund’s holdings of a member’s currency are maintained in the
accounts of the depository. Initially, the quota subscriptions are recorded at the local
currency value based on historical cost. Whenever the Fund revalues its holdings of the
member’s currency to reflect current exchange rates, and at least once a year at the
Fund’s financial year-end (April 30), the member’s subscription in the Fund should also be
revalued at the same rate of exchange.

1.16 Comparatives
Where necessary comparatives have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in
the current year.
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2017
E’000

2016
E’000

1 994

1 129

544

487

25 586

5 803

1 900

1 546

11 791

10 189

1 769

652

94

302

41 140

18 492

10 501

10 313

529

(52)

161 653

139 947

7 401

8 343

Advertising

1 772

1 887

General Telephone

1 752

2 086

Contribution to International Organisation

2 551

5 430

Maintenance of Machinery and Computers

7 401

8 343

Other Professional Fees

20 640

25 570

Computer Software License

12 336

7 019

Travelling Expenses

13 820

9 344

Fund Managers Fees

2 741

4 669

Insurance

6 212

5 314

Interest subsidy on staff loans

3 003

2 082

Staff Welfare Expenses

1 645

2 361

Security  Service Contracts

1 915

1 727

Staff Training Expenses

5 880

5 850

Internet Subscription

3 643

3 703

22 407

26 402

107,718

111,787

2. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging the
following items:
Auditors’ remuneration
Audit Fees
Directors’ remuneration
For services as directors
Depreciation:
Buildings
Furniture and Fittings
Office Equipment
Motor Vehicles
Household Furniture

Amortization:
Computer Software
Profit/(Loss) on sale of assets
Staff costs (note 7)
Repairs and maintenance on property, plant and equipment
Other Expenses
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Other Admin. Costs
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2017
E’000

2016
E’000

30 891

19 325

1 996

1 810

-

71

32 887

21 206

373 447

361 380

57 549

250

Fund Managers

7 531

11 150

Overseas Investments

9 366

20 287

Local Investments

1 233

537

914

731

1 279

490

451 319

394 825

3. CURRENCY EXPENSES
Notes and coins issuing expenses (Refer to Note 18)
Rand repatriation expenses
Nhlangano sub-chest rental expenses

The currency expenses above include the costs to issue notes and
coins into circulation, rand repatriation expenses and the rental
expenses to Standard Bank of Swaziland for the Nhlangano subchest
4. INTEREST INCOME
Banks in South Africa
Income from Swaziland Government

Local Advances and Staff Loans
SDR Holdings

5. INTEREST EXPENSE
Interest expense comprises of the following:
Interest paid to the Government of Swaziland

57 725

68 154

Interest paid to banks

23 918

8 220

Interest paid to Capital Investment Fund

30 409

24 455

Interest on private placements

23 731

834

2 863

1 318

138 646

102 981

242 395

221 519

2 212

5 262

797

3 310

-

1 759

1 720

1 423

20 305

15 667

267 429

248 940

Other

6. NON INTEREST INCOME
Compensation for Rands in circulation
Rental income
Recoveries
Contribution by Special Funds
Commission earned
Other income
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6. NON INTEREST INCOME (continued)

On 4 March 2004, the Declaration of Legal Tender Notice, 2004 was legislated and deemed
to have come into force on 19 September 2003. Under this declaration, South African Rand
notes were declared legal tender in Swaziland. In terms of the Bilateral Monetary Agreement
between the Government of Swaziland and the Government of Republic of South Africa, the
Central Bank of Swaziland is compensated by the Government of Republic of South African for
Rands in circulation in Swaziland on a calendar year basis with effect from 19 September 2003.
Compensation of E 267 429 283 (2016: E221 517 862) due for the period from 1 April 2016 to 31
March 2017 has been included in Other Income in the Income Statement.
2017
E’000

2016
E’000

132 519

113 443

9 434

6 438

12 135

11 171

7 435

6 644

130

2 251

161 653

139 947

(73 754)

232 187

7. STAFF COSTS
Wages and Salaries
Termination Benefits
Defined Contribution Plan Contributions
Leave Pay Provision
Staff Uniform Expenses

8. REVALUATION GAINS/LOSSES ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE ACTIVITIES
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains on translation of foreign
currency balances

In terms of Section 35(1) of the Central Bank of Swaziland Order 1974, revaluation of foreign
exchange transactions are to be transferred to the Revaluation Reserve. Total gains and losses
for the year have been disclosed on the Statement of Comprehensive Income to reflect the
financial performance of the Bank.

114

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

Central Bank of Swaziland

Annual Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017
9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2017
E’000
Cost/
Revalued
Cost

2016
E’000
Cost/
Revalued Accumulated
Cost Depreciation

Accumulated Carrying
Depreciation
Value

Carrying
Value

249 077

(52 063)

197 014

254 350

(27 030)

227 320

Land

40 957

-

40 957

38 265

-

38 265

Furniture and Fittings

19 512

(11 773)

7 739

17 387

(10 844)

6 543

135 026

(59 362)

75 664

129 340

(48 519)

80 821

11 736

(7 897)

3 839

11 451

(7 519)

3 932

Household Furniture

1 846

(1 025)

821

1 769

(958)

811

Work in Progress

7 934

-

7 934

297

-

297

466 088

(132 120)

333 968

452 859

(94 870)

357 989

Buildings

Office Equipment
Motor Vehicles

Total
31 March 2017

Carrying
value at
beginning
of year

Additions

Transfers

Disposals

Depreciation

Carrying
value at
end of
year

227 320

(2 104)

183

-

(2 798)

(25 586)

38 265

2 691

-

-

-

-

80 821

-

6 665

-

(31)

(11 791)

3 932

-

1 676

-

-

(1 769)

Household Furniture

811

-

104

-

-

(94)

Work in Progress*

297

-

7 934

(297)

-

-

357 989

587

19 674

(297)

(2 845)

(41 140)

Buildings
Land
Furniture and Fittings
Office Equipment
Motor Vehicles

Total

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:
31 March 2016

Buildings
Land
Furniture and Fittings
Office Equipment
Motor Vehicles
Household Furniture
Work in Progress*
Total

Carrying
value at
beginning
of year

Revaluation
surplus

227 585

-

4 933

38 224

-

41

7 720

-

61 576
2 058

Disposal

Depreciation

Carrying
value at
end of year

605

-

(5 803)

227 320

-

-

-

38 265

369

-

-

(1 546)

6 543

-

5 984

23 502

(52)

(10 189)

80 821

-

2 526

-

-

(652)

3 932

998

-

115

-

-

(302)

811

16 512

-

16 452

(32 667)

-

-

297

354 673

-

30 420

(8 560)

(52)

(18 492)

357 989

Additions Transfers

*As at 31 March 2017 the bank had work in progress of E 7.934 million (2016: E0.297 million) relating
to the installation of the new accounting system
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9.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

A Reconciliation of the Capital work in progress costs as at 31 March 2017 are summarised as
follows:
			
2017
E’000

2016
E’000

297

16 512

7 934

16 452

Prepayment towards the capital project costs

-

-

Prepayment utilised towards project costs-(Claw back)

-

-

Transfers after completion

(297)

(32 667)

Net carrying amount

7 934

297

Opening balance
Additional costs of actual work done

Included in the entity’s property, plant and equipment are assets with zero net book values
which are still being used by the bank. Summarised details of these assets are as follows:

Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net carrying amount

2017
E’000

2016
E’000

41 884

41 718

(41 884)

(41 718)

-

-

Registers containing details of land and buildings are available for inspection by members at
the registered offices of the Bank. The Bank’s land and buildings were revalued during the
2016/2017 financial year by Jeff Lowe Consultants. Valuations were made on the basis of open
market value. The surplus on the revaluation was credited to a buildings revaluation reserve. If
the land and buildings were stated at cost the amount would be E292, 797,465. The movement
in the buildings revaluation surplus is as follows:
2017
E’000

2016
E’000

137 551

139 437

588

-

(6 388)

(1 886)

131 751

137 551

Revaluation surplus on land and buildings
Opening balance
Current year revaluation surplus
Transfer of depreciation on revaluation surplus to
appropriation account
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10.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Cost

Accumulated
Amortisation

Carrying
Value

Cost

Accumulated
Amortisation

Carrying
Value

Computer Software

76 186

(63 482)

12 704

70 957

(53 139)

17 818

Total

76 186

(63 482)

12 704

70 957

(53 139)

17 818

The carrying amounts of intangible assets can be reconciled as follows:
31 March 2017
Carrying
value at
beginning
of year

Transfers

Additions

Disposal

Amortisation

Carrying
value at
end of
year

Computer Software

17 818

-

5 387

-

(10 501)

12 704

Total

17 818

-

5 387

-

(10 501)

12 704

The carrying amounts of intangible assets can be reconciled as follows:
31 March 2016
Carrying
value at
beginning
of year

Transfers

Additions

Disposal

Amortisation

Carrying
value at
end of
year

Computer Software

9 037

8 560

10 534

-

(10 313)

17 818

Total

9 037

8 560

10 534

-

(10 313)

17 818
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2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Investments in term deposits

2 591 585

3 259 889

Investment with external fund managers

1 379 092

1 511 382

358 900

387 337

4 329 577

5 158 608

Investment in securities

410 415

33 333

Total held to maturity investment

410 415

33 333

4 739 992

5 191 941

280 000

300 590

78 900

86 747

358 900

387 337

11. EXTERNAL INVESTMENTS
Assets held at fair value through profit and loss

Investment in credit linked notes (Note 11.1)
Total held at fair value investments

Assets held to maturity

The held to maturity investments are South African Reserve
bonds issued at a discount rate of (6.8% - 8%) with maturity dates
ranging from 21 December 2018 to 28 February 2023
Total external assets

11.1 Investment in Credit Linked Notes
Barclays Bank Plc London
ABSA Bank Ltd

The bank as the investor entered into agreements with the Barclays Bank and ABSA Bank to invest
in credit linked note (CLN) which are securities with an embedded credit default swap (CDS) and
allowing the issuer to transfer a specific credit risk to a credit investor. The investor in the CLN
functions as the credit protection seller and makes an upfront payment to the issuer of the CLN the protection buyer - when purchasing a CLN. In the absence of any credit event the investor will
be repaid the notional value of the note at the maturity of the contract. However, if a credit event
occurs, the investor will receive a reduced amount contingent on the market value of a reference
asset - typically a bond - to which the CLN is linked.  
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The fair value gains or losses as result of changes in the credit risk of the issuer are recognised in
the income statement.
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2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Within 1 month

1 749 922

1 575 219

From 2 months to 1 year

1 610 978

3 616 722

Over 1 year

1 379 092

-

4 739 992

5 191 941

11. EXTERNAL INVESTMENTS (continued)
Maturity analysis:

The maturity analysis is based on the remaining period from year-end to contractual maturity.
The amounts disclosed in the analysis above are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Currency analysis:
ZAR

4 398 411

3 361 193

USD

291 384

1 830 748

Euro

-

-

AUD

50 197

-

4 739 992

5 191 941

Swaziland Building Society

1 995

1 300

AON Swaziland

3 913

2 679

5 908

3 979

12. TOTAL CLAIMS ON PRIVATE SECTOR

The Swaziland Building Society fixed deposits and permanent shares have a maturity of 6
months and interest is charged at fixed rates. The funds are reinvested on maturity. The Aon
Swaziland are gratuity funds for executive management. The investments earn interest at
variable rates.
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2017
E’000

2016
E’000

1 422 106

1 626 300

13. IMF QUOTA SUBSCRIPTION ACCOUNT
IMF Quota subscription held on behalf of Swaziland
Government

The subscription account reflects the initial and subscription quota payment made by Swaziland
Government as a member in the International Monetary Fund. The quota is allocated based
on the country’s relative economic size and determines the member’s relative voting power,
access to financing and share in SDR allocations.  It is initially recorded at the local currency
rate based on historical cost. Whenever the Fund revalues its holding s of the member’s
currency to reflect the current exchange rate, the member’s subscription in the IMF is also
revalued at the same exchange rate. The Swaziland Government quota is SDR78 500 000 (2016:
78 500 000) converted at the SDR rate of 18.1161 (2016: 20.71720) at year end. The Swaziland
Government during the year ended 31 March 2016 paid an amount of E285 million to subscribe
for an additional IMF quota allocation under the 14th general review on the 4/2/2016 amounting
to SDR27 800 000.
14. HOLDINGS OF SPECIAL DRAWING RIGHTS

Allocation of special drawing rights by the IMF

882 733

1 009 381

The holdings of special drawing rights (SDR’s) are an interest bearing international asset created
by the IMF to supplement existing reserve assets. Allocations of SDRs were initially made to
all members of the IMF who are participants of the SDR department. Holders of SDR’s are
allowed to use SDR’s with other participants, prescribed holders and the IMF. SDR allocations
are subject to charges while SDR holdings earn interest.
15. LOANS AND ADVANCES
18 444

16 754

3 525

2 957

720

310

Ex Staff Loans

-

1 402

Other Staff Loans

-

22

22 689

21 445

Staff Personal Loans
Staff Study Loans
Staff Housing Loans
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The repayment for staff loans are between 1 years and 25 years. The amounts disclosed above
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows as the impact of discounting is insignificant.
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2017
E’000

2016
E’000

3 324

3 278

16. AMOUNTS DUE FROM GOVERNMENT OF SWAZILAND
Treasury Bills (16.1)
Advances to the Swaziland Government (refer to 16.2)
Opening balance
Advance
Repayments
Interest accrued

16.1

1 119 887
-

-

1 100 000

-

-

-

19 887

-

1 123 211

3 278

The bank purchased the Swaziland Government Treasury Bills with an interest rate of
6.501% per annum payable in 182 days.

16.2      In accordance with part VII section 45 of the Central Bank order of 1974, as amended the
bank advanced E1.1 billion to the Swaziland Government. The advances are maturing
on 8 May 2017 and 17 August 2017 at an interest rate of 6.5% to7.25% per annum.
Maturity analysis:
From 1 month to 6 months
Over 12 months

1 123 211

3 278

-

-

1 123 211

3 278

60 599

55 380

77

2 867

20 852

6 012

3 526

7 737

85 054

71 996

17. OTHER ASSETS
Compensation for Rands in circulation
Uncleared effects
Prepayments
Sundry debtors

Compensation for Rands circulating in Swaziland is due from the Government of Republic of
South Africa (refer note 5). This amount represents an accrual for the period from January to
March 2016 and will be settled within one year. Uncleared effects relate to items in course
of collection between local and foreign banks and to the expatriation of notes and coins with
South Africa. Sundry debtors consist of prepayments and miscellaneous debtors. The advance
to standard bank was an overnight loan made to the commercial bank to comply with the
regulatory requirements by the central bank of Swaziland. The overnight advance was settled
by standard bank on the next working day.
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2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Opening stock

56 020

40 347

Purchases – current year

18 139

34 998

(26 532)

(19 325)

(4 359)

-

43 268

56 020

96 978

127 062

Balances with banks

1 423 496

1 966 413

Total cash and cash equivalents

1 520 474

2 093 475

2016
E’000

Spot Rate @
31 March 2016

18. CURRENCY INVENTORY – NOTES AND COINS

Currency issues during the year (refer to note 3)
Provision for obsolete stock

The currency inventory is issued into circulation using the
FIFO method.
19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Notes and coins

Balances with banks consist of the following currencies:
2017
E’000

Spot Rate @
31 March 2017

2 192

14.27

9 825

16.75

139 597

13.35

360 742

14.70

1 180 100

1.00

1 575 773

1.00

Japanese Yen

13 396

8.36

14 549

7.63

British Pound

718

16.63

1 610

21.11

Swiss Franc

170

0.07

1 278

0.07

Euro
US Dollar
Rand / Emalangeni

107

1.27

108

1.36

Canadian Dollar

1 583

0.10

781

0.09

Australian Dollar

85 633

10.20

1 747

11.31

Botswana Pula

1 423 496

122

1 966 413
2017
E’000

2016
E’000

185 768

185 768

20. CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION
Capital Contribution
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2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Opening Balance

456 092

337 929

Revaluation of foreign currency activities in terms of section 35
(1) of the order

(73 754)

232 187

Transfer to Government of Swaziland consolidation account in
terms of section 35 (4) of the order

(76 468)

(114 024)

305 870

456 092

50 000

50 000

73 817

73 817

21. REVALUATION RESERVE

As per the Central Bank of Swaziland Order Section 35 (1) gains
arising from any exchange in the valuation of the Bank’s assets
or liabilities in or denominated in, gold, special drawing rights
of foreign currencies as a result of any change in the values,
parities or exchange rates of gold, special drawing rights or
foreign currencies in terms of Emalangeni shall be credited to a
revaluation reserve account. The revaluation loss for the year
amounted to E73 754million (2015:E232.1 million).
22. BUILDING FUND RESERVE
Building Reserve Fund
This reserve was created in the financial year 2008/2009 to
provide for the construction of the Bank’s Disaster Recovery
Building and a centralized cash center in Matsapha. The Disaster
Recovery Building is expected to host the Bank’s disaster recovery
equipment as well as have adequate space to accommodate the
bank’s employees in the event of a disaster situation.
23. CONTINGENCY RESERVE FUND
Contingency Reserve Fund
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23. CONTINGENCY RESERVE FUND (continued)
This reserve was created in the financial year 2008/2009 to
strengthen the capital base of the Bank and to provide for future
unbudgeted costs.
2017
E’000

2016
E’000

448 169

390 437

55 738

57 732

503 907

448 169

51 795

51 795

-

-

51 795

51 795

24. GENERAL RESERVE
Opening balance
Transfer to general reserve (section 8 (1))

As per section 8 (1) of the Central Bank Order, 1974, as amended,
up to 25% of net profit of the Bank shall be transferred to the
general reserve at the end of each financial year.  
25. SDR/IMF UNDERWRITING RESERVE
Opening balance
Transfer to SDR/IMF underwriting reserve
Closing Balance
As at 31 March 2013 the bank held a negative position in Special
Drawing Rights Holdings amounting to E51.795 Million. In
accordance with the guidance from IMF the bank is a fiscal agent
and responsible for carrying out all operations and transactions
with the Fund on behalf of the member, that is the Government.
The Government through the bank is ultimately responsible for
the Holdings in Special Rights as the member of IMF. As a result
the Government has approved the appropriation of E51.795
million to the SDR/IMF underwriting reserve to fund the deficit.
During the year ended 31 March 2014 the bank purchased the
SDR’s to correct the negative position in Special Drawing Rights.
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2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Notes

824 964

786 337

Coins

69 206

65 984

Teller Cash

(4 721)

(7 506)

889 449

844 815

26. CURRENCY IN CIRCULATION

Total currency in circulation
The liability for notes and coins issued is the net liability after
offsetting notes and coins held by the bank as cash on hand as
this does not represent currency in circulation.
27. ALLOCATION OF SPECIAL DRAWING RIGHTS
48 284 670 Special Drawing Rights translated at 18.1161 (2016:
E20.7172)
Interest accrued

874 725

1 000 323

-

-

874 725

1 000 323

Upon joining the International Monetary Fund (IMF), Swaziland was allocated a special drawing
right of 6,432,000 units.  The Central Bank of Swaziland administers the Special Drawing Rights
on behalf of Government and accounts for the allocation in the financial records of the Bank.
The units are translated daily using a basket of 4 major currencies. In April 2009 the Central
Bank received an additional allocation of 41,852,670 units from the International Monetary
Fund (IMF).
The Special Drawing Rights were initially recorded by accounting for the Allocation of the
Special Drawing Rights as a liability and a corresponding entry as the Holdings of Special Drawing
Rights under external assets.  As the Special Drawing Rights are utilised by the Government,
the Holdings of the Special Drawing rights are decreased.
The Allocation of Special Drawing Rights accrues interest expense at an average rate of 0.33%
and the Holdings of Special Drawing Rights an income of 0.33%.  The interest rate is determined
every Friday by the IMF and adjusted by the Bank accordingly.
28. DOMESTIC DEPOSITS
Interest bearing deposits
Government of Swaziland

2 774 932

3 324 053

Capital Investment Fund

1 099 153

663 325

Banks in Swaziland

1 000 403

1 064 500

9 340

16 795

-

177

20 714

17 444

4 904 542

5 086 294

Funds administered by the Bank (28.1)
Financial Intelligence Unit
Other
Total domestic deposits
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28. DOMESTIC DEPOSITS (continued)

28.1  Funds administered by the Bank are deposits made by the Small Scale Enterprise Loan
Guarantee Scheme and Export Credit Guarantee Scheme (refer note 34). Other domestic
deposits consist of deposits by Swaziland Building Society and other miscellaneous deposits.
2017
E’000

2016
E’000

On demand

1 000 403

1 064 500

From 1 month to 6 months

3 894 054

4 021 794

4 894 457

5 086 294

Maturity analysis:

The maturity analysis is based on the remaining period from
year-end to contractual maturity.
Domestic deposits balances include the following balances
in foreign currencies;
2017
E’000

Spot Rate @
31 March 2017

2016
E’000

Spot Rate @
31 March 2016

Euro

237 053

14.27

287 888

16.75

US Dollar

545 361

13.34

603 445

14.70

782 414

891 333
2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Swaziland Government Debt service

16 966

65 438

Swaziland Government IFAD account

2 723

3 332

96

2 046

29. FOREIGN DEPOSITS AND LIABILITIES

Public Finance Management
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Swaziland Government ADB Grant account-Nercha and HIV
and TB projects

18 118

International Bank of Reconstruction and Development

10 598

10 528

ABSA

1 089

3 683

Other

7 505

22 672

Swaziland Government Road construction projects
Swaziland Government Pig Industry Enhancement

201 323
1 868
260 286

137 279

Analyses of currency composition and maturity structure is set out in note 39.2.
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2017
E’000

2016
E’000

13 519

33 998

Stanlib Swaziland (30.1, 30.2, 30.3)

272 692

150 834

African Alliance Swaziland (30.4)

101 944

-

388 155

184 832

10 894

5 057

From 7 months to 12 months

207 261

179 775

Over 12 months

170 000

-

388 155

184 832

30. OTHER LIABILITIES
Financial Liabilities
Disbursements

Maturity analysis:
On demand
From 1 month to 6 months

The maturity analysis is based on the remaining period from year end to contractual maturity. The
amounts disclosed in the analysis above are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
			
30.1 To protect the country’s reserves the Central Bank entered into an agreement with Stanlib
Swaziland to issue a private placement of E150 million. The amount earns an interest of Prime
less 2.5%.   Interest is payable quarterly in arrears on 06 June 2016, 05 September 2016, 5
December 2016 and 06 March 2017. The principal amount is re-payable on 06 March 2017.
30.2 To protect the country’s reserves the Central Bank entered into an agreement with Stanlib
Swaziland to issue a private placement of E100 million. The amount earns an interest of Prime
less 2.5%.  Interest is payable quarterly in arrears on 14 July 2016, 14 October 2016, 16 January
2017 and 13 April 2017. The principal amount is re-payable on 13 April 2017.
30.3 To protect the country’s reserves the Central Bank entered into an agreement with Stanlib
Swaziland to issue a private placement of E170 million. The amount earns an interest of Prime
less 1.75%. Interest is payable quarterly in arrears on 7 June 2017, 7 September 2017, and 7
December 2017. The principal amount is re-payable on 7 March 2018.
30.4 To protect the country’s reserves the Central Bank entered into an agreement with African
Alliance Swaziland to issue a private placement of E100 million. The amount earns an interest
of Prime less 1.4%.  Interest is payable quarterly in arrears on 10 January, 10 April 2016, 1o July
and 10 October. The principal amount is re-payable on 10 October 2017.
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31. PROVISIONS

Provision
Other
E’000

Provision
for Staff
Terminal
Benefits
E’000

Total
E’000

5 450

6 236

3 890

18 863

676

8 026

5 984

7 978

22 664

Used during the year

-

(5 348)

(6 236)

(4 969)

(16 553)

As at 31 March 2017

3 963

8 128

5 984

6 899

24 974

As at 31 March 205

3 184

6 335

2 923

3 570

16 012

Additional provision for the year

1 352

4 164

6 236

3 890

15 642

(1 249)

(5 049)

(2 923)

(3 570)

(12 791)

3 287

5 450

6 236

3 890

18 863

2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Provision
for
Gratuity
E’000

Provision
for Leave
Pay E’000

3 287

As at 31 March 2016
Additional provision for the year

Used during the year
As at 31 March 2016

Analysis of total provisions:
Non current
Current

3 963

3 287

21 011

15 576

24 974

18 863

Leave Pay Provision
This provision is for employees’ entitlements to annual leave recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date. The provision is calculated on the number
of days that the employees have not taken in respect of their leave entitlement. The anticipated
utilisation of the amount is in the near future.
Gratuity Provision

128

This provision is made for payments in accordance with the contract basis renewable every three
years. The provision is calculated at the rate of 25% of the value of total annual remuneration
package of the contractor as at terminal date multiplied by the number of completed year of
service. The cash flow is expected to occur in the financial year when the contract term is not
renewed on expiry.
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31. PROVISIONS (continued)
Provision Other

This provision is for committed expenses on which good/services has already been rendered
but not paid for.
2017
E’000

2016
E’000

287 489

245 276

(287 489)

(245 276)

76 468

114 024

167 213

173 465

243 681

287 489

Opening balance

1 490 535

741 731

Revaluation (gains)/ losses

(187 148)

463 306

-

285 498

1 303 387

1 490 535

32. AMOUNTS PAYABLE TO THE CONSOLIDATED FUND
Opening balance
Transfer to the Government of Swaziland current account
Transfer to the Consolidated Fund in terms of Section 35 (4)
of the Order
Transfer to the Consolidated Fund as provided under Section 8
(3) of the Order

Amounts relate to transfers made in terms of Section 8(3) and
Section 35(4) of the Order which require that the balance remaining
in the Appropriation account and 20% of the amount remaining in
the Revaluation reserve shall be paid to the Consolidated Fund
respectively.
33. IMF SECURITIES ACCOUNT
IMF Securities Account

Additional subscription for IMF Quota fee

The IMF securities account represents accumulated revaluation gains on the IMF quota
subscription account on the initial and quota payments made by the Swaziland Government.
Settlement of the currency valuation payable to the Fund must be affected promptly after each
April 30 or at the initiative of the IMF. Included in this balance is the reserve tranche position
which is the difference between the IMF quota and the Fund’s holdings of a member’s currency.
The IMF securities account was converted at the SDR rate of 18.1161 at year end (2016: 20.72).
The Swaziland Government during the year ended 31 March 2016 paid an amount of E285
million to subscribe for an additional IMF quota allocation under the 14th general review on the
4/2/2016 amounting to SDR 27 800 000.
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33. IMF SECURITIES ACCOUNT (continued)
2017
E,000

2016
E’000

1 422 106

1 626 300

(1 303 387)

(1 490 535)

(172)

(177)

118 547

135 588

30 091

35 501

General resources account
IMF Quota Subscription (refer to Note 13)
Currency Holdings
IMF securities account No 2
Reserve Tranche position
The reserve tranche equals the Fund’s holdings of the bank’s
currency (excluding holdings which reflect the member’s use
of Fund credit) that is less than the member’s quota. The
reserve tranche is a part of the member’s external reserves
and may be purchased at any time.
34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
34.1 Small Scale Enterprise Loan Guarantee Scheme
There is a contingent liability under this scheme in respect
of guarantees, limited to four times the balance of the
Special Fund maintained under Section 41 (bis) of the Act, as
amended.
Guarantees outstanding
The contingent liability is dependent on the event the
enterprise whose liability is covered under the scheme
defaults to the lenders, that is, the local commercial banks.
The uncertainty of the event is due to that the bank cannot
reliably determine when the enterprise will default on their
financial liabilities with the commercial banks.
Balance of funds:
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Capital

22 400

17 400

Deficit

(4 417)

(5 523)

17 983

11 877

The bank has also disclosed above the net asset position of the
scheme. The capital contribution was made by the ministry
of the finance at the inception of the scheme and the loss
has been incurred in the normal operations of the fund as
dictated by the Order
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2017
E’000

2016
E’000

-

-

Capital

1 100

1 100

Profit

3 022

3 875

4 122

4 975

34.2 Export Credit Guarantee Scheme
There is a contingent liability under this scheme in respect of
guarantees, limited to three times the cash balance available
to the Fund in the books of the Bank and that no single exporter
may be guaranteed for an amount in excess of one-third of the
available limit.
Guarantees outstanding
The contingent liability is dependent on the event the enterprise
whose liability is covered under the scheme defaults to the
lenders, that is, the local commercial banks. The uncertainty
of the event is due to that the bank cannot reliably determine
when the enterprise will default on their financial liabilities with
the commercial banks. There were no guarantees outstanding
as at 31 March 2017.
Balance of funds:

The bank has also disclosed above the net asset position of the scheme. The capital contribution
was made by the ministry of the finance at the inception of the scheme and the loss has been
incurred in the normal operations of the fund as dictated by the Order.
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35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The related party disclosure is required in terms of IAS 24, Related Parties Disclosures.
The following transactions were carried out with related parties;
35.1 Transactions with the Swaziland Government
The bank is wholly owned and controlled by the Swaziland Government, which own 100% of its
capital contribution.
35.1.1 Swaziland Government Schemes
Interest
Paid

Deposit
balance

Interest
Paid

Deposit
balance

155

8 159

131

12 744

40

1 181

47

4 050

Government of Swaziland deposits

57 725

2 774 932

68 154

3 324 053

Capital Investment Fund

30 409

1 099 153

24 455

1 064 500

88 329

3 883 425

92 787

4 405 347

Small Scale Enterprise Loan Guarantee
Scheme
Export Credit Guarantee Scheme

The above Schemes are administered by the Bank on behalf of the Government of Swaziland.
Funds are deposited with the Bank and interest is paid on these balances. The Government of
Swaziland deposits are government funds held by the Central Bank as a Government bank
2017
E’000

2016
E’000

-

1 652

Payroll Expenses

-

277

Utilities and other expenses

-

1 929

35.1.2 Expenses recovered by the Bank from the Special Funds
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The bank has an agreement with the Government schemes whereby the bank charges the
schemes payroll expenses for the bank’s staff members who are responsible for the operations
of the funds and also charges the funds rent space for the occupying the bank offices and
other utilities including printing and telephone expenses amongst other operational costs. This
arrangement was changed effective 1 April 2016 whereby the bank is no longer recovering the
operational costs from the funds.
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2017
E’000

2016
E’000

243 681

287 489

1 123 211

3 278

3 324

3 278

1 119 887

-

2 774 932

3 324 053

544

487

17 213

10 759

5 565

675

35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)
35.1 Transactions with the Swaziland Government
(continued)
(i)

Amounts payable to the consolidated fund
(refer to note 32)
The amount is payable to the government’s current
account in accordance with section 35 (4) and section
8 (3) of the Order

(ii)

Amounts due from the Swaziland Government
(refer to note 16)
- Treasury bills purchased by the Bank from the
Swaziland Government
- Advances to the Swaziland Government

(iii)   Swaziland Government Deposits held with the bank     
(refer to note 28)
This balance comprises of Government bank
accounts held with the bank earning interest and
variable rates.
35.2 Key Management Compensation
Key management are those charged with planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the bank,
directly or indirectly. Transactions with key management
personnel include salaries, gratuities and director’s fees.
Compensation paid to key management is shown below:
Board and Related Fees
Remuneration – total cost to the bank
The remuneration to management is in accordance with
the employer contracts with the management.
Loans and advances
The loans and advances are made to key management
in accordance with the bank’s human resource policy.
The loans are charged an interest rate averaging 5% per
annum and are repayable in 1-25 years.
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3 963

Gratuity Provision (refer to note 31)

3 287

This provision is made for payments in accordance with the
contract basis renewable every three years. The provision
is calculated at the rate of 25% of the value of total annual
remuneration package
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36. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS OBLIGATION
2017
E’000

2016
E’000

12 135

11 171

2017

2016

E’000

E’000

Contracted

-

-

Not contracted

-

-

-

-

Employee contributions to defined contribution plan
The Bank makes contributions to a defined contribution plan
that provides pension benefits for permanent employees upon
retirement.
37. TAXATION
In terms of Section 56 of the Order, the Bank is exempt from
taxation in respect of its profits and operations.
38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency
risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Bank’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the
Bank.
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Risk Management at the Central Bank of Swaziland, forms an integral part of reserves
management within the governance structures of the bank starting from the level of the Board.
Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank
the Board defines the investment guidelines and the Bank’s strategic asset allocation. The
Investment committee formulates the investment mandate and monitors compliance with the
Investment guidelines. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management,
as well as for specific areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use
of derivative financial instruments, and investing excess liquidity. The types of risk that the
foreign currency reserves are exposed to and the Bank’s risk management approaches are
stated below.

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

Central Bank of Swaziland

Annual Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.1

Market Risk
Market price risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in market conditions and prices.
The Bank follows a passive investment strategy, whereby the bank tracts a customised
benchmark. The Bank’s instruments are mark to market and thus the portfolio reflects
market value at time of reporting.
39.1.1

Interest Rate Risks
Since foreign currency reserves are invested in fixed income instruments, The
Bank isexposed to interest rate risk, which is the risk that the market value of
securities will decline due to changes in market interest rate. The Bank uses the
investment benchmark’s target duration as means of managing interest rate risk.
As at 31 March 2017 the weighted duration for ZAR USD and AUD portfolios were
4.04, 0.36 and 0.03 months, respectively.
The sensitivity analysis tables below measure the impact of a 25 basis points
increase in interest rates on both USD and AUD portfolios. It also shows the
sensitivity analysis table with the impact of a 50 basis points increase in the ZAR
portfolio as compares with portfolio holdings in 2017.
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0.18
1.00

-

6 000 000

8 179 860

46 114 462

2m deposit

3m deposit

4m to 6m deposit

-

2.80

1.43

2.29

0.98

Yield after
0.25% Shock

-

2.30

0.93

1.79

0.48

Yield After
0.25% Shock

-

13.3450

13.3450

13.3450

13.3450

Exchange
Rate

1.3

2.02

-

1.3

0.3

Interest
Rate

1.55

2.27

1.55

0.55

Yield after
0.25% Shock

1.05

1.77

-

1.05

0.05

Yield After
0.25% Shock

14.7030

14.7030

14.7030

14.7030

14.7030

Exchange
Rate

86 684 943

SZL
Equivalent

678 020 940

120 268 486

88 218 000

-

110 272 500

359 261 953

SZL
Equivalent

377 450 180

-

80 070 000

110 607 737

100 087 500

IMPACT OF 25 BASIS POINTS SHOCK ON USD PORTFOLIO – 2016

-

2.55

1.18

2.04

0.73

Interest
Rate

14 125 436

2 505 593

1 837 875

-

2 297 344

7 484 624

Basis Points
Increase
SZL Equivalent

65 529

-

13 901

19 203

17 376

15 049

Basis points
Increase SZL
equivalent

(14 125 436)

(2 505 593)

(1 837 875)

-

(2 297 344)

(7 484 624)

Basis Points
  Decrease
SZL Equivalent

(65 529)

-

(13 901)

(19 203)

(17 376)

(15 049)

Basis points
Decrease
SZL Equivalent

The durations of the USD portfolio for 2015/2016 and the 2016/2017 were 0.31 and 0.36 months respectively. Longer term Credit Linked Notes contributed to the
duration extension when compared to 2015/16.

0.13

-

0.16

7 500 000

1m deposit

0.53

24 434 602

Instrument

Overnight

Actual
Portfolio
Weights

0.21

Amount
Invested
(USD)

3m deposit

0.29

1.00

6 000 000

2m deposit

0.27

28 284 015

8 288 328

1m deposit

0.23

-

7 500 000

Overnight

Actual
Portfolio
Weights

-

6 495 687

Instrument

4m to 6m deposit

Amount
Invested
(USD)

IMPACT OF 25 BASIS POINTS SHOCK ON USD PORTFOLIO – 2017

39.1.1 Interest rate risks (continued)
The sensitivity analysis tables below measure the impact of an increase in interest rates by 0.25% (25bp) on the bank’s USD and EURO and an increase in interest
rates by 0.5% (50bp) on the bank’s ZAR portfolios, comparing the years ended 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017:
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-

Actual
Portfolio
Weights
1.00
1.00

-

-

-

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

-

-

Amount
Invested
(USD)

486 978

-

-

-

486 978

Instrument

Overnight

-

-

-

-

-

Yield after
0.25% Shock

-

-

-

-

-

Yield After
0.25% Shock

-

-

-

-

-

Exchange
Rate

1.5

-

-

-

1.5

Interest
Rate

1.75

-

-

-

1.75

Yield after
0.25% Shock

1.25

-

-

-

1.25

Yield After
0.25% Shock

16.7460

-

-

-

16.7460

Exchange
Rate

IMPACT OF 25 BASIS POINTS SHOCK ON USD PORTFOLIO – 2016

-

-

-

-

-

Interest
Rate

-

-

-

8 154 928

SZL
Equivalent

-

-

-

-

-

SZL
Equivalent

IMPACT OF 25 BASIS POINTS SHOCK ON USD PORTFOLIO – 2017

1 699

-

-

-

1 699

Basis Points
Increase SZL
Equivalent

-

-

-

-

-

Basis points
Increase SZL
equivalent

(1 699)

-

-

-

(1 699)

Basis Points
Decrease
SZL Equivalent

-

-

-

-

-

Basis points
Decrease
SZL Equivalent

The duration of the EUR portfolios for 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 were 0.38 and 0.00 months respectively. The assets were fully invested in the money market
instruments.

7m to 12m deposit

4m to 6m deposit

1m deposit

7m to 12m deposit

4m to 6m deposit

1m deposit

Overnight

Instrument

Actual
Portfolio
Weights

Amount
Invested
(USD)

39.1.1 Interest rate risks (continued)
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-

-

-

-

4m to 6m deposit

7m to 12m deposit

-

-

-

1.85

1.00

-

-

1.35

0.50

Yield After
0.25% Shock

-

-

10.1993

10.1993

Exchange
Rate

135 828 515

-

-

-

-

-

Interest
Rate

-

-

-

-

-

Yield
after
0.25%
Shock

-

-

-

-

-

Yield After
0.25% Shock

-

-

-

-

-

Exchange
Rate

-

-

50 196 764

85 631 751

SZL
Equivalent

-

-

-

-

-

SZL
Equivalent

-

-

-

-

-

25 Basis Points
Increase
SZL Equivalent

25 325

-

-

10 458

14 867

25 Basis points
Increase
SZL equivalent

-

-

-

-

-

25 Basis Points
Decrease SZL
Equivalent

(25 325)

-

-

(14 867)

(14 867)

25 Basis points
Decrease
SZL Equivalent

The duration of the AUD portfolios for 2016/2017 was 0.03 months. At the end of the 2016/2017 period the assets were mainly invested in cash and short term
deposit.

-

-

-

1m deposit

-

-

Actual
Portfolio
Weights

Overnight

Instrument

13 321 418

Amount
Invested

1.00

-

7m to 12m deposit

-

1.60

0.75

Interest
Rate

Yield
after
0.25%
Shock

IMPACT OF 25 BASIS POINTS SHOCK ON USD PORTFOLIO – 2016

-

-

4m to 6m deposit

-

0.37

4 923 061

Overnight

1m deposit

0.63

8 398 357

Instrument

Actual
Portfolio
Weights

IMPACT OF 25 BASIS POINTS SHOCK ON USD PORTFOLIO – 2017

Amount
Invested

39.1.1 Interest rate risks (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017
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0.28
0.40
0.08
0.10
0.03
0.03
0.02
0.03
0.03
1.00

1 178 167 541

1 678 779 062

375 118 329

401 673 208

149 019 380

105 019 418

81 770 959

120 815 342

111 660 548

4 202 023 787

Overnight deposit

1m deposit

2m deposit

3m deposit

3m to 6m deposit

R208

R204

R2023

R207

Instrument

Amount
Invested

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND
7.25

7.75

8.00

6.75

7.73

8.65

8.22

8.16

7.36

Interest
Rate

7.25

7.75

8.00

6.75

7.73

8.65

8.22

8.16

7.86

Yield
After
0.50%
Shock

6.75

7.25

7.50

6.25

7.23

8.15

7.72

7.66

6.86

Yield
After
0.50%
Shock

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

Exchange
Rate

4 202 023 787

111 660 548

120 815 342

81 770 959

105 019 418

149 019 380

401 673 208

375 118 329

1 678 779 062

1 178 167 541

SZL Equivalent

IMPACT OF 50 BASIS POINTS SHOCK ON ZAR PORTFOLIO – 2017

Actual
Portfolio
Weights

for the year ended 31 March 2017
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2 944 833

558 303

99 300

100 814

86 317

122 482

495 214

308 316

689 909

484 178

50 basis Points
Increase SZL
equivalent

(2 944 833)

(558 303)

(99 300)

(100 814)

(86 317)

(122 482)

(495 214)

(308 316)

(689 909)

(484 178)

50 basis Points
decrease SZL
equivalent
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7.29

8.11

7.84

7.53

7.14

Interest
Rate

7.79

8.61

8.34

8.03

7.64

Yield
After
0.50%
Shock

6.79

7.61

7.34

7.03

6.64

Yield
After
0.50%
Shock

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

Exchange
Rate

4 934 466 410

33 542 922

420 737 339

408 539 954

2 498 362 792

1 573 283 403

SZL
Equivalent

2 569 136

41 354

518 717

335 786

1 026 724

646 555

0 basis Points
Increase SZL
equivalent

(2 569 136)

(41 354)

(518 717)

(335 786)

(1 026 724)

(646 555)

50 basis Points
decrease SZL
equivalent

The duration of the ZAR portfolio for 2015/16 and 2016/17 was 1.8 months and 4.4 months, respectively.  In 2016/2017, the proportion of fixed income increased
from 1% to 10.5%, raising the overall duration of the portfolio.

1.00

0.09

4 934 466 410

420 737 339

3mdeposit

0.08
0.01

408 539 954

2m deposit

0.50

0.32

Actual
Portfolio
Weights

IMPACT OF 50 BASIS POINTS SHOCK ON ZAR PORTFOLIO – 2016

33 542 922

2 498 362 792

1m deposit

ZAR 159

1 573 283 403

Overnight deposit

Instrument

Amount
Invested
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39.1.2 Currency Risk
Currency Risk

The country’s FX reserves are held in two major currencies: being the South African Rand, and US dollar.
This by implication means that there is an exposure to currency risk arising from adverse movements
in foreign exchange rates. By assessing the pattern of Government short and long-term debt as well
as general expenditure a currency composition was formulated to act as a natural hedge against
currency risk as it matches the liabilities against the assets. The bank usually holds about ZAR 2 billion
in its liquidity tranche at the beginning of each quarter for liquidity and working capital purposes
with the remainder of the reserves (core portfolio) split according to the currency composition. The
currency composition is a follows:  74% in ZAR, 21% in USD, 3% in EUR and 2% other; this is done with
a permissible deviation of 5% to the downside and topside.
As of 31st March 2017 the strategic currency composition stood as follows:  30% in USD, 0% in EUR, 68%
in ZAR and 2% in other currencies.
Our ZAR portfolio is trenched into three; the working capital, liquidity and core portfolio and the
working capital and the liquidity portfolios are fully invested in the money market, while the core
portfolio invested in bonds. The working capital portfolio has a time horizon of zero to three months
in accordance with our projected cash outflow as demanded by the local banks as well as Government
for her general spending. This is done to match short-term liabilities versus short-term assets and
eliminate in the process any currency risk that may arise from mismatched positions, forcing us to
buy or sell hard currencies (EUR, GBP and USD) in order to meet short term obligations. The liquidity
portfolio has a time horizon of three to twelve months, and is used to replenish any shortages or
shortfalls in the working capital portfolio. The core portfolio’s sole mandate on the other hand is to
grow reserves through enhanced return; following that, the core portfolio has a longer investment
time horizon of three months to three years.
Depending on developments in the markets these investment time horizons are adhered to, but at the
moment the market is undergoing a period of decreasing interest rates in South Africa, and hence,
going forward into the new financial year 2016/2017, the portfolio, especially the core portfolio, will
be re-priced and the duration will be kept medium term to twelve months and invested in the money
market and overweight SA government bonds. Short term will be done away with so as to avoid
reinvestment risk. Because the South African rand is at par with the local Lilangeni no currency risk
arises from these portfolios.
Cash Balances
The Bank has about seven major Nostro accounts used for making government payments as well as CBS
payments. These accounts are purely operational and hence balances are always kept at the most
minimal levels possibly achievable. These accounts also form a negligible percentage of the whole
portfolio and hence they are not taken as part of the investment portfolio. The stipulated balances
to be held in these accounts are contained in the investment policy guidelines. The risk that arises on
these accounts are related to foreign exchange movements leading to either revaluation loss or profit,
which is also minimal considering the weight of these accounts on total assets.
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-

243 681
6 462 487

Amount payable to the Consolidated Fund

-

388 154

Other Liabilities

-

24 974

Provisions

-

11 687

IMF Securities Account

Foreign deposits and Liabilities

-

4 904 542

Domestic deposits

-

Currency in circulation

Allocation of special drawing rights

889 449

-

5 883 928

LIABILITIES

-

1 237 200

Cash and cash equivalents

-

-

-

1 123 211

85 054

5 908

Amounts due from the Government of Swaziland

Other assets

Claims on private sector

43 268

Notes and coins

-

-

22 689

Loans and Advances

83

-

-

-

-

83

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

CHF
E’000

-

-

-

IMF Quota Subscription

3 019 926

12 704

333 968

CAD
E’000

Holdings of Special Drawing Rights

External Investments

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

ASSETS

ZAR/ E

39.1.2 Currency Risk (continued)
As at 31 March 2017 the bank had the following currency position exposure:
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6 772

-

-

-

-

6 772

-

-

1

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

EURO
E’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

209

209

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

GBP
E’000

208 187

-

-

-

-

208 187

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

JPY
E’000

33 557

-

-

-

-

33 557

-

-

-

1 952 933

283 064

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1 669 869

-

-

USD
E’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

50 197

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

50 197

-

-

AUD
E’000

2 320 335

-

-

-

1 445 610

-

-

874 725

-

2 304 839

-

-

-

-

-

-

882 733

1 422 106

-

-

SDR
E’000

9 031 421

243 681

388 154

24 974

1 445 610

260 286

4 904 542

874 725

889 449

10 192 107

1 520 474

1 123 211

85 054

5 908

43 268

22 689

882 733

1 422 106

4 739 992

12 704

333 968

Total
E’000
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-

71 996

-

18 863
184 832
287 489
6 559 572

Other Liabilities

Amount payable to the Consolidated Fund

Provisions

IMF Securities Account

-

-

5 086 294
-

-

137 279

Foreign deposits and Liabilities

Domestic deposits

Allocation of special drawing rights

Currency in circulation

LIABILITIES

Cash and cash equivalents

Amounts due from the Government of Swaziland

Other assets

-

-

3 979

Claims on private sector

844 815

-

56 020

Notes and coins

108

-

21 445

Loans and Advances

5 556 097

-

-

Holdings of Special Drawing Rights

-

-

-

IMF Quota Subscription

108

-

3 361 801

External Investments

3 278

-

17 818

1 661 771

-

357 989

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

ASSETS

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

781

781

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

ZAR/ E PULA
CAD
E’000 E’000 E’000

39.1.2 Currency Risk (continued)
As at 31 March 2016 the bank had the following currency position exposure

for the year ended 31 March 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1 278

1 278

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

CHF
E’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

9 825

9 825

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

EURO
E’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1 610

1 610

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

GBP
E’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

14 549

14 549

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

JPY
E’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2 231 947

401 807

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1 830 140

-

-

USD
E’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1 746

1 746

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

AUD
E’000

2 490 858

-

-

-

1 490 535

-

1 000 323

-

2 635 681

-

-

-

-

-

-

1 009 381

1 626 300

-

-

-

SDR
E’000

9 050 430

287 489

184 832

18 863

1 490 535

137 279

5 086 294

1 000 323

844 815

10 453 622

2 093 475

3 278

71 996

3 979

56 020

21 445

1 009 381

1 626 300

5 191 941

17 818

357 989

Total
E’000

Central Bank of Swaziland
Annual Financial Statements

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

143

144

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

AUD- term deposits

AUD
4 923 061

4 923 061

10.1962

10.6040

9.9923

50 196 515

50 196 515

SZL
equivalent

Balance in
foreign currency

-2%

1 418 363

4%

1 213

1 417 150

99 401
Rate at
year end

13.8410

13.8410

12

14 171

2 007 861

(1 003 930)

(1 003 930)

Effect of 3%
decrease on
the income statement

Effect of 1%
increase on the
income statement
2 007 861

(42 550)

-

-

(36)

(42 514)

14 183

-

14.4118

14.4118

Effect of 3%
decrease on the
income statement

Effect of 1%
increase on the
income statement

EUR- BIS MTI’s

14.2691

14.2691

-3%

(6 320 746)

(163)

(3 909 966)

(533 439)

(1 877 178)

Effect of 1%
decrease on the
income statement

12 383 482

320

7 660 328

1 045 104

3 677 730

Effect of 3%
increase on the
income statement

-

85

99 316

1%

12 157

290 765 237

39 669 307

139 596 627

SZL
equivalent

Rate at
year end

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

-1%

Balance in
foreign currency

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

+3%

SZL
equivalent

470 043 328

13.3450

13.3450

13.3450

13.3450

Rate at
year end

35 222 430

911

21 788 328

2 972 597

10 460 594

Balance in
foreign currency

EUR- term deposits

Cash/travellers cheques

EUR- Nostro

EUR

USD- Fund managers

USD- Term deposits

USD- Cash/travellers cheques

USD- Nostro

USD

EXTERNAL INVESTMENTS 2017

The effect of exchange rate fluctuations on the bank’s income statement is analysed as follows:

for the year ended 31 March 2017
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Regional Inter Implem Support Project

SIDC

Swd Govt Debt Service

Replenishment on government reserves

Capital investment fund

Climate Smart Agric. Fund

Euro

Cash/travellers cheques

Nostro

GBP

EXTERNAL INVESTMENTS 2017

for the year ended 31 March 2017

16.6345
16.6345

42 449
12 590

17.1335

17.1335

3%

16.4682

16.4682

-1%

14.2691

12 483 951

14.2691

1 883

17 087 559

14.2691

14.2691

236 162
236 494

14.2691

4 129 069

-

Rate at
the end

Balance in
Foreign
Currency

14.4118

14.4118

14.4118

14.4118

14.4118

1%

13.8410

13.8410

13.8410

13.8410

13.8410

-3%

SZL
equivalent

915 546

209 428

706 118

SZL
equivalent

243 824 095

3 374 557

26 876

3 369 819

58 918 098

178 134 745

DEPOSITS AND EXTERNAL LIABILITIES 2017

55 039

Rate at
the end

Balance in
Foreign
Currency

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

2 438 242

33 746

269

33 698

589 181

1 781 348

Effect of 1%
increase on the
income statemen

27 466

6 283

21 183

Effect of 3%
increase on the
income statement

(7 314 724)

(101 237)

(806)

(101 095)

(1 767 543)

(5 344 043)

Effect of 1%
decrease on the
income statement

(9 155)

(2 094)

(7 061)

Effect of 1%
decrease on the
income statement
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13.3450
13.3450
13.3450
13.3450
13.3450

644
201 758
85 116
55 745

Swd Govt IFAD Grant no 935

Swd ADB Grant-Nercha

Swd Govt Stats Capacity
13.3450
13.3450
13.3450
13.3450

7 196
33 861
140 000

International Convention Centre

Pig industry enhancement project

Private Sector Project

Public Finance Management
165 685

IFAD Rural Finance and Enterprise

Swd HIV & TB Project

Swd Govt Econ Diversification
1 151 679

13.3450

1 511

Swd HIV/AIDS & TB Project

13.3450

149
13.3450

13.3450

89 033

13.3450

13.3450

85

18 395

13.3450
13.3450

13.3450

847 271
2 811 994

13.3450

25

11 825 003

13.3450

Rate at
the year

25 382 043

Balance
in Foreign
Currency

120 878

Swd Govt IFAD Loan No.57

Lusip IFAD GEF Project

Swaziland Govt Debt Service

Fund Managers Fees

Replenishment of government reserves

Govt USD General Account

Local GVT Project

ADB US Dollar Special Account

Capital investment fund

US Dollar

DEPOSITS AND EXTERNAL LIABILITIES 2017

for the year ended 31 March 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

+3%

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

-1%

1 868 300

451 875

2 211 066

96 031

743 917

1 135 873

2 692 461

8 594

15 369 156

1 613 117

245 481

20 164

1 988

1 188 145

1 134

157 804 665

37 526 060

11 306 831

334

338 723 363

SZL equivalent

49 221

11 905

58 251

2 530

19 599

29 925

70 934

226

404 907

42 498

6 467

531

52

31 302

30

4 157 428

988 639

297 883

9

8 923 804

Effect of 3%
increase on the
income
statement

(25 123)

(6 076)

(1 291)

(10 004)

(15 274)

(36 206)

(116)

(206 672)

(21 692)

(3 301)

(271)

(27)

(15 977)

(15)

(2 122 024)

(504 619)

(152 045)

(4)

(4 554 867)

Effect of -1%
decrease on the
income
statement

Central Bank of Swaziland
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ADB Manzini- Mbhadlane Highway project

ADB Manzini- Mbabane Highway project

SADC/ HRD Ext dep non interest earn

SADC/ HRD Ext dep non interest earn

Electronic Document record Management
system

US Dollar

43 354 565

13.3450

248 522

13.3450

5 892
13.3450

13.3450

1 084

160 612

13.3450

Rate at
the year

384

Balance
in Foreign
Currency

DEPOSITS AND EXTERNAL LIABILITIES 2017 (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

13.6966

+3%

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

13.1655

-1%

578 566 667

3 316 526

2 143 367

78 629

14 466

5 124

SZL equivalent

15 242 572

87 375

56 468

2 072

381

135

Effect of 3%
increase on the
income
statement

(7 750 345)

(44 598)

(28 822)

(1 057)

(195)

(69)

Effect of -1%
decrease on the
income
statement
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US Dollar

British Pound

Euro

Net decrease
on the income
statement
(14 071 092)
(7 357 274)
(9 155)
(21 437 521)

Net increase
on the income
statement
27 626 054
2 452 425
27 466
30 105 945

The net effect of the movements on the revaluation gains in the income statement would be as follows:

DEPOSITS AND EXTERNAL LIABILITIES 2017

for the year ended 31 March 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

8 668 424

18 311

(4 904 849)

13 554 962

Total effect
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CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

EUR- BIS MTI’s

EUR- term  deposits

Cash/travellers cheques

EUR- Nostro

EUR

USD- Fund managers

USD- Term deposits

USD- Cash/travellers cheques

USD- Nostro

USD

EXTERNAL INVESTMENTS 2016

-

601 280

-

-

16.6167

16.6167

16.6167

15.6991

15.6991

15.6991

10 069 032

-

-

243 989

9 825 043

16.7460

15.6991

14 570

16.6167

16.7460

586 710

1 508 897 949

-6% SZL equivalent

-1%

14.5053

318 758 986

Rate at year
end

15.0904

14.5053

38 693 591

360 734 514

Balance in
foreign
currency

14.7030

102 625 175

15.0904

14.5053

14.5053

-1% SZL equivalent

2 227 085 040

14.7030

21 679 860

15.0904

15.0904

+13%

151 471 471

14.7030

14.7030

24 534 756
2 631 680

Rate at
year end

Balance in
foreign
currency

EXTERNAL INVESTMENTS 2016

The effect of exchange rate fluctuations on the bank’s income statement is analysed as follows:

for the year ended 31 March 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

(77 762)

-

-

(1 884)

(75 878)

Effect of 1%
decrease on the
income statement

58 673 456

39 752 527

8 397 834

1 019 398

9 503 697

Effect of 3%
increase on the
income statement

(629 479)

-

-

(15 253)

(614 226)

Effect of 6%
decrease on the
income statement

(29 947 966)

(20 290 390)

(4 286 403)

(520 319)

(4 850 854)

Effect of 1%
decrease on the
income statement
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SIDC

Swd Govt Debt Service

Replenishment on Government Reserves

Capital Investment Fund

Climate Smart Agric. Fund

Euro

21.1150

21.1150

Rate at
year end

21.6080

21.6080

2%

21.0101

21.0101

-0.5%

17 336 948

1 864

143 643

4 707 490

12 483 951

-

Balance in
Foreign
Currency

16.7460

16.7460

16.7460

16.7460

16.7460

Rate at
year end

16.6167

16.6167

16.6167

16.6167

16.6167

-1%

15.6991

15.6991

15.6991

15.6991

15.6991

-6%

DEPOSITS AND EXTERNAL LIABILITIES 2016

100 703

76 248
24 455

Nostro

Balance in
Foreign
Currency

Cash/travellers cheques

GBP

EXTERNAL INVESTMENTS 2016

for the year ended 31 March 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

290 324 542

31 219

2 405 442

78 831 630

209 056 251

-

SZL
equivalent

2 126 342

516 366

1 609 976

SZL
equivalent

(2 242 167)

(241)

(18 577)

(608 814)

(1 614 535)

-

Effect of 1%
increase on the
income statement

49 656

12 059

37 597

Effect of 2%
increase on the
income statement

(18 150 046)

(1 952)

(150 380)

(4 928 270)

(13 069 444)

-

Effect of 6%
decrease on the
income statement

(10 557)

(2 564)

(7 993)

Effect of 0.5%
decrease on the
income statement
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International Convention Centre

Private Sector Project

Public Finance Management

Swd Govt Stats Capacity

Swd ADB Grant-Nercha

IFAD Rural Finance and Enterprise

Swd Govt IFAD Grant No 935

Swd HIV/AIDS & TB Project

Swd HIV & TB Project

Swd Govt Econ Diversification

Swd Govt IFAD Loan No.57

Lusip IFAD GEF Project

Swaziland Govt Debt Service

Fund Managers Fees

Replenishment of Government Reserves

Govt USD General Account

Local GVT Project

ADB US Dollar Special Account

Capital investment fund

US Dollar

14.7030
14.7030

139 149
165 685
48 294 304

14.7030

14.7030

1 202 597

14.7030

85 116
117 455

14.7030

644
14.7030

14.7030

1 698 137
224 315

14.7030

228 611

14.7030

1 511
14.7030

14.7030

149
18 395

14.7030

3 372 211

14.7030

85

14.7030

2 811 994
14.7030

14.7030

71 891
12 862 499

14.7030.

14.7030

25 293 835
25

Rate at
year end

Balance in
Foreign
Currency

DEPOSITS AND EXTERNAL LIABILITIES 2016 (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017

+ 3%

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

15.0904

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

14.5053

-1%

710 071 180

17 681 789

2 436 067

2 045 909

1 726 944

1 251 467

3 298 111

9 468

24 967 715

3 361 265

270 459

22 217

2 189

49 581 621

1 250

189 117 318

41 344 751

1 057 012

368

371 895 260

SZL equivalent

18 707 111

465 834

64 179

53 900

45 497

32 970

86 890

249

657 785

88 554

7 125

585

58

1 306 248

33

4 982 372

1 089 244

27 847

10

9 797 731

Effect of 3%
Increase on the
Income Statement

(9 548 440)

(237 770)

(32 758)

(27 512)

(23 222)

(16 829)

(44 350)

(127)

(335 745)

(45 199)

(3 637)

(299)

(29)

(666 732)

(17)

(2 543 091)

(555 969)

(14 214)

(5)

(5 000 935)

Effect of 1%
Decrease on the
Income Statement
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152
(39 496 406)
(18 779 524)
(10 556)
(58 286 486)

380 568

( 2 319 930)
49 656

77

75 110 294

US Dollar

Euro

British Pound

Net decrease
on the income
statement

Net increase
on the income
statement

The net effect of the movements on the revaluation gains in the income statement would be as follows:

DEPOSITS AND EXTERNAL LIABILITIES 2017 (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

16 823 808

39 100

(21 099 454)

37 884 162

Total effect
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Liquidity Risk

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND
23 199

1 256

1 622 341
(470 981)

(2 093 322)

Cumulative liquidity sensitivity gap

Amount payable to the Consolidated Fund

(2 093 322)

3 522

376

Liquidity sensitivity gap

203 587

-

-

-

231 633

207 109

-

2 493 594

-

-

889 449

(358 779)

112 202

2 155 230

243 681

14 110

183 403

18 055

1 695 981

(312 025)

46 754

15 442

-

3 679

1 165

10 598

-

-

62 196

1 829 450

1 521 730

-

-

1 520 474

3 615 052

Provisions

Other Liabilities

Foreign deposits and liabilities

Domestic deposits

Currency in circulation

LIABILITIES

Cash and cash equivalents

Other assets

2 267 432

-

1 123 211

-

Amounts due from the Government of Swaziland

60 599

1 597

Claims on private sector
-

-

Loans and advances

1 121 022

7-12 Months
E’000

-

1 829 450

-

2-6 Months
E’000

-

External Investments

ASSETS

1 Month
E’000

On Demand
E’000

786 241

1 098 266

718 254

-

3 287

-

714 967

-

1 816 520

-

-

-

21 092

5 908

1 789 520

Over 12 Months
E’000

1 572 482

786 241

6 711 087

243 681

24 974

388 155

260 286

4 904 542

889 449

7 497 328

1 520 474

85 054

1 123 211

22 689

5 908

4 739 992

Total
E’000

Liquidity Analysis
Liquidity Risk involves or includes the inability to manage unplanned changes in funding resources. In the case of the Central Bank of Swaziland, it would be inability
to meet or honour foreign exchange obligations as they fall due. Another dimension would the probability that the Bank incur capital losses when it disposes off its
securities in the secondary market.The amounts included in the table are the contractual discounted cash flows. As a result, these amounts will not reconcile to
the amounts disclosed on the statement of financial position except for short-term payables and receivables to be settled within 12 months where discounting is
not applied.The Liquidity Risk Analysis statement as at 31 March 2017 is as follows:

39.2

for the year ended 31 March 2017
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Liquidity Risk (continued)

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND
301 221

Cumulative liquidity sensitivity gap

1 432 049

1 130 828

34 391

2 202 254
301 221

-

-

-

-

34 391

-

287 489

Liquidity sensitivity gap

Amount payable to the Consolidated Fund

5 450

-

Other Liabilities

Provisions

-

1 064 500

844 815

Foreign deposits and liabilities

Domestic deposits

Currency in circulation

LIABILITIES

1 165 219

-

2 503 475

-

Other assets

-

-

Amounts due from the Government of Swaziland

-

-

1 165 219

E’000

1 Month
E’000

2 093 475

-

Loans and advances

Cash and cash equivalents

-

410 000

E’000

Claims on private sector

External Investments

ASSETS

On Demand
E’000

(851 719)

(2 283 768)

4 313 404

-

3 890

184 832

137 279

3 987 403

-

2 029 636

-

71 996

3 278

-

3 979

1 950 383

E’000

2-6 Months
E’000

811 333

1 663 052

3 287

-

3 287

-

-

-

-

1 666 339

-

-

-

-

-

1 666 339

E’000

7-12 Months
E’000

826 542

15 209

6 236

-

6 236

-

-

-

-

21 445

-

-

-

21 445

-

-

E’000

Over 12 Months
E’000

1 653 084

826 542

6 559 572

287 489

18 863

184 832

137 279

5 086 294

844 815

7 386 114

2 093 475

71 996

3 278

21 445

3 979

5 191 941

E’000

Total
E’000

Liquidity Risk involves or includes the inability to manage unplanned changes in funding resources. In the case of the Central Bank of Swaziland, it would be inability
to meet or honour foreign exchange obligations as they fall due. Another dimension would the probability that the Bank incur capital losses when it disposes off its
securities in the secondary market.The amounts included in the table are the contractual discounted cash flows. As a result, these amounts will not reconcile to
the amounts disclosed on the statement of financial position except for short-term payables and receivables to be settled within 12 months where discounting is
not applied.The Liquidity Risk Analysis statement as at 31 March 2016 is as follows:

Liquidity Analysis
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CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

Australia

German

France

Canada

Botswana

Counterparty

Short Term Rating
F1
F1+
F1+
F1+
F1+
F1
F1
F1
F1+
F1
F2
F1+

Correspondence Bank

Bank of Botswana

Bank of Canada

Royal Bank of Canada

Bank of Montreal

Banque de France

Banque National de Paris

Credit Agricole

Societe Generale

Deutche Bundesbank

Deutche Bank - Frankfurt

Commerzbank

Reserve bank of Australia

Detailed below is a table which provides rating information on institutions where the Bank invests its funds:

AA-

BBB+

A-

AAA

A

A

A+

AA

AA-

AA

AAA

A-

Long Term Rating

Counterparties are group into three categories to determine limits in respect of investments, and are set at an equivalence of E750, E550 and E350 million for
Category 1, 2 and 3, respectively

39.3 Credit Risk
This is the risk that the bank’s counterparties will default on their obligations as they fall due. The bank mitigates this risk by investing with reputable institutions
which are rated by Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poors rating agencies. The bank also minimizes this risk by investing in money market instruments issued by
counterparties with short-term minimum rating of F1+ and long term rating of A, with the exception of the major South African banks. The counterparties for debt
issuers must have a short-term rating of F1+ and a long term rating of AA, with the exception of the Republic of South Africa.
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CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

United Kingdom

Switzerland

Republic of South Africa

Netherlands

Bank of Japan

Japan

F1+
F1
F1+
F2

Barclays PLC

HSBC Bank/Midland

Crown Agents Fin Services

F2

Credit Suisse

Bank of England

F1

F3

Investec Bank

UBS AG

F3

Nedbank

F1+

F3

Standard Bank of SA

F1+

F3

First Rand Bank

BIS

F3

Swiss National Bank

F3

ABSA

F1+

Rabobank

SARB

F1

F1

Short Term Rating

ABN AMRO

The Bank of Tokyo – Mitsubishi

Correspondence Bank

Credit Risk (continued)

Counterparty

39.3
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BB

AA-

A

AA+

A-

A

AAA

AA

BBB-

BBB-

BBB-

BBB-

BBB-

BBB-

AA-

A+

A

Long Term Rating

Central Bank of Swaziland
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Credit Risk (continued)

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

United Kingdom

Switzerland

Republic of South Africa

Netherlands

Japan

Counterparty

39.3

for the year ended 31 March 2017

F1
F1
F1+
F3
F3
F3
F3
F3
F3
F1+
F1+
F1
F2
F1+
F1
F1+
F2

ABN AMRO

Rabobank

SARB

ABSA

First Rand Bank

Standard Bank of SA

Nedbank

Investec Bank

Swiss National Bank

BIS

UBS AG

Credit Suisse

Bank of England

Barclays PLC

HSBC Bank/Midland

Crown Agents Fin Services

Short Term Rating

The Bank of Tokyo – Mitsubishi

Bank of Japan

Correspondence Bank

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

BB

AA-

A

AA+

A-

A

AAA

AA

BBB-

BBB-

BBB-

BBB-

BBB-

BBB-

AA-

A+

A

Long Term Rating

Central Bank of Swaziland
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F1

Citibank NY

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

Kingdom of Belgium

Government of Canada

Kingdom of Denmark

Republic of France

Belgium

Canada

Denmark

France

Government of Japan

Japan

Kingdom of Netherlands

Government of Switzerland

Netherlands

Switzerland

Govt Guaranteed Agencies

Republic of Italy

Govt Guaranteed Agencies

Republic of German

Italy

Germany

Republic of Austria

Austria

Govt Guaranteed Agencies

Australia

Australia

Sovereign and Sovereign Guaranteed

F1+

F1+

F1

F2

F1+

F1+

F1+

F1+

F1+

F1+

F1+

F1

JP Morgan chase

Debt Issuers

F1+

Federal Reserve Bank

United States of America

Short Term Rating

Correspondence Bank

Credit Risk (continued)

Counterparty

39.3
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AAA

AAA

A

BBB+

AAA

AA

AAA

AAA

AA

AA+

AAA

A

A+

AAA

Long Term Rating
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Credit Risk (continued)

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND
F1+
F1+

Council of Europe Development Bank

European Bank for Reconstruction & Development

Not rated
Not rated
Not rated
Not rated
Not rated
Not rated

Not rated
Not rated
Not rated
Not rated
Not rated
Not rated
Not rated

Rand Merchant Bank Asset Managers

Investec Asset Managers

Standard Bank Asset Managers

Coronation Asset Managers

Prudential Asset Managers

Allan Gray Asset Mangers

Nedbank Asset Managers

Not rated

Not rated

Not rated

AAA

AAA

AAA

AAA

BBB-

AAA

AA+

Long Term Rating

ABSA Money Asset Managers

Counterparties & RSA Asset Managers

IBRD    

F1+

Inter-American Development

F3

F1+

Govt Guaranteed Agencies

Republic of South Africa

Govt Guaranteed Agencies

USA Government

F1+

F1+

UK Government
Govt Guaranteed Agencies

Short Term Rating

Correspondence Bank

African Development Bank (ADB)

Supranational

South Africa

USA

UK

Counterparty

39.3
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Credit Risk (continued)

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND
Pounds
Pounds
Pounds
Euro
Pounds
Dollar

Bank of England

National Westminster bank

HSBC Bank/Midland

Citibank London

Citibank London

Reserve bank of Australia

United Kingdom

Japanese Yen

Bank of Tokyo

Japan

Francs

F1+

F1

F1

F1+

F1

F1+

F1

F1+

F1+

F1+

Euro
Dollar

F1+

F3

F3

F2

F2

F2

F1+

F1

Short Term Rating

Swiss Francs

Banque National Suisse

BIS

Rands

ABSA

France

Switzerland

Rands

Dollars

Bank of Mauritius

SARB

Euro
Euro

Commerzbank

Bank of Mauritius

Germany

Mauritius

Republic of South Africa

Canadian dollar

Bank of Canada

Canada

Pula

Currency

Bank of Botswana

Correspondence Bank

Botswana

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Counterparty

AAA

A

A

AA

BBB+

AA+

A

AA

AAA

AAA

AAA

BBB-

BBB-

AA+

AA+

BBB+

AAA

A-

Long Term Rating

1 508
99
3
-

706
775
12

1 966 413

14 549

13 396

1 423 495

1 278

170

-

-

0

379

1 433

2

1 575 394

1 178 668

-

1 470

1 334

2

8 155
1 670

-

781

1 583
1 417

108

2016
E’000
107

2017
E’000

Balances Held

The table below shows the maximum exposures to credit risk for the financial instruments held the maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of
mitigating factors:
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CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

United Kingdom

Switzerland

Republic of South Africa

Netherlands

External Investments

Counterparty

F1
F2

Union Bank of Switzerland

Bank of England

F2

F1+

BIS

Standard Bank PLC

F3

Investec

F2

F1

ABN AMBRO JHB

Crown Agents Fin Services

A

F3

Rand Merchant Bank

F1

F3

Nedbank

F1+

F3

Standard Corporate and Merchant

Barclays Bank

F3

South African Reserve Bank

HSBC Bank/Midland

AA+

F3

Standard Bank of South Africa

BBB

BBB

AA

A

AAA

BBB-

A

BBB-

BBB-

BBB-

BBB-

BBB-

BBB-

AA-

A

F1+

F1

Credit agricole

A

F3

F1

Natixis CE and BP

BBB+

Rabobank

F2

Commerzbank

Long Term Rating

ABSA

Short Term Rating

Correspondence Bank

200 375
500 517
330 296
553 876
33 333
168 046
141 893
425 935
352 881
300 656
552 340

50 217
322 005
120 831
423 851
356 321
305 196
508 800
507 160
392 097

2016
E’000

2017
E’000

Balances Held

The table below shows the maximum exposures to credit risk for the financial instruments held the maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of
mitigating factors:
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Credit Risk (continued)

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND
Not rated

OZ overseas

F1

Short Term Rating

Not rated

Citibank of New York

Correspondence Bank

World Bank Ramp Asset Managers

Unite States of America

External Investments

Counterparty

Not rated

AAA

A

Long Term Rating

120 404
1 511 381
8
5 191 941

1 379 092
12
4 748 784

2016
E’000
383 202

2017
E’000

Balances Held

The table below shows the maximum exposures to credit risk for the financial instruments held the maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of
mitigating factors:
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for the year ended 31 March 2017
39. 4

Settlement Risk

This is the risk that the Bank is exposed to when settling or clearing transactions. In its day to day
operations in financial markets, the Bank is exposed to the risk that one of the parties to a deal may
fail to honor its part in the contract. Settlement risk is present in the case of all trades where the
exchange of cash or securities is not immediate. This risk is of particular of significance as foreign
exchange transactions are settled only two days after the deal date, and uncertain events within
these two days could have a negative impact on the Bank
To mitigate settlement risk, the Bank implemented a policy of dealing only with reputable
counterparties that are highly rated by professional rating agencies, currently Fitch Rating. The
ratings are monitored by the Bank very closely and total trades with each counterparty are within set
limits. To diminish the risk of failure to deliver on the Bank’s part, all effort is made to comply with
international practice and internal procedures.
39.5

Operational Risk

This is a risk of financial losses or a damage to the Bank’s reputation as a result of non-financial factors
relating to its business. The non-financial or operational risk factors include systems breakdowns,
human factors, fraud, and natural disasters.
As part of the Bank’s overall risk management program to minimize the occurrence and effect of
unpleasant factors associated with operational risk, there are internal controls, policies and procedures
in place. Current measures to mitigate the risk factors are as follows:
•
•
•
•
•

Systems breakdown: daily backup of all systems and data, as a part of a bank-wide Business
Continuity Plan (BCP)
Human factors: insufficient personnel, lack of knowledge, skills and experiences, inadequate
training and development, inadequate supervision, loss of key personnel, inadequate succession
planning or lack of integrity or ethical standards.
Fraud: segregation of duties in all operations, coupled with controlled access to all sensitive areas
and systems
Natural disasters: Disaster Recovery Plan   (DRP)/BCP and insurance policies covering lives and
property
External events: the occurrence of an event having an adverse impact on the Bank outside its
control.

The operational risk at the Bank is managed by having a suitable operational organizational structure
with clear segregation of duties as well as defined built – in systematic controls. Bank wide operation
manuals are in place to be followed by staff.
In as far the treasury operations are concerned the Bank ensures that the dealers are well trained in
instruments in which they are trading and that the systems they need to operate on is in place. The
bank also makes sure that all investment officers are aware of procedures in place and have access
to relevant documents.
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39.6

Financial Instruments by Category

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or
amortised cost. The summary of accounting policies in Note 4 describes how the classes of financial
instruments are measured and how income and expenses, including fair value gains are recognised.
The following table analyses the carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities by category:

Loans
and
receivables
E’000

At fair
value
through
profit
and loss
E’000

Available
for sale
E’000

Financial
Liabilities
at
Amortised
cost
E’000

Total
E’000

-

4 739 992

-

-

4 739 992

5 908

-

-

-

5 908

22 689

-

-

-

22 689

Amounts due from the
Government of Swaziland

1 123 211

-

-

-

1 123 211

Cash and Cash Equivalents

1 520 474

-

-

-

1 520 474

2 672 282

4 739 992

-

-

7 412 274

Domestic Deposits

-

-

-

4 904 542

4 904 542

Foreign Deposits and Liabilities

-

-

-

260 286

260 286

Other Liabilities

-

-

-

388 155

388 155

Amounts payable to the
consolidated fund

-

-

-

243 681

243 681

-

-

-

5 796 664

5 796 664

-

5 191 941

-

-

5 191 941

3 979

-

-

-

3 979

21 445

-

-

-

21 445

3 278

-

-

-

3 278

2 093 475

-

-

-

2 093 475

2 122 177

5 191 941

-

-

7 314 118

Domestic Deposits

-

-

-

5 086 294

5 086 294

Foreign Deposits and Liabilities

-

-

-

137 279

137 279

Other Liabilities

-

-

-

184 832

184 832

Amounts payable to the
consolidated fund

-

-

-

287 489

287 489

-

-

-

5 695 894

5 695 894

2016
Financial Assets
External Investments
Claims on Private Sector
Loans and advances

Financial Liabilities

2015
Financial Assets
External Investments
Claims on Private Sector
Loans and advances
Amounts due from the
Government of Swaziland
Cash and Cash Equivalents
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39.7

Fair Value Hierarchy Disclosures

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value by the level of fair value hierarchy.
The fair value hierarchy depends on the extent to which quoted prices are used in determining the fair
value of the specific instruments. The different levels are defined as follows:
Level 1: Fair value is based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities. These are readily available in the market and are normally obtainable from
multiple sources.
Level 2: Fair value is based on input other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that is observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from
prices).
Level 3: Fair value is based on input for the asset or liability that is not based on observable market
data (i.e., unobservable inputs).

Level 1
E’000

Level 2
E’000

Level 3
E’000

Total
E’000

Investments in term deposits

2 950 485

-

-

2 950 485

Investments with external fund managers

1 379 092

-

-

1 379 092

410 415

-

-

410 415

4 739 992

-

-

4 739 992

Investments in term deposits

3 647 226

-

-

3 647 226

Investments with external fund managers

1 511 382

-

-

1 511 382

33 333

-

-

33 333

5 191 941

-

-

5 191 941

2017
Financial Instruments

Investments in Securities

2016
Financial Instruments

Investments in Securities
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40. REPAYMENT TERMS AND INTEREST RATES APPLICABLE TO FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The repayment terms and the applicable interest rates of the financial assets and liabilities are as
follows:
Fixed or
Floating
Interest
Rates

Average
Interest
Rates (%)

Terms of
Repayment

ASSETS
External investments:
Investments in term deposits – ZAR

Floating
and Fixed

8.20%

P&L at maturity

Investments in term deposits – Non ZAR

Floating
and Fixed

1.84%

P&L at maturity

Investments in securities – ZAR

Fixed

7.44%

Semi-annual
coupon payments

Investments in securities – Non ZAR

Fixed

2.89%

Semi-annual
coupon payments

Holding of Special Drawing Rights

Floating

0.41%

Accrual income

5.00%

P&L at maturity

Claims on Private Sector
Advances to staff

Fixed

Advances to Swd Government

Fixed

7.25%

P&L at maturity

Swaziland Building Society Deposits

Fixed

4.14%

P&L at maturity

Swaziland Government T-Bills

Fixed

n/a

Semi-annual
coupon payments

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Floating

4.04%

Accrual interest

Floating

0.41%

Accrual interest

Government of Swaziland – replacement
reserve

Floating

Weekly CPD
& LIBOR
reference
rates

Accrual interest

Government of Swaziland - current
account

None

Government of Swaziland - fixed deposit

Floating

6.00%

Accrual Interest

Banks in Swaziland

Floating

6.90%

Accrual Interest

African Alliance Placement

Floating

8.76%

P&L at maturity
Quarterly Interest
Payments

Other Domestic Deposits

Floating

1%

Stanlib Swaziland

Floating

8.63%

Balances with banks
LIABILITIES
Allocation of Special Drawing Rights
Domestic deposits
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40. REPAYMENT TERMS AND INTEREST RATES APPLICABLE TO FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(continued)
The repayment terms and the applicable interest rates of the financial assets and liabilities are
as follows:
Fixed or
Floating
Interest
Rates

Average
Interest
Rates (%)

Terms of
Repayment

2016
ASSETS
External investments:
Investments in term deposits – ZAR

Floating
and Fixed

6.79%

< 1 Year

Investments in term deposits – Non ZAR

Floating
and Fixed

1.12%

< 1 Year

Investments in securities – ZAR

Fixed

13.5%

> 1 Year

Investments in securities – Non ZAR

Fixed

2.89%

> 1 Year

Holding of Special Drawing Rights

Floating

0.06%

No Fixed terms

Claims on private sector
Advances to staff
Advances to Swd Government

Fixed

6%

> 1 Year

Swaziland Building Society Deposits

Fixed

2.45%

< 1 Year

Swaziland Government T-Bills

Fixed

6.24

> 1 Year

Floating

5.5%

< 1 Year

Floating

4.24%

No Fixed terms

Government of Swaziland – replacement
reserve

Floating

4.24%

No Fixed terms

Government of Swaziland - current account

None

Government of Swaziland - fixed deposit

Cash and cash equivalents
Balances with banks
LIABILITIES
Allocation of Special Drawing Rights
Domestic Deposits

-

< 1 Year

Floating

4.25%

< 1 Year

Banks in Swaziland

Floating

3.2%

< 1 Year

Public Service Pension Fund Placement

Floating

JIBAR

Floating

JIBAR +1.5%

< 1 Year

Floating

0.9%

< 1 Year

African Alliance Placement
Other domestic deposits
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CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND
UMNTSHOLI WEMASWATI

Office of the Governor
Mahlokohla Street							
P.O. Box 546  
Mbabane, Swaziland 							

Tel: (+268) 2408 2111
Telex: 2029 WD: MONAS
Fax: (+268) 2404-0013

26th July, 2017
										
Senator Martin G. Dlamini
Honourable Minister
Ministry of Finance
P.O. Box 443
MBABANE
H100

Dear Minister
CAPITAL INVESTMENT FUND IN ACCORDANCE WITH LEGAL NOTICE NO. 54 OF 1991:
THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE CAPITAL INVESTMENT SPECIAL FUND REGULATION 1991
I am sending you audited financial statements of the Capital Investment Special Fund for the year ended
31st March 2017. The fund recorded a loss of E35 million.

Yours faithfully

.......................
MAJOZI V. SITHOLE
GOVERNOR
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STATEMENT OF FUND ADMINISTRATORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
for the year ended 31 March 2017

The Fund Administrators are responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and
the preparation and integrity of the financial statements and the related information.  The auditors
are responsible for reporting on the fair presentation of the financial statements.   The financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
The Fund Administrators are also responsible for the fund’s system of internal financial control.  
These are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance as to the reliability of the
financial statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of the assets,
and to prevent and detect misstatement and loss. Nothing has come to the attention of the Fund’s
Administrators to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures
and system has occurred during the year under review.
The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements.   The Fund’s
Administrators have no reason to believe that the fund will not be a going concern in the foreseeable
future based on forecasts and available cash resources.   These financial statements support the
viability of the fund.
The    financial statements have been audited by the independent accounting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, which was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related
data. The Fund Administrators believe that all representations made to the independent auditors
during their audit are valid and appropriate.  PricewaterhouseCoopers’ audit report is presented on
page 176 to 177.
The Fund Administrators confirm that the annual financial statements set out on pages 175 to 187
were approved by the Fund Administrators and are signed on its behalf by:

			
GOVERNOR

DATE

ASSISTANT GOVERNOR

DATE

GENERAL MANAGER FINANCE

DATE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Minister of Finance

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Minister of Finance
Our opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Capital Investment Special Fund (the fund) as at 31 March 2017, and its financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the requirement of the Central Bank Order of 1974.
What we have audited
Capital Investment Special Fund’s financial statements set out on pages 175 to 187 comprise:
•
•
•
•
•

the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017;
the  statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
Independence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of the International
Federation of Accountants’ (IFAC) Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IFAC Code.
Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’
Report as required by the Central Bank Order of 1974 and the statement of fund administrators’
responsibility. Other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will
not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Minister of Finance

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the
Central Bank Order of 1974 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the fund’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the fund or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the fund’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the fund to cease to continue
as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Partner: Theo Mason
Chartered Accountant (Swaziland)
P.O Box 569 Mbabane
Date:
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Income from Central Bank

11

30 405

24 457

Revaluation (losses)/gains on foreign currency holdings

11

Revenue

Net (loss)/ profit for the year

(65 397)
(34 992)

109 564
134 021
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E’000

2016
E’000

1 099 153

1 134 145

1 099 153

1 134 145

ASSETS
Current assets
Call deposit

12

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital Account
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 March 2017
		

Balance at 31 March 2016
Net loss for the year
Transfer to capital account
Balance at 31 March 2017
Balance at 31 March 2015
Net profit for the year
Transfer to capital account
Balance at 31 March 2016

Capital
Account
E’000

Retained
Earnings
E’000

Total
E’000

1 134 145

-

1 134 145

-

(34 992)

(34 992)

(34 992)

34 992

-

1 099 153

-

1 099 153

1 000 124

-

1 000 124

-

134 021

134 021

134 021

(134 021)

-

1 134 145

-

1 134 145
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STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E’000

2016
E’000

(34 992)

134 021

(34 992)

134 021

Movement in cash and cash equivalents

(34 992)

134 021

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(34 992)

134 021

1 134 145

1 000 124

1 099 153

1 134 145

Cash flows from operating activities
Income from Central Bank of Swaziland accounts
Net cash (utilized)/generated from operating activities

14

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year

12
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2017
1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
The Fund is regulated in terms of the Central Bank of Swaziland Order, 1974.  The primary objective
of the fund is to generate interest income.

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements of the Capital Investment Special Fund have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of financial assets
and financial liabilities held-for-trading at fair value through the profit or loss.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of
applying the Fund’s accounting policies.
2.1.1 Going–concern Basis
The investment will still earn interest, as the investments will still yield the benefits
expected by the Fund. After making enquiries, the fund administrator has a reasonable
expectation that the fund has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. The fund therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing its financial statements.
2.1.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(a)

New and amended standards adopted by the scheme
There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the first time for the
financial year beginning on or after 1 April 2016 that would be expected to have a material
impact on the scheme.

3.

FOREIGN CURRENCY ACTIVITIES
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the exchange rate ruling on the transaction date.
Monetary assets and liabilities designated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Any gain or loss on revaluation is transferred to the
Income Statement.

177

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

Capital Investment Special Fund

Annual Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017
4.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Fund classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables and available for sale. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of financial
assets at initial recognition.
(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are financial assets held for trading. A
financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the short term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated
as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets. The Fund currently does not
have assets in this category.
(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for
maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are classified as noncurrent assets.
(c) Available for Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the
balance sheet date. The Fund’s available for sale financial assets comprises of securities.
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date–the date on
which the Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair
value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value
and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred
and the Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried
at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss’ category are presented in the income statement within ‘other (losses)/gains – net’
in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in the income statement as part of other income when the Fund’s right
to receive payments is established.
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Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified
as available-for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in
amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. The
translation differences on monetary securities are recognised in profit or loss, while translation
differences on non-monetary securities are recognised in equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Available for Sale Financial Assets (continued)
Changes in the fair value of monetary and nonmonetary securities classified as available-forsale are recognised in equity.
When securities classified as available for sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair
value adjustments recognised in equity are included in the income statement as ‘gains and
losses from investment securities’.
Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in the income statement as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-sale
equity instruments are recognised in the income statement as part of other income when the
Fund’s right to receive payments is established.
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for
a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Fund establishes fair value
by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis,
and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as
possible on entity-specific inputs.
The Fund assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a Fund of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities
classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities are impaired. If any
such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and
recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement
on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement.
5. IMPAIRMENT AND NON-COLLECTABILITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
An assessment is made at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or Fund of financial assets may be impaired.  If such evidence exists,
the estimated recoverable amount of that asset is determined and any impairment loss recognised
for the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount as follows:
•

For financial assets at amortised cost - the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
estimated recoverable amount either directly or through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss is included in the net profit and loss for the period; and

•

For financial assets at fair value - the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its estimated
recoverable amount either directly or through the use of an allowance accounts and the
amount of the loss is included in the net profit and loss for the period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017
6.

REVENUES RECOGNITION
Interest income is recognized on a time proportioned basis, taking account of the principal
outstanding and the effective interest rate over the period to maturity. The effective interest
rate takes into account all directly attributable external costs, discounts or premiums on the
financial assets.

7.

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the
future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate available to the Fund for similar
financial instruments.

8.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The Fund makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities within the financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

9.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with Funds, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and Fund overdrafts.
Fund overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet

10. COMPARATIVES
Where necessary comparatives have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in
the current year.

180

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

Capital Investment Special Fund

Annual Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017

2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Interest income

30 405

24 457

Revaluation losses on foreign currency holdings

(65 397)

109 564

1 099 153

1 134 145

11. OPERATING PROFIT
Operating profit is arrived at after

12. CALL DEPOSITS
Call deposits

On 9 December 2005, on instruction by the Ministry of Finance Principal Secretary all balances of
the fund were transferred to the books of the Central Fund of Swaziland wherein they are held as
call deposits.
12.1 Maturity and Interest Rates
				
The repayments terms and applicable interest rates are as follows:

Call deposits

Fixed or
Floating

Terms of
Repayment

Floating

On demand

Spot rate @
31 March 2017

2017
E’000

Spot rate @
31 March 2016

2016
E’000

Euro

14.27

178 135

16.75

209 056

US Dollar

13.35

338 723

14.70

371 977

1

582 295

1

553 112

Rand/Emalangeni

1 099 153
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017
13.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

13.1 Fair Values
The carrying amounts of financial assets approximate their fair value.
14.

RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS TO CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
2017
E’000

2016
E’000

Operating (loss)/ profit

(34 992)

134 021

Net cash flows from operations

(34 992)

134 021
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CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND
UMNTSHOLI WEMASWATI

Office of the Governor
Mahlokohla Street							
P.O. Box 546  
Mbabane, Swaziland 							

Tel: (+268) 2408 2111
Telex: 2029 WD: MONAS
Fax: (+268) 2404-0013

26th July, 2017
										
Mr Jabulani Mabuza (MP)
Honourable Minister
Minister of Commerce, Industry and Trade
P.O. Box 451
MBABANE
H100

Dear Minister
EXPORT CREDIT GUARANTEE SCHEME AND SMALL SCALE ENTERPRISE LOAN GUARANTEE SCHEME
In terms of Section 41(bis) of the Central Bank of Swaziland Act, I have the honour to submit audited
financial accounts of the operations of the Export Credit Guarantee Scheme and Small Scale Enterprise Loan
Guarantee Scheme for the fiscal year ended 31st March 2017.

Yours faithfully

.......................
MAJOZI V. SITHOLE
GOVERNOR

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND
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STATEMENT OF SCHEME ADMINISTRATORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
for the year ended 31 March 2017

The Scheme Administrators are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the
financial statements of the Export Credit Guarantee Scheme.  The financial statements presented on
pages 190 to 202 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
and include amounts based on judgment and estimates made by management.
The Scheme Administrators are also responsible for the scheme’s system of internal financial control.  
These are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance as to the reliability of the
financial statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of the assets,
and to prevent and detect misstatement and loss. Nothing has come to the attention of the Scheme’s
Administrators to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures
and system has occurred during the year under review.
The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. The Scheme
Administrators have no reason to believe that the scheme will not be a going concern in the foreseeable
future based on forecasts and available cash resources.   These financial statements support the
viability of the scheme.
The financial statements have been audited by the independent accounting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, which was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related
data, including minutes of all meetings of the Scheme Administrators. The Scheme Administrators
believe that all representations made to the independent auditors during their audit are valid and
appropriate.  PricewaterhouseCoopers’ audit report is presented on page 191 to 193.
The Scheme Administrators confirm that the annual financial statements set out on pages 190 to 202
were approved by the Scheme Administrators and are signed on its behalf by:

GOVERNOR

DATE

ASSISTANT GOVERNOR

DATE

GENERAL MANAGER OPERATIONS

DATE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Minister of Commerce, Industry and Trade

Our Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Export Credit Guarantee Scheme (the scheme) as at 31 March 2017, and its financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting and the
requirements of the Central Bank Order of 1974, as amended.
What we have audited
Export Credit Guarantee Scheme’s financial statements set out on pages 190 to 202 comprise:
• the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017;
• the  statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
Independence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of the International
Federation of Accountants’ (IFAC) Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IFAC Code.
Other Information
The Scheme Administrators are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the Scheme Administrators’ Report as required by the Central Bank Order of 1974, as amended and the
statement of scheme administrators’ responsibility. Other information does not include the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will
not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Minister of Commerce, Industry and Trade

Responsibilities of the Scheme Administrators for the financial statements
The Scheme Administrators are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of
the Central Bank Order of 1974, as amended and for such internal control as the Scheme Administrators
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Scheme Administrators are responsible for assessing the
scheme’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Scheme Administrators either
intend to liquidate the scheme or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the scheme’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Scheme Administrators.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Minister of Commerce, Industry and Trade

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Scheme Administrators’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the scheme’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the scheme to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the Scheme Administrators regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Partner: Theo Mason
Chartered Accountant (Swaziland)
P.O Box 569 Mbabane
Date:

188

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

Export Credit Guarantee Scheme

Annual Financial Statements

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E

2016
E

40 041

46 517

40 041

46 517

Administrative expenditure

-

(532 874)

Other operating expenses

-

(129 296)

-

(662 170)

40 041

(615 653)

Revenue
Interest income

9

8
Profit/ (loss) for the year
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E

2016
E

Assets
Current Assets
Investments

12

2 940 673

-

Cash and Cash equivalents

11

1 181 499

4 358 960

4 122 172

4 358 960

1 100 000

1 100 000

Retained earnings

3 022 172

3 258 960

Total Equity

4 122 172

4 358 960

Total Assets

Equity
Capital and Reserves
Capital

13
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Share
Capital
E

Retained
Earnings
E

Total
E

1 100 000

3 258 961

4 358 961

Transfer of Capital to Small Scale Enterprise Scheme

-

-

-

Prior year adjustment of error

-

(276 830)

(276 830)

Net profit for the year

-

40 041

40 041

1 100 000

3 022 172

4 122 172

1 100 000

3 874 613

4 974 613

Transfer of Capital to Small Scale Enterprise Scheme

-

-

-

Net loss for the year

-

(615 653)

(615 653)

1 100 000

3 258 960

4 358 960

Balance at 31 March 2016

Balance at 31 March 2017

Balance at 31 March 2015

Balance at 31 March 2016
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E

2016
E

-

(662 170)

40 041

46 517

Non-cash flow adjustment for error

(276 830)

-

Cash utilized in operations

(236 789)

(615 653)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(236 789)

(615 653)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(236 789)

(615 653)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

4 358 961

4 974 613

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

4 122 172

4 358 960

Operating activities
Cash utilized in operations
Interest received

14
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2017
1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The Scheme is regulated in terms of the Central Bank of Swaziland Order, 1974 as amended.
The primary objective of the Scheme is to assist entrepreneurs in Swaziland in getting credit for
their export businesses. The fund guarantees the loans taken by the entrepreneurs in the local
commercial banks.
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.
2.1. Basis of Preparation
The financial statements of the Export Credit Guarantee Scheme have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading at fair value through the profit or loss.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Scheme’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are discussed in part 6 of these accounting policies.
2.1.1 Going–concern basis
The scheme meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through its initial funding
from the government. The scheme’s prior performance and the large capital still available
for use by the fund in future, shows that the scheme should be able to meet its liabilities
as they fall due. The scheme therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing its financial statements.
3. REVENUES RECOGNITION
Interest income is recognized on a time proportioned basis, taking account of the principal
outstanding and the effective interest rate over the period to maturity. The effective interest rate
takes into account all directly attributable external costs, discounts or premiums on the financial
assets.
4. FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate available to the Scheme for similar
financial instruments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The Scheme makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities within the financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with the Central Bank, other
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. Scheme overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement
of financial position
7. COMPARATIVES
Where necessary comparatives have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the
current year.
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for the year ended 31 March 2017
			

8.

2017
E

2016
E

Rental expense

-

127 166

Staff costs (Note 10)

-

532 874

Interest on Central Bank call account

24 232

14 979

Interest on Central Bank current account

15 809

31 538

40 041

46 517

Salaries

-

398 351

Housing allowance

-

56 665

Provident Fund

-

855

Medical expenses

-

24 017

Pension

-

52 986

OPERATING LOSS
Operating loss is arrived at after taking into account the
following

9.

INTEREST RECEIVED

10. STAFF COSTS

Training expenses

-

532 874

716

1 501 983

1 180 783

2 856 977

1 181 499

4 358 960

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Central Bank Call Account
Central Bank Current Account
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2017
E

2016
E

Investment in held to maturity securities

2 940 673

-

Total held to maturity investments

2 940 673

-

12. INVESTMENTS IN DEBT AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

The held to maturity investment are treasury bills issued by the Central
Bank of Swaziland at a discount rate of 7% with a maturity date of 30
June 2017.
Maturity analysis:
-

-

2 940 673

-

-

-

2 940 673

-

1 100 000

1 100 000

Operating profit/(loss)

40 041

(615 653)

Less Interest received

(40 041)

(46 517)

-

(662 170)

Within 1 month
From 2 months to 1 year
Over 1 year

The maturity analysis is based on the remaining period from year-end
to contractual maturity. The amounts disclosed in the analysis above
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

13. SHARE CAPITAL
Capital – Swaziland Government contribution
14. CASH UTILIZED IN OPERATIONS
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DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2017

2017
E

2016
E

Interest on Bank accounts

24 232

14 979

Interest on call account

15 809

31 538

40 041

46 517

Rental expenses

-

(127 166)

Advertising

-

-

Other expenses

-

(2 130)

Staff costs

-

(532 874)

Telephone

-

-

Traveling and entertainment

-

-

Total expenditure

-

(662 170)

40 041

(615 653)

Income

Expenditure

Profit/ (loss) for the year
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This statement does not form part of the financial statements and is unaudited.
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STATEMENT OF SCHEME ADMINISTRATOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
for the year ended 31 March 2017

The Scheme Administrators are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the
financial statements of the Small Scale Enterprise Loan Guarantee Scheme.  The financial statements
presented on pages 204 to 216 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, and include amounts based on judgment and estimates made by management.
The Scheme Administrators are also responsible for the scheme’s system of internal financial control.  
These are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance as to the reliability of the
financial statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of the assets,
and to prevent and detect misstatement and loss. Nothing has come to the attention of the Scheme
Administrators to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures
and system has occurred during the year under review.
The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements.   The Scheme
Administrators have no reason to believe that the scheme will not be a going concern in the foreseeable
future based on forecasts and available cash resources.   These financial statements support the
viability of the scheme.
The financial statements have been audited by the independent accounting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, which was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related
data, including minutes of all meetings of the Scheme Administrators. The Scheme Administrators
believe that all representations made to the independent auditors during their audit are valid and
appropriate.  PricewaterhouseCoopers’ audit report is presented on page 205 to 206.
The Scheme Administrators confirm that the annual financial statements set out on pages 204 to 216
were approved by the Scheme Administrators and are signed on its behalf by:

GOVERNOR

ASSISTANT GOVERNOR

DATE

		
DATE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Minister of Commerce, Industry and Trade

Our Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Small Scale Enterprise Loan Guarantee Scheme (the fund) as at 31 March 2017, and its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Central Bank Order of 1974, as amended.
What we have audited
Small Scale Enterprise Loan Guarantee Scheme’s financial statements set out on pages 204 to 216
comprise:
• the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017;
• the  statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
Independence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of the International
Federation of Accountants’ (IFAC) Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IFAC Code.
Other Information
The Scheme Administrators are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the Scheme Administrators’ Report as required by the Central Bank Order of 1974, as amended and the
statement of scheme administrators’ responsibility. Other information does not include the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will
not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Scheme Administrators for the financial statements
The Scheme Administrators are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of
the Central Bank Order of 1974, as amended and for such internal control as the Scheme Administrators
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Minister of Commerce, Industry and Trade

In preparing the financial statements, the Scheme Administrators are responsible for assessing the
fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Scheme Administrators either
intend to liquidate the fund or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the fund’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Scheme Administrators.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Scheme Administrators’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the fund’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the fund to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the Scheme Administrators regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers
Partner: Theo Mason
Chartered Accountant (Swaziland)
P.O Box 569 Mbabane
Date:
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E

2016
E

Interest income

148 567

127 794

Premium paid by Banks

176 244

206 661

324 811

334 455

-

1 056 169

324 811

1 390 624

Operating Expenses

(85 421)

(319 065)

Total operating expenditure

(85 421)

(319 065)

Net profit for the year

239 390

1 071 559

Revenue

10
Other income
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E

2016
E

-

-

ASSETS
Current Assets
Accounts receivable
Investments

12

9 825 486

-

Cash and cash equivalents

11

8 158 518

12 744 614

17 984 004

12 744 614

Total Assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and Reserves
Capital

22 400 000

17 400 000

Accumulated deficit

(4 415 996)

(4 655 386)

17 984 004

12 744 614

17 984 004

12 744 614

Total equity and liabilities
MEMORANDUM ACCOUNT
Guarantees Issued

10 561 130

11 834 198

Swaziland Development and Savings Bank

7 692 097

10 940 547

Standard Bank Swaziland Limited

9 668 301

9 656 334

First National Bank

1 969 778

2 955 042

200 565

200 565

30 091 871

35 586 686

Nedbank Swaziland Limited

Swaziland Business Growth Trust - Class B
Counterpart of guarantees issued
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Share
Capital
E

Accumulated
Deficit
E

Total
E

17 400 000

(4 655 386)

12 744 614

5 000 000

-

5 000 000

-

239 390

239 390

Balance at 31 March 2017

22 400 000

(4 415 996)

17 984 004

Balance at 31 March 2015

17 400 000

(5 726 945)

11 673 055

Transfer of issued capital from Export Guarantee
Scheme

-

-

-

Net loss for the year

-

1 071 559

1 071 559

17 400 000

(4 655 386)

12 744 614

Balance at 31 March 2016
Government re-capitalisation
Net profit for the year

Balance at 31 March 2016
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

2017
E

2016
E

(9 734 663)

(59 096)

148 567

127 794

(9 586 096)

68 698

5 000 000

-

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(4 586 096)

68 698

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

12 744 614

12 675 916

8 158 518

12 744 614

Operating Activities
Cash utilised from operating activities

14

Interest received
Cash (utilised)/generated from operations

Financing Activities
Additional capital funding

Net Cash inflow from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalent at end of year

11

205

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

2016/2017 ANNUAL REPORT

Small Scale Enterprise Loan Guarantee Scheme

Annual Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2017
1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The Scheme is regulated in terms of the Central Bank of Swaziland Order, 1974, as amended The
primary objective of the Scheme is to assist small scale entrepreneurs in Swaziland in getting
credit for their businesses. The Bank guarantees the loans taken by the entrepreneurs from the
local commercial banks.
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.
2.1		Basis of Preparation
The financial statements of the Small Scale Enterprise Loan Scheme have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading at fair value through the profit or
loss.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Scheme’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are discussed in part 7 of these accounting policies.
2.1.1

Going–concern Basis
The scheme meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through its funding
from the government. The scheme’s prior performance and the large capital still
available for use by the fund in future, shows that the scheme should be able
operate within the level of its current facilities. After making enquiries, the scheme
administrator has a reasonable expectation that the scheme has adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The scheme therefore
continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements.

2.1.2

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(a) New and amended standards adopted by the scheme
There are no IFRS or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the first time for the
financial year beginning on or after 1 April 2016 that would be expected to have a
material impact on the scheme.
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(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the
financial year beginning 1 April 2016 and not early adopted
IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and
recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in November
2009 and October 2010. It replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification
and measurement of financial instruments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017
2.1.2

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)
(b)

New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for
the financial year beginning 1 April 2016 and not early adopted (continued)
IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement categories:
those measured as at fair value and those measured at amortised cost. The
determination is made at initial recognition
The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing its
financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
instrument.
For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements.
The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for financial
liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is
recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the income statement,
unless this creates an accounting mismatch. The Bank is yet to assess IFRS 9’s
full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 9 no later than the accounting period
beginning on or after 1 April 2018.

3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Scheme classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition.
(a)

Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for
maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date.
These are classified as non-current assets. The scheme’s guarantees and receivables comprise
amounts due to, and from other banking institutions and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the
statement of financial position (accounting policies 7).

4. IMPAIRMENT AND NON-COLLECTABILITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
An assessment is made at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or bank of financial assets may be impaired.  If such evidence exists,
the estimated recoverable amount of that asset is determined and any impairment loss recognised
for the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount as follows:
•

For financial assets at amortised cost - the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
estimated recoverable amount either directly or through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss is included in the net profit and loss for the period; and

•

For financial assets at fair value - the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its estimated
recoverable amount either directly or through the use of an allowance accounts and the
amount of the loss is included in the net profit and loss for the period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017
5. PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Scheme has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and employee termination payments.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to one item included in the class may
be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.
6. REVENUES RECOGNITION
Interest income is recognized on a time proportioned basis, taking account of the principal
outstanding and the effective interest rate over the period to maturity. The effective interest
rate takes into account all directly attributable external costs, discounts or premiums on the
financial assets.
7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with Central Bank, other
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of
financial position.
8. COMPARATIVES
Where necessary comparatives have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the
current year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017

9.

2017
E

2016
E

85 421

319 065

Interest received

148 567

127 794

Premium paid by Banks

176 244

206 661

324 811

334 455

3 590

1 120 280

8 154 928

11 624 334

8 158 518

12 744 614

Investment in held to maturity securities

9 825 486

-

Total held to maturity investments

9 825 486

-

-

-

9 825 486

-

-

-

9 825 486

-

OPERATING LOSS
The following items have been taken into account in arriving
at the operating loss for the year.
Loss on guarantee claims

10. REVENUE

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Central Bank Call Account
Central Bank Current Account

12. INVESTMENTS IN DEBT AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

The held to maturity investment are treasury bills issued by the
Central Bank of Swaziland at a discount rate of 7.932%  with a
maturity date of 30 June 2017.
Maturity analysis:
Within 1 month
From 2 months to 1 year
Over 1 year

The maturity analysis is based on the remaining period from
year-end to contractual maturity. The amounts disclosed in the
analysis above are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

209

13. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
PROVISIONS FOR DOUBTFUL GUARANTEES:
Opening balance
Additional provision for the year
Utilised
Closing balance

CENTRAL BANK OF SWAZILAND

-

1 002 860

1 224

53 309

(1 224)

(1 056 169)

-

-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2017

2017
E

2016
E

Operating profit

239 390

1 071 559

Interest income

(148 567)

(127 794)

90 823

943 765

(9 825 486)

-

-

(1 002 861)

(9 734 663)

(59 096)

14. RECONCILIATION OF CASHFLOWS GENERATED FROM
OPERATIONS

Working Capital Changes
Increase in accounts receivable
Increase / (decrease) in accounts payables
Cash utilised from operations
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DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2017

2017
E

2016
E

95 010

11 173

176 244

206 661

53 557

116 621

-

1 056 169

324 811

1 390 624

Advertising

-

-

Rental Expenses

-

-

Audit Fee

-

-

Traveling and Entertainment

-

-

Telephone

-

-

Stationery

-

-

Sundry Expenses

-

-

Publications

-

-

Provision for Doubtful Guarantees

-

-

(85 421)

(319 065)

(85 421)

(319 065)

239 390

1 071 559

INCOME
Interest on call accounts
Premiums paid by Bank
Interest on Bank accounts
Sundry income - claims recovered

EXPENDITURE
Staff Costs

Loss on Guarantee Claims

Net Profit for the Year
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This schedule does form part of the financial statements and is unaudited
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For enquires, contact
Economic Policy
Research and Statistics
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Central Bank of Swaziland
Postal Address: P .O .Box 546, Mbabane
Physical Address: Umntsholi Building, Mahlokohla Street, Mbabane
Phone: (+268) 2408 2244
E-mail: info@centralbank.org.sz
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